
AGENDA 
PLANNING COMMISSION 

REGULAR MEETING 
JANUARY 25, 2024, 5:30 PM 

COMMISSION ATTENDANCE IN PERSON 
PUBLIC MAY ATTEND IN PERSON OR 

REMOTELY VIA ZOOM 

Join Zoom Meeting: 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87687862314?pwd=0o0FrKxrNy5pkzafqAZKzrO1ie1wGv.1 

Meeting ID: 876 8786 2314 
Passcode: 777989 

One tap mobile 
+12532050468,,87687862314#,,,,*777989# US
+12532158782,,87687862314#,,,,*777989# US (Tacoma)

Find your local number: https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kg79FZ8db 

WRITTEN PUBLIC COMMENTS 
If you wish to provide written public comments for the Planning Commission meeting, please email your 
comments to erodriguez@medical-lake.org by 2:00 p.m. the day of the commission meeting and include all the 
following information with your comments: 
1. The Meeting Date
2. Your First and Last Name
3. If you are a Medical Lake resident
4. The Agenda Item(s) which you are speaking about
*Note – If providing written comments, the comments received will be acknowledged during the
public meeting, but not read. All written comments received by 2:00 p.m. will be provided to the
Planning Commission in advance of the meeting.

Questions or Need Assistance? Please contact City Hall at 509-565-5000 

1

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/87687862314?pwd=0o0FrKxrNy5pkzafqAZKzrO1ie1wGv.1
https://us06web.zoom.us/u/kg79FZ8db


 
 
 

1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL 
a) Excused Absences 

 
2) ADDITIONS TO AGENDA 

 
3) APPROVAL OF MINUTES  

a) December 14, 2023, Meeting minutes 
 

4) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS 
 

5) STAFF REPORTS 
 

6) SCHEDULED ITEMS  
a) Comprehensive Plan Overview – Intro to GMA 
b) City Branding Discussion 
c) Education Packet for New Commission Members – Commissioner Mayulianos 

 
7) PUBLIC HEARING  

 
8) COMMISSION MEMBERS’ COMMENTS OR CONCERNS 

 
9) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS 

 
10) CONCLUSION 

2



City of Medical Lake 
124 S. Lefevre Street – City Council Chambers 
Planning Commission Meeting and 

Public Hearing 
December 14, 2023, Minutes 

NOTE: This is not a verbatim transcript. Minutes contain only a summary of the discussion. A recording 
of the meeting is on file and available from City Hall. 

1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL
a) Commissioner Hudson called the meeting to order at 5:30 pm, led the Pledge of Allegiance, and

conducted roll call. All commissioners were present in person.

2) ADDITIONS TO AGENDA
a) Motion to approve agenda as written made by commissioner Mark, seconded by commissioner

Munson, carried 5-0.

3) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
a) November 16, 2023, minutes.

i) Motion to approve made by commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by commissioner Munson,
carried 5-0.

4) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS
a) Tammy Roberson, resident of Medical Lake – spoke about World Wetlands Day. Requested to

be added to the January Planning Commission agenda to present on the topic. Spoke about a
recent Supreme Court ruling regarding wetlands. See attached.

5) STAFF REPORTS
a) Elisa Rodriguez, City Planner – working on long-range Planning items. The Comprehensive

Plan is required to be finished by June 2026 so work will begin in January. Will provide the
commission with the current copy.  Update on Gray Road fire re-building; twenty building
permits issued.

6) SCHEDULED ITEMS
a) City Branding Discussion

i) Commissioner Munson – asked commissioners for their opinions on design standards for new
construction and any topics commissioners want to discuss.

ii) Commissioner Mayulianos shared that an artist friend of hers is excited to see art shows, etc. Has
meetings set up with other artists and representatives from the Fairchild Air Force Base
(FAFB) museum planning. She would love to see the city tie Medical Lake with FAFB. Has
spoken to several citizens, and there is the belief that the Planning Commission desires to change
the city to encourage people to move here. She explained that the hope is to attract business and
commerce. Desire is for economic growth.

iii) Commissioner Hudson – suggested that maybe next year a public workshop could be held to see
what people are interested in and get the word out that the intent of branding is to increase
tourism. Elisa Rodriguez added that part of the Comprehensive Plan includes the City’s vision
and requires holding a public meeting. Could possibly combine the branding discussion with that
public meeting.

1. Motion to table and continue discussion at the next meeting made by

3



commissioner Hudson, seconded by commissioner Mayulianos, carried 5-0. 

b) Education Packet for New Commissioners
i) Commissioner Mayulianos gave an update and shared corrections to the draft packet.

Continuing to edit.
1. Motion to table and continue discussion at the next meeting made by

commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by commissioner Jorgenson, carried 5-0.

7) PUBLIC HEARING Shipping Containers LU 2022-04 TA
a) Commissioner Hudson called the Public Hearing to order at 5:53 pm, explained the purpose of

the hearing, and discussed the appearance of fairness doctrine.
i) Commissioner Mayulianos recused herself from the discussion and vote. Doesn’t feel she

can fairly review the matter with an open mind.
ii) Staff Report –Elisa Rodriguez, City Planner, gave a presentation. See attached.
iii) Public Comment – written comments received from Diane Nichols, resident of ML. Nothing

further. See attached.
iv) Commissioner Hudson closed the Public Hearing at 6:08 pm.

b) Motion to deny made by commissioner Mark, seconded by commissioner Munson, carried
4-0-1, with commissioner Mayulianos not casting a vote due to recusing herself.

c) LU 2022-04 TA will go back to City Council.

8) COMMISSION MEMBERS’ COMMENTS OR CONCERNS
a) Commissioner Hudson – asked if the WWTP is self-contained and protected. Mr. Weathers

responded that it is in process (included in the capital improvement plan). Looking at upgrades to
cyber security as systems are upgraded.

b) Commissioner Mayulianos – asked if city council members or planning commissioners can reside
outside of city limits (asked legal counsel). The response was that both city council members and
planning commissioners must reside within city limits. Mr. Weathers shared that the Parks and
Recreation Advisory Board will use the Medical Lake School District boundaries for residence
requirements.

9) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS
a) Tammy Roberson, resident of Medical Lake – asked about being added to the agenda for

January. Counsel stated that it is not necessary to be added to the agenda. Per the Planning
Commission Rules of Procedure, educational presentations are allotted 15 minutes. Ms.
Roberson also spoke about Martin St. see attached.

b) Mrs. Rodriguez addressed Ms. Roberson’s comments regarding the Martin Street property,
stated that the silt fence is installed in the correct location, there is no evidence of erosion on
site, and that the applicant does not intend to do any further work on the property until the
spring. Clarified that the decision is for the property and that any current or future owner must
adhere to the conditions of approval, including, keeping the house within the approved footprint.

c) Mr. Weathers – shared appreciation for the commissioners and wished all Merry Christmas.

10) CONCLUSION
a) Motion to conclude meeting at 6:22 pm made by commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by

commissioner Mark, carried 5-0.

 Roxanne Wright, Administrative Assistant 

4



Comments/Letter to Planning Commissioners (14 Dec 2023) 
(As Of: 14 Dec 2023)

Good evening, Planning Commissioners and City Officials. 

World Wetlands Day will be on 2 Feb 2024.  This year’s theme is Wetlands and Human Well Being.  I 

am requesting please to be added to the PC Agenda for 25 Jan 2024 to give a slide presentation, or 

maybe a video, or possibly have a qualified speaker talk since after all, isn’t Medical Lake considered a 

City of wetlands? 

The following comments will inform the City of Medical Lake on the recent Supreme Court Ruling 

“Sackett v. Environmental Protection Agency” in regards to what it actually means for Medical Lake’s 

wetlands and “waters of the United States” and most importantly to stop any bad information and 

myths from the get go. 

1) Attended on 16 Oct 2023 (via Zoom) Ecology’s informational session on “Proposed 2024 agency

request legislation: dredge-and-fill permit program.”   These slides and also Ecology’s Publication

23-06-012 “Focus on:  Protecting state wetlands and streams” will be attached along with these

comments.

2) All wetlands in WA State are still protected by:

a) 1945 Water Pollution Control Act RCW 90.48.

b) 1990 Growth Management Act RCW 36.70A.

c) 1972 Shoreline Management Act RCW 90.583) The Supreme Court decision weakens FEDERAL

protections for wetlands and streams.

3) These waterbodies are critical for absorbing runoff to preserve water quality, reduce flooding, and

essential to the survival of endangered and threatened species.

4) WA has state laws and regulations that will continue to protect these waters.

5) More development projects are getting state review. – Before the federal decision, developers

typically used the Corps’ streamlined Nationwide Permit for small impacts to state waters and

specific activities such as residential development and road maintenance.

6) To protect state water quality, Ecology is currently using state administrative orders to review and

authorized residential development and road maintenance that impact state waters without

federal protection.

7) Ecology’s informational session was presented because a new state review process is needed.

5



a) The Bill request would create a new permit program – creating a new dredge and fill permit

program as well as establishing a fee to collect expenses for issuing and administering the

program.

b) Under this approach, each project would be reviewed using agency guidance and best

available science.

c) The agency would also define, when available, acceptable mitigation approaches for wetland

impacts.

8) While WA state law will continue to protect wetlands and other waters of the state, the Sackett

decision means significantly fewer federal resources are available to deal with oil spills and other

environmental emergencies to state waters.  Ecology plans to continue responding swiftly to all

spills to WA waters even when federal funding or assets are unavailable.

Thank you for your valuable time. 

Tammy M. Roberson, MBA  

SMSgt USAF Retired 

Disabled Veteran (100% service connected) 

Concerned ML Resident/Wetland Owner and Advocate 

6



7



8



9



W
hy

 a
re

 w
e 

he
re

?

10



W
hy

 a
re

 w
e 

he
re

?

11



12



13



14



15



A
ll 

W
et

la
nd

s 
S

ti
ll 

P
ro

te
ct

ed

16



C
ur

re
nt

 s
ta

te

17



D
re

dg
e 

an
d 

Fi
ll 

P
er

m
it

 P
ro

gr
am

18



19



20



Shorelands & Environmental Assistance Program 

Publication 23-06-012 Revised September 2023 Page 1 

Focus on: Protecting state wetlands and streams 

Supreme Court decision weakens federal 

protections for wetlands and streams 
Wetlands cover more than 900,000 acres in 
Washington, about 2% of the state’s total land area. 
They help absorb the impacts of floods, provide 
erosion control, filter and clean stormwater runoff, 
and recharge our underground sources of drinking 
water. Wetlands also offer essential habitat for 
salmon, birds and other wildlife.  

Until May 2023, most of these waters were 
considered “waters of the United States” and 
received federal protection under the Clean Water 
Act. A recent U.S. Supreme Court decision – Sackett v 
Environmental Protection Agency – significantly 
weakened federal protections for many of these 
areas. 

Waters losing federal protections include ephemeral 
streams that run dry at certain times of year, as well 
as wetlands in areas such as coastal dunes, 
floodplains, behind dikes, and those not directly 
connected to a stream. Interstate wetlands are also 
no longer protected. 

An analysis by the Washington Department of 
Ecology indicates more than 50% of Washington’s 
wetlands and 14% of state streams no longer receive 
federal oversight due to the Sackett decision. 

On Aug. 29, 2023, EPA and U.S. Army Corps of 
Engineers issued a final amended federal rule that 
conforms to the Supreme Court decision. 

However, state law still protects these waters. 

How Washington law protects wetlands 

Multiple Washington state laws offer continued 
oversight and protections for activities that could 
impact wetlands and streams. These include the 1945 
Water Pollution Control Act, 1972 Shoreline 
Management Act, and 1990 Growth Management 
Act, as well as other statues. 

More development projects getting state review 

Before the federal decision, developers typically used 
the Corps’ streamlined Nationwide Permit for small 
impacts to state waters and specific activities such as 
residential development and road maintenance. 

To protect state water quality, Ecology is currently 
using state administrative orders to review and 
authorize these types of proposals that impact state 
waters without federal protection. Before Sackett, 
Ecology issued a handful of administrative orders 
annually. Due to the high court decision, Ecology now 
estimates 50 to 100 projects a year will need 
administrative orders. 

While this system provides needed environmental 
protections, issuing individual state administrative 
orders is less efficient and transparent than a 
traditional permitting program. 

New state review process needed 
Currently, administrative orders are the only 
mechanism allowing some development projects to 
move forward legally. A new approach is needed to 
protect state water quality. 

21



Shorelands & Environmental Assistance Program 

Publication 23-06-012 Revised September 2023 Page 2 

1. Immediate (fiscal years 2025 to 2027): More staff
are needed to form an interim approach for using
administrative orders while building a state
permit program, provide education and outreach,
and respond to violations.

2. Long-term (fiscal year 2025 with implementation
in fiscal year 2028): Build an efficient and
streamlined permit pathway to review and
authorize projects in waters of the state.

A permit program for state waters would provide 
greater transparency and predictability for the 
regulated community. It can also provide a pathway 
for authorizing specific types of actions or projects 
under certain thresholds. 

Bill request would create new permit program 

Under a new bill request, Ecology would be directed 
to create a new dredge and fill permit program as 
well as establish a fee to collect expenses for issuing 
and administering the program.  

In implementing the permit program, the department 
would consider options for streamlining the permit 
process, including the development of general 
permits for common project types such as restoration 
projects, culvert replacement, and maintenance. 

Under the proposal, Ecology would establish a fee 
schedule to be adopted by state rule and adjusted no 
more than once every two years. Fees charged would 
be based on factors relating to the complexity of 
permit issuance.  

Under this approach, each project would be reviewed 
using agency guidance and best available science. 

Ecology would develop discrete, transparent criteria, 
and thresholds for decision-making. The agency 
would also define, when available, acceptable 
mitigation approaches for wetland impacts. 

Other impacts from federal changes 

While state law will continue to protect wetlands and 
other waters of the state, the Sackett decision means 
significantly fewer federal resources are available to 
deal with oil spills and other environmental 
emergencies to state waters. Ecology plans to 
continue responding swiftly to all spills to 
Washington waters even when federal funding or 
assets are unavailable. 

Related information 
• State wetland regulations1

• An overview of wetlands2

• Statement from Ecology director3

Contact information 

Lauren Driscoll 

Lauren.Driscoll@ecy.wa.gov 

(360) 584-5107

ADA accessibility 

To request an ADA accommodation, contact 

Ecology by phone at 360-407-6831 or email at 

ecyadacoordinator@ecy.wa.gov, or visit 

https://ecology.wa.gov/accessibility. For Relay 

Service or TTY, call 711 or 877-833-6341

1 https://ecology.wa.gov/Water-
Shorelines/Wetlands/Regulations/State-wetland-regulations 
2 https://ecology.wa.gov/Water-
Shorelines/Wetlands/Wetlands-overview 

3 https://ecology.wa.gov/About-us/Who-we-
are/News/2023/May-25-Director-Watson-statement-on-
Supreme-Court 

22



Letter/Comments for PC Meeting 14 Dec 2023 (2nd Citizens Comments)

(As Of:  14 Dec 2023) 

Good evening, Planning Commissioners and City Officials. 

I’m here to talk about the never-ending saga of repeated violations regarding the silt fencing for Mr Mangis’ approved 

Notice of Application Decision which he proposes to build a single-family residence within the required buffer of a 

Category II wetland (Brooks/N Martin). 

1) The owner stated on 16 Nov 2023 (via an email), “I wonder if I can put it off till spring, since there won’t be any more

activity on the property till that time”?  The owner is fully aware he is still not in compliance (since Aug 2023) with the

City’s final Notice of Application Decision.

2) The City Planner responded back on 17 Nov 2023, stating “…it is important that it gets installed as soon as possible.”

As of 4 Dec 2023, the City Planner did not receive any communications from the owner nor has the violations been

fixed as of 13 Dec 2023 (show photos).  Has the owner contacted the City since 4 Dec?

3) According to an email dated 16 Nov 2023, the owner has been in contact with a builder who is interested in

purchasing the property and building a home on it.  Both the owner and this builder will be setting an appointment

with the City Planner after the holidays.

4) Since the Brooks/N Martin Wetland is considered one Category II wetland with two property owners, I had requested

to the City to be invited to this meeting when scheduled.

5) Based on this new information, what is the City’s game plan now?  The new owner/builder still needs to follow the

requirements of the approved “foot print”.  Will the silt fencing be fixed before spring?  Nope, the City Planner

has not been in contact with the owner since she saw no erosion going on.  She had stated she had gone out to

the site after each time it snowed or rained and that the silt fencing is more than adequate based on it not

having that much slope.  Also, the new silt fence extension was not in the original approved decision and

therefore, the City Planner had to ask if the owner would extend it to its proper location.  He said yes.  Will

Mangis’ be held accountable by the City for violating the City’s approved final decision notice multiple times? Nope,

City is only concerned about meeting compliance and not about repeated violations.  Will the City ensure the

new builder complies with the final decision and does not try to change the house dimensions, etc.?  The new builder

still has to be in compliance with the original “footprint” that was approved…

Note:  The City Planner’s responses (in blue) given above have been summarized. 

Thank you for your valuable time. 

Tammy M. Roberson, MBA  

SMSgt USAF Retired 

Disabled Veteran (100% service connected) 

Concerned ML Resident/Wetland Owner and Advocate 

23



24



25



From: Diane Nichols
To: Mark Hudson; Marye Jorgenson; Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org; Andie Mark; Carl Munson
Cc: Elisa Rodriguez; Sonny Weathers; Roxanne Wright
Subject: Shipping Containers
Date: Wednesday, December 13, 2023 7:07:39 PM

Name: Diane Nichols
Medical Lake Resident
Ref:  Planning Commission Meeting, December 14, 2024

 Agenda item #7 Shipping Containers LU 2022-04 TA

Dear Planning Commissioners,

I am writing regarding the agenda item concerning shipping containers.

Per the Staff Report included in your packet under Zoning Approval Criteria the following
items are noteworthy:

17.56.100 Item #2 notes that criterion are not met regarding aesthetics.  Shipping containers
will cause a negative appearance in Medical Lake.

17.56.100 Item #3 states that under the Comprehensive Plan the criterion are not met. The
appearance of Medical Lake would not be enhanced by the shipping containers and this does
not further compliment the Comprehensive Plan.

17.56.100 Item #10 states that criterion are not met due to shipping containers not being
complementary to the adjacent land uses.  It is in contradiction to the Comprehensive Plan and
not in keeping with the aesthetics of Medical Lake.

I have not specifically quoted all the statements but rather highlighted them in my summary to
point out that there are specific reasons why these shipping containers should not be allowed
in Medical Lake.

With the Planning Commision researching and discussing brand ideas and themes for the city;
additionally the Mayor, City officials, residents and local organizations nurturing the growth
of small business and tourism; it seems quite obvious that shipping containers do not achieve
the aesthetics that are in keeping with the vision and future growth of the City of Medical
Lake.

The recommendation of the planning official is to deny the proposed text amendment in
Section 17.42.030 of the Municipal Code.  I strongly urge the Planning Commission to
maintain your position of not allowing shipping containers in Medical Lake and to deny the
proposed text amendment.

Respectfully,
Diane Nichols

26

mailto:hsteacher509@gmail.com
mailto:mhudson@medical-lake.org
mailto:mjorgenson@medical-lake.org
mailto:Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org
mailto:amark@medical-lake.org
mailto:cmunson@medical-lake.org
mailto:ERodriguez@medical-lake.org
mailto:SWeathers@medical-lake.org
mailto:rwright@medical-lake.org


From: Diane Nichols
To: Mark Hudson; Marye Jorgenson; Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org; Carl Munson; Andie Mark
Cc: Sonny Weathers; Roxanne Wright
Subject: Photos
Date: Thursday, December 14, 2023 1:59:54 PM

Diane Nichols
Medical Lake Resident
Planning Commission meeting December 14, 2023
Agenda Item 6A

I apologize that all the photos did not load to the previous email.

Hopefully, this attachment works!  Apologies for the inconvenience.

Thank you.
Diane Nichols

27

mailto:hsteacher509@gmail.com
mailto:mhudson@medical-lake.org
mailto:mjorgenson@medical-lake.org
mailto:Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org
mailto:cmunson@medical-lake.org
mailto:amark@medical-lake.org
mailto:SWeathers@medical-lake.org
mailto:rwright@medical-lake.org


From: Diane Nichols
To: Mark Hudson; Marye Jorgenson; Carl Munson; Andie Mark; Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org
Cc: Sonny Weathers; Roxanne Wright
Subject: Branding Discussion
Date: Thursday, December 14, 2023 1:52:40 PM

Diane Nichols
Medical Lake Resident
Meeting:  December 14, 2023 Planning Commission
Agenda Item: 6A Branding Discussion

Dear Commissioners,

I commend the vision, research and discussion that is happening in the Planning Commission
regarding the future of Medical Lake.

I have attached some pictures I feel are examples of concerns raised in some previous
discussions.  Although it is not in the purview of the Planning Commission to correct these
issues, I believe it is very relevant to the discussion.  As part of long range planning, the
aesthetics of the entire city, not just the business corridor, have to be addressed.

Many of these pictures are taken of residences that are along the Medical Lake trail system. 
That system, as you know, not only goes around the lake but through residential areas.  Is that
what you want visitors to see?  If you promote races such as a triathlon, walkathon for charity
events, bike races or leisurely walking, this is what you will encounter on parts of the trail. 
We have families coming to Shepard Field for Parks and Rec soccer games.  This is what they
must drive by or park next to when attending the games.  Is this the face of Medical Lake that
we want to show to our visitors?  Will visitors return if this is what they encounter?  I believe
these are valid questions for discussion when it comes to branding and themes for the city.

We can't legislate everyone into compliance.  How do we get citizens to buy into this vision? 
Can you develop a plan to work with other communities, non profits, volunteer groups to help
clean up Medical Lake?  

Colville is a city with approximately the same population as Medical Lake.  They have
transformed that city through Main Street grants.  In the spring, one day is designated as "Bark
Day".  Businesses close and everyone works together to go to the logging operation in town
and get free bark to beautify the town.  Neighbors help neighbors and it is a fun, productive
day.  They have an agreement with Avista crews to string lights throughout the downtown
business district at Christmas which turns it into a beautiful scene.  Some examples to think
about. 

Additionally, I have some questions regarding the golf course discussion:

Where would this course be located?  Medical Lake is surrounded by a lot of state land,
wetlands and lots of rock. How would you work with these challenges to develop a golf
course?

What about water usage?  We already experience water restrictions in the summer.  How do
you envision being able to afford water to keep the course green?  Is that the best use of our

28

mailto:hsteacher509@gmail.com
mailto:mhudson@medical-lake.org
mailto:mjorgenson@medical-lake.org
mailto:cmunson@medical-lake.org
mailto:amark@medical-lake.org
mailto:Jmayuliani@medical-lake.org
mailto:SWeathers@medical-lake.org
mailto:rwright@medical-lake.org


natural resources?  Would the profits outweigh the strain on the ecosystem?

The suggestion of miniature golf is a valid one.  It is making a comeback with families.  It
might be more conducive to the terrain and water concerns that we have here. Also, golf
simulators are very popular right now.  The right building, materials and software could have
the potential for a very profitable business.

Thank you for thinking and planning ahead.  I hope these questions and suggestions contribute
positively to the discussion.

Sincerely,

Diane Nichols

29



SHIPPING 
CONTAINERS

LU 2022-04 TA
Text Amendment

30



HISTORY

March 23

Planning 
Commission 

Hearing

Recommendation of 
Denial

May 2

City Council 

Hearing 

Led to Change in 
Language

October 3

City Council

 Ordinance 1115 

To allow shipping 
containers on non-

residential properties

31



LANGUAGE

Original

Allow Shipping 
Containers in the C-1 

Zone.

Current

Allow Shipping Containers on properties with 
mini-storage facilities or schools.

Standards for location, screening, condition, size

Maximum of 4 on a school site and 15% of units 
for mini-storage facilities

32



APPROVAL CRITERIA

Does this 
resolve any 

inconsistencies?

Does this 
implement the 
comprehensive 

plan?

Does this 
address any 

changed 
conditions?

Does this help a 
depleted land 

supply?

Is this 
consistent with 

the 
comprehensive 

plan?

Is this 
consistent with 
the County and 

the GMA?

Is this 
complementary 
and compatible 
with adjacent 

land uses?

Does this 
adversely affect 
critical areas?

33



CONCLUSION

Allowing shipping containers would be a 
contradiction to the comprehensive plan which 
mandates maintaining an attractive community.

For this reason, a 
denial is appropriate.

34



ACTION

Recommend Denial 
as presented in the 

staff report

Recommend 
approval of the 
proposed text 

amendment, as 
written, with a 

statement of how the 
approval criteria are 

met.

Request planner to 
amend proposed 
code and write 
findings for an 

approval.

35



1 

City of Medical Lake 

Comprehensive Plan 

2019 Update 

36



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Contents

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION .......................................................................... 1 

BACKGROUND ...................................................................................................... 1 
History .......................................................................................................... 1 
Geographic Setting ...................................................................................... 2 

PURPOSE & PROCESS ............................................................................................. 4 
STATE REQUIREMENTS AND THE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT (GMA) ........................... 4 

Consistency .................................................................................................. 6 
Concurrency ................................................................................................. 6 

COUNTYWIDE PLANNING POLICIES (CWPP) ............................................................... 7 
PLANNING PROCESS............................................................................................... 8 
HISTORIC AND CURRENT POPULATION GROWTH ......................................................... 8 
POPULATION FORECAST ......................................................................................... 9 

CHAPTER 2 PLAN CONCEPT .......................................................................... 11 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 11 
VISION STATEMENT ............................................................................................. 11 
COMMUNITY ISSUES ............................................................................................ 12 
GOALS, POLICIES, AND ACTIONS FRAMEWORK .......................................................... 15 

Goals .......................................................................................................... 17 
Policies ....................................................................................................... 21 
Actions ....................................................................................................... 27 

CHAPTER 3 LAND USE .................................................................................. 33 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 33 
EXISTING LAND USE ............................................................................................. 33 
EXISTING ZONING ................................................................................................ 35 

Residential Zones ....................................................................................... 35 
Commercial Zones ...................................................................................... 35 
Industrial Zone ........................................................................................... 36 
Institutional Zone ....................................................................................... 36 
Open Space Lands ...................................................................................... 36 

LAND USE DEMAND AND FORECAST ....................................................................... 38 
URBAN GROWTH AREA EXPANSION ........................................................................ 40 
URBAN FORM FACTORS ........................................................................................ 42 
CURRENT LAND USE PATTERNS .............................................................................. 42 

Linkages ..................................................................................................... 42 
Walkability ................................................................................................. 43 
Institutions ................................................................................................. 43 
Opportunity Areas ...................................................................................... 43 

PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE ..................................................................................... 44 
OVERLAY DISTRICTS ............................................................................................. 45 

Central Business District Overlay (CBD) ..................................................... 46 
Air Base Noise Overlay (ABN) ..................................................................... 46 

CHAPTER 4 TRANSPORTATION ..................................................................... 48 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 48 
TRANSPORTATION AND CONCURRENCY .................................................................... 48 
TRANSPORTATION CHOICES AND MODES ................................................................. 49 

37



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

TRANSPORTATION DEMAND AND NEEDS ASSESSMENT ............................................... 52 
Street Classifications .................................................................................. 52 

LEVEL-OF-SERVICE STANDARDS .............................................................................. 53 
Traffic Volumes .......................................................................................... 54 

FORECAST TRAFFIC VOLUMES ................................................................................ 56 
TRANSPORTATION DEMAND MANAGEMENT ............................................................. 57 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENT PROJECTS ............................................................ 57 

CHAPTER 5 PUBLIC SERVICES & FACILITIES ................................................... 58 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 58 
LEVELS-OF-SERVICE ............................................................................................. 59 
SIX- AND TWENTY-YEAR FORECAST DEMAND ........................................................... 61 
CAPITAL FACILITIES .............................................................................................. 61 

Inventory .................................................................................................... 61 
Fire and EMS .............................................................................................. 62 
Parks and Recreation ................................................................................. 63 
Police and Public Safety ............................................................................. 63 

PUBLIC WORKS ................................................................................................... 64 
Sewer System ............................................................................................. 64 
Stormwater Management ......................................................................... 65 
Water System ............................................................................................. 65 

DEMAND AND NEEDS ASSESSMENT ........................................................................ 67 
Community Facilities .................................................................................. 67 
Fire and EMS .............................................................................................. 67 
Parks and Recreation ................................................................................. 68 

PUBLIC WORKS ................................................................................................... 68 
Sewer System ............................................................................................. 68 
Stormwater Management ......................................................................... 69 
Water System ............................................................................................. 70 

FISCAL SUMMARY ............................................................................................... 71 
CAPITAL FACILITIES PROGRAM ............................................................................... 72 
USE OF IMPACT FEES ........................................................................................... 72 
MONITORING AND EVALUATION ............................................................................ 73 
STATE LAND INVENTORY ....................................................................................... 73 
UTILITIES INVENTORY ........................................................................................... 73 
SITING ESSENTIAL PUBLIC FACILITIES ....................................................................... 74 

CHAPTER 6 PARKS, RECREATION, & NATURAL AREAS ................................... 75 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 75 
PARKS INVENTORY ............................................................................................... 75 

Neighborhood Parks .................................................................................. 76 
Community Parks ....................................................................................... 77 
Regional Parks ........................................................................................... 77 

SCHOOL FACILITIES .............................................................................................. 77 
TRAILS INVENTORY .............................................................................................. 78 
NATURAL AREAS AND OPEN SPACE INVENTORY ........................................................ 79 
RECREATION INVENTORY ...................................................................................... 80 
DEMAND AND NEEDS ASSESSMENT ........................................................................ 80 
PARKS AND RECREATION IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM .................................................. 82 
MONITORING AND EVALUATION ............................................................................ 82 

38



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

CHAPTER 7 HOUSING ................................................................................... 83 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 83 
EXISTING HOUSING INVENTORY AND ANALYSIS ......................................................... 83 

Housing Occupancy .................................................................................... 84 
Housing Type ............................................................................................. 84 
Household Characteristics ......................................................................... 85 

HOUSING DEMAND AND NEEDS ASSESSMENT ........................................................... 86 

CHAPTER 8 ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ........................................................ 88 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 88 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT ISSUES .......................................................................... 88 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT NEEDS ASSESSMENT ANALYSIS .......................................... 89 

CHAPTER 9 COMMUNITY DESIGN ................................................................. 91 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 91 

CHAPTER 10 NATURAL ENVIRONMENT ........................................................ 93 

PURPOSE AND INTENT .......................................................................................... 93 
EXISTING ENVIRONMENTAL CHARACTERISTICS........................................................... 93 
CRITICAL AREAS .................................................................................................. 94 
FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT AREAS ....................................................................... 95 
FREQUENTLY FLOODED AREAS ............................................................................... 97 
WETLAND AREAS ................................................................................................ 99 
NATURAL RESOURCE LANDS ................................................................................ 101 

Agricultural Lands .................................................................................... 101 
Forest Lands ............................................................................................. 103 
Mineral Resource Lands ........................................................................... 103 

AQUIFER RECHARGE AREA .................................................................................. 103 
GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS ...................................................................... 105 

CHAPTER 11 GLOSSARY .............................................................................. 107 

 

TABLE OF TABLES 
TABLE 1.1 PLANNING GOALS OF THE GROWTH MANAGEMENT ACT .................................... 5 
TABLE 1.2 MANDATORY & OPTIONAL COMPREHENSIVE PLAN ELEMENTS ............................ 6 
TABLE 1.3 MEDICAL LAKE POPULATION GROWTH 1900-2018 ......................................... 9 
TABLE 1.4 OFM POPULATION PROJECTIONS ................................................................ 10 
TABLE 2.1 COMMUNITY ISSUES .................................................................................. 13 
TABLE 2.2 PLAN ELEMENT ABBREVIATIONS .................................................................. 16 
TABLE 2.3 MEDICAL LAKE GOALS ............................................................................... 17 
TABLE 2.4 MEDICAL LAKE POLICIES ............................................................................ 21 
TABLE 2.5 MEDICAL LAKE IMPLEMENTING ACTIONS ....................................................... 27 
TABLE 3.1 CITY OF MEDICAL LAKE LAND USE ............................................................... 33 
TABLE 4.1 MEDICAL LAKE STREET CLASSIFICATIONS ....................................................... 52 
TABLE 4.2 2015 AND 2040 AVERAGE DAILY VOLUMES FOR ARTERIALS ............................ 54 
TABLE 4.3 2015 AND 2040 DAILY TRAFFIC VOLUMES FOR STATE ROUTE 902 ................... 55 
TABLE 4.4 STATE ROUTE 902 TRAFFIC COUNTS 2018 ................................................... 55 
TABLE 5.1 EXISTING LEVEL OF SERVICE STANDARDS ....................................................... 60 

39



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

TABLE 5.2 SUGGESTED LEVEL OF SERVICE STANDARDS .................................................... 60 
TABLE 5.3 EXISTING FIRE DEPARTMENT EQUIPMENT ...................................................... 63 
TABLE 5.4 EXISTING SEWER RATES ............................................................................. 65 
TABLE 5.5 EXISTING WATER WELLS ............................................................................ 66 
TABLE 5.6 EXISTING WATER STORAGE......................................................................... 67 
TABLE 5.7 EXISTING AND FUTURE PARK AND RECREATIONAL DEMAND .............................. 68 
TABLE 5.8 CAPACITY AND DEMAND FOR THE CITY SEWER SYSTEM .................................... 69 
TABLE 5.9 WATER SYSTEM CAPACITY AND DEMAND ...................................................... 70 
TABLE 5.10 WATER SYSTEM PROJECTS IN CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT PLAN ........................... 71 
TABLE 5.11 BUDGET AND EXPENDITURES (2013-2019) ................................................ 72 
TABLE 6.1 PARK CATEGORIES .................................................................................... 76 
TABLE 6.2 EXISTING TRAIL FACILITIES .......................................................................... 78 
TABLE 6.3 OVERALL PARK FACILITIES INVENTORY .......................................................... 79 
TABLE 6.4 FUTURE PARK AND RECREATION NEEDS ........................................................ 81 
TABLE 6.5 RECOMMENDED LOS STANDARDS FOR PARKS AND RECREATION ........................ 81 
TABLE 7.1 HOUSING UNIT CHARACTERISTICS 2010-2017 .............................................. 84 
TABLE 7.2 HOUSING UNITS BY TYPE, 2010 AND 2017 (OFM) ....................................... 85 
TABLE 7.3 HOUSEHOLD CHARACTERISTICS, 2017 .......................................................... 85 
TABLE 7.4 HOUSEHOLD FAMILY AND SIZE, 2017 ........................................................... 86 

TABLE OF FIGURES 
FIGURE 1.1 MEDICAL LAKE VICINITY MAP ...................................................................... 3 
FIGURE 3.1 MEDICAL LAKE LAND USE MAP ................................................................. 34 
FIGURE 3.2 MEDICAL LAKE ZONING MAP .................................................................... 37 
FIGURE 3.3 MEDICAL LAKE CORPORATE BOUNDARY AND CURRENT UGA .......................... 39 
FIGURE 3.4 PROPOSED URBAN GROWTH AREA ............................................................. 41 
FIGURE 3.5 AIR BASE NOISE OVERLAY ZONE ................................................................ 47 
FIGURE 4.1 MEDICAL LAKE STREET CLASSIFICATIONS...................................................... 51 
FIGURE 10.1 FISH AND WILDLIFE HABITAT AREA MAP ................................................... 96 
FIGURE 10.2 MEDICAL LAKE FLOOD ZONES .................................................................. 98 
FIGURE 10.3 MEDICAL LAKE WETLANDS ................................................................... 100 
FIGURE 10.4 MEDICAL LAKE AGRICULTURAL LANDS ..................................................... 102 
FIGURE 10.5 AQUIFER RECHARGE AREA .................................................................... 104 
FIGURE 10.6 GEOLOGICALLY HAZARDOUS AREAS ........................................................ 106 

40



41



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 1 

Chapter 1 Introduction  

As mandated by Washington State’s Growth Management Act (GMA), 

the City of Medical Lake is updating its 2007 comprehensive plan. This 

revises policies from that plan, includes new policies informed by 

community input, and incorporates policy direction from other plans 

and documents adopted since the 2007 update. This plan satisfies 

GMA requirements for mandatory elements found in RCW 36.70A.070, 

covering both the scope and content indicated in the code, and reflects 

review of Spokane County’s Countywide Planning Policies. It is 

provided to address the growth and maintenance of the City through 

the year 2037.  

As with all plans, this document is only a start. The City and the 

community at-large must begin and maintain its implementation, 

including budgeting and initiating necessary investments; adopting 

new regulations as may be necessary; and developing more detailed 

departmental, area or topic-specific plans to carry Medical Lake’s long-

term vision forward.  

Background  

History 

Incorporated in 1890, Medical Lake’s history is closely tied to the 

natural features of the area. Originally, Native American tribes 

inhabited the region.  The Native Americans believed in the healing 

properties of the lake water.  The first European settlers in the area 

were also attracted to the lakes and other natural resources found 

nearby.  In 1872 Andrew Lefevre, a French-Canadian, discovered the 

lake while searching for lost sheep, and decided to bathe in it.  He 

found that the pain from is rheumatism was gone, and thus named the 

lake “Lac de Medicine,” or Medical Lake, as it is still called.  

From the 1880’s until the early part of the 20th century, Medical Lake 

remained a flourishing town and popular vacation destination. The lake 

was dredged of most of its mineral deposits over the years and began 

to show the effects of adjacent land development.  Algae blooms 

appeared, diminishing the lake’s desirability.  Tourism plummeted and 

many people left Medical Lake as businesses followed in rapid 

succession. 

The construction of Fairchild Air Force Base a few miles north in 1943 

offered the community new economic growth.  In 1964, the city 

installed a sewer system, but by this time the lake quality had 

degraded to the point where recovery to a pristine state was 

questionable.  In 1986, an aerator was installed in the lake to increase 

oxygen levels and decrease algae blooms, bringing the lake back to 

42



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 2 

life. The lake now takes center stage, with the city nestled on the one 

side, and houses, recreational trails, and state land surrounding it. A 

general idea for the setting of Medical Lake within the greater region 

can be seen in Figure 1.1. More detailed maps can be found later in 

this document. 

Geographic Setting 

The City of Medical Lake is at a convergence of unique geological 

attributes on the West Plains, at an elevated landscape (2,420 feet), 

14 miles south and west of Spokane in Spokane County (See Figure 

1.1). The community is located between Interstate–90 and Highway 2, 

with access from State Route 902, Brooks Road, Lake Street, and 

Espanola Road. Fairchild Air Force Base is 3.9 miles to the north, 

Airway Heights is 8.3 miles northeast, Cheney is 9.2 miles southeast, 

and Reardan is 15 miles northwest. Rock formations, the water cycle, 

plants, and wildlife are all aspects of the micro-region creating the 

edge of the expansive rain shadow of the Cascade Mountain Range 

and the climb to the Great Divide.  

The foundation material of the lakebed and the adjoining community is 

basalt bedrock exposed in areas. The soil consists of unconsolidated 

silty-clay alluvium to the north and south of the lake. Groundwater, 

rain and snow are the primary sources of recharge for the lake, while 

evaporation, groundwater and irrigation are primary discharges. A 

transition point from the scabland ecosystem and the forests to the 

east creates a blending of high desert plants and Ponderosa pines. The 

wildlife that is found in the area is also consistent with this edge 

ecology including whitetail deer, birds, and fish. 

Image 1.1 Welcome Sign, North Entrance to Medical Lake 

43



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 1.1 Medical Lake Vicinity Map 

44



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Purpose & Process 

Medical Lake’s Comprehensive Plan is a decision-making tool. The plan 

reflects the residents’ chosen path into the future by anticipating 

changes in the community and laying out policies and programs to 

guide the city in managing these changes.  It serves as a basis for 

making responsible decisions while respecting multiple points-of-view, 

addressing land use availability and compatibility, financial capability, 

provision of governmental and social services, and environmental 

suitability. 

Historically, land use planning and regulation has been the 

responsibility of local government in Washington State. The prevailing 

philosophy in Washington is that local governments are closest to the 

people and best understand community land use. Land use planning 

has been and continues to be a process of applying knowledge and 

foresight to guide and coordinate future actions. It is action-oriented 

because people want to capture opportunities to make their 

communities better places to live, solve problems to improve or 

maintain the community’s quality of life, and create a future that 

realizes the community’s goals and dreams. 

Planning is also a legal process. State laws, county policies, city 

ordinances, and procedural requirements govern both public and 

private decisions about land use. Different values are reflected in local 

land use planning, just as they are in most issues in a constitutional 

republic society. The desire for land has been a primary driver of the 

way communities develop. In the United States, land is both a symbol 

of the natural world and a space where human activities take place.  

Medical Lake’s Comprehensive Plan is consistent with the intent of the 

Washington State Growth Management Act (GMA), RCW 36.70A, as 

amended. It is also consistent with Spokane County’s County-Wide 

Planning Policies (CWPP) and is based on locally established visions, 

goals and policies as adopted by an extensive public participation 

process expressing the community’s commitment to planning for its 

future. 

This introduction chapter summarizes the requirements of the GMA 

and then outlines the current population and projected population 

growth for the city. These will both guide how this comprehensive plan 

is to be used. 

State Requirements and the Growth 
Management Act (GMA) 

In 1990 the State Legislature enacted the GMA in response to findings 

that uncoordinated growth and a lack of common goals toward land 

conversation pose a threat to public health, safety and general welfare 

45



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

and to the environment and opportunities for sustainable economic 

development. Table 1.1 outlines the planning goals of the GMA for 

guiding the development of comprehensive plans and land use 

regulations for municipalities and counties planning under the GMA’s 

requirements. 

Table 1.1 Planning Goals of the Growth Management Act 

Planning Goals Description 

Urban Growth Encourage development in urban areas where adequate public facilities and 

services exist or can be provided in an efficient manner. 

Sprawl Reduce the inappropriate conversion of undeveloped land into sprawling low-

density development. 

Transportation Encourage efficient, multi-modal transportation systems that are based on 

regional priorities and coordinated with county and city comprehensive plans. 

Housing Encourage the availability of affordable housing to all economic segments of 

the population of this state, promote a variety of residential densities and 

housing types and encourage preservation of existing housing stock. 

Economic Development Encourage economic development throughout the state that is consistent with 

adopted comprehensive plans, promote economic opportunity for all citizens of 

the state, especially for unemployed and for disadvantaged persons, and 

encourage growth in areas experiencing insufficient economic growth, all 

within the capacities of the state’s natural resources, public services and public 

facilities. 

Property Rights Property rights shall not be taken for public use without just compensation 

having been made.  The property rights of landowners shall be protected from 

arbitrary and discriminatory actions. 

Permits Applications for both state and local permits should be processed in a timely 

manner to insure predictability. 

Natural Resource 

Industries 

Maintain and enhance natural resource-based industries, including productive 

timber, agricultural and fisheries industries.  Encourage the conservation of 

productive forestlands and productive agricultural lands and discourage 

incompatible uses. 

Open Space and 

Recreation 

Encourage the retention of open space and development of recreation 

opportunities, conserve fish and wildlife habitat, increase access to natural 

resource lands and water and develop parks. 

Environment Protect the environment and enhance the state’s high quality of life, including 

air and water quality and the availability of water. 

Citizen Participation Encourage the involvement of citizens in the planning process and ensure 

coordination between communities and jurisdictions to reconcile conflicts. 

Public Facilities and 

Services 

Ensure that public facilities and services necessary to support development 

shall be adequate to serve the development at the time development is 

available for occupancy and use without decreasing current service levels 

below locally established minimum standards. 

Historic Preservation Identify and encourage the preservation of lands, sites and structures that 

have historical or archeological significance. 

46



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

In addition to identifying planning goals, GMA also specifies mandatory 

and optional comprehensive plan elements (Table 1.2), which must (if 

mandatory) or may (if optional) be included in a jurisdiction’s 

comprehensive plan. 

Table 1.2 Mandatory & Optional Comprehensive Plan Elements 

Mandatory Optional 

Capital Facilities 

Housing 

Land Use 

Transportation 

Utilities 

Community Design 

Economic Development 

Parks and Recreation 

Solar Energy and Energy Conservation 

Natural Environment 

Others related to physical development 

Besides the five mandatory elements, Medical Lake has chosen to 

incorporate Community Design, Economic Development, Parks and 

Recreation, and Natural Environment as optional chapters of their 

Comprehensive Plan.  

Consistency 

A very important principle of GMA is consistency between: 

• Comprehensive plans and the planning goals identified in RCW

36.70A.020

• Municipal and county comprehensive plans

• Comprehensive plans of each community/county with those of

neighboring municipalities and counties

• Comprehensive plan elements (internal consistency)

• Comprehensive plans and development regulations

• Comprehensive plans and capital facilities

• Comprehensive plans and state agency actions

• Comprehensive plans and regional transportation plans

This “Consistency Doctrine” has its beginnings in the State Planning 

Enabling Act of 1935 and has been continually strengthened by state 

statutes and court decisions. 

Concurrency 

A second principle of GMA is concurrency, meaning that public facilities 

and services must be developed at a pace concurrent with the new 

land uses they are intended to serve; maintaining adopted level-of-

service standards as demand changes. The concurrency requirement is 

especially forceful regarding transportation: 

“…local jurisdictions must adopt and enforce ordinances which 

prohibit development approval if the development causes the 

47



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

level-of-service…to decline below the standards adopted in the 

…comprehensive plan, unless transportation improvements or 

strategies to accommodate the impacts of development are made 

concurrent with the development” RCW 36.70A070(6)(b) 

Taken together, the various requirements of GMA suggest a strong 

relationship between urban growth and public facilities and services 

necessary to serve that growth. This relationship is further enhanced 

by the concept of Urban Growth Areas, where land development and 

public infrastructure improvements are programmed concurrently. To 

accomplish these new planning requirements, the GMA expressly 

authorized the use of innovative techniques, including impact fees. 

Countywide Planning Policies (CWPP) 

In 1991, the GMA was amended requiring counties to adopt 

countywide planning policies in cooperation with their municipalities. 

These policies are written statements used to establish a countywide 

framework from which county and city comprehensive plans are 

developed, adopted and implemented.  The framework helps ensure 

county and city comprehensive plans are consistent with each other 

and the intent of GMA. However, it is important that the countywide 

planning policies guide the subsequent adoption of comprehensive 

plans without overly constraining with excessive detail. RCW 

36.70A.210 (3) requires policies at a minimum to: 

• Implement RCW 36.70A.110

• Promote contiguous and orderly development and provisions of

urban services to such development

• Provide for public capital facilities of regional or statewide

importance

• Provide for countywide transportation facilities

• Consider the need for affordable housing

• Provide for joint, county and city, planning within urban growth

areas

• Analyze fiscal impacts

This comprehensive plan follows the countywide planning policies for 

Spokane County. A copy of the 2011 Spokane Countywide Planning 

Policies can be found on the county’s website.  

48



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Planning Process 

Planning is an attempt to deal with change in a well thought out and 

structured manner. The comprehensive plan develops written and 

graphical aspects of future land use and development based on 

foreseeable changes in the community. The goals and policies of the 

plan guide public and private decision-makers so land use and 

development decisions reflect the desires and wishes of the overall 

community. The community can reexamine and amend its plan 

annually as conditions change, keeping it an accurate and effective 

tool. An effective comprehensive plan relies on community 

involvement, ideally including the participation of the entire 

community. This ensures that all interests are heard and taken into 

consideration for the final plan development. This process includes 

public workshops and design charrettes, mail surveys, and public 

comment at the Planning Commission and City Council meetings and 

hearings.  

A vital and mandatory component of any plan is citizen participation. 

This stems from the philosophy that planning bodies should not plan 

for the community but with the community. If a planned vision of the 

city’s future is to become a reality, the fastest way of achieving it is by 

public dialogue and public interpretation. When the comprehensive 

plan is being amended or undergoing a major review, the notification 

and involvement of the public is not just to be a part, but a vital part 

of the process. This involvement will be accomplished by holding at 

least one public hearing on any proposed amendment for the purpose 

of receiving public testimony. 

In the development of this Comprehensive Plan update, the city 

gathered input from the citizens of Medical Lake through a public 

workshop during the spring of 2019. At this same time, the city also 

administered a short mini-poll survey to gather feedback on the 

direction and policy ideas presented in the updated Comprehensive 

Plan. The results from these public outreach events were generally in 

favor of the updated plan. 

Historic and Current Population Growth 

Historically, Medical Lake has had a steady population growth. Census 

data taken every ten years is the foundation from which the state 

receives its official population numbers. Yearly population estimates 

are conducted by the state to track population growth and distribute 

sales tax allotments and other funding the state provides based upon 

the estimated growth statistics. Table 1.3 shows the city’s population 

growth from 1900 to 2018. 

For a more detailed snapshot of the current demographics in Medical 

Lake see Appendix B.   

49



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 1.3 Medical Lake Population Growth 1900-2018 

Population Forecast 

The Washington Office of Financial Management (OFM) provides official 

forecasts for each county in Washington state every five years. The 

most recent population forecasts made were for the 2017-2037 time 

period. In 2016, the Spokane Board of County Commissioners passed 

a resolution (See Appendix A) establishing the OFM medium level 

projection as the official projection for Spokane County’s growth over 

the 20-year period of 2017-2037. The resolution provides a breakdown 

of population growth for each municipality within Spokane County, 

including Medical Lake. Table 1.4 provides the 2018 populations for 

the city and the county, as well as the low, medium, and high OFM 

projections for both. 

Year Population Year Population 

1900 516 

1910 927+ 2010 5,060 

1920 1,254+ 2011 4,910* 

1930 1,671+ 2012 4,920* 

1940 2,114+ 2013 4,945* 

1950 4,488 2014 4,965* 

1960 4,765 201 5 4,945* 

1970 3,529 2016 4,945* 

1980 3,600 2017 4,990* 

1990 3,664 2018 4,990* 

2000 3,758 (3,815) 

Source: Washington State Office of Financial Management (OFM), U.S. Census Bureau 

Notes: (1) Figures with a (+) can be considered unreliable due to Census errors of 

improperly including populations from Eastern State Hospital and Lakeland Village, which 

were not annexed into the city until 1947.  The Census made attempts to correct these 

figures; however, these adjustments did not eliminate the errors of the original numbers.  

(2) Figures in parenthesis indicate a correction of the Census Bureau figures.  (3) Figures

with a (*) reflect OFM population estimates. 

50



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 1.4 OFM Population Projections 

OFM Population Forecasts 
Medical 

Lake (ML) 

Spokane 

County 

ML Growth 

2018-2037 

2018 Estimated Pop. 4,990 507,950 - 

2037 Forecast Pop. - Low 5,931 573,770 18.9% 

2037 Forecast Pop. – Med 6,042 583,409 21.1% 

2037 Forecast Pop. – High 6,111 589,418 22.5% 

Source: Spokane Board of County Commissioners Resolution 16-0553 

The city experienced significant growth from 2000-2010, when the 

population grew by nearly 33%, from 3,815 to 5,060 people. However, 

in recent years the OFM population numbers have estimated a 

population of less than 5,000, indicating a slight decrease in 

population from 2010. Due to this variation in recent historical 

population trends, the OFM medium projection growth rate seems to 

be a reasonable choice for establishing a future population number. 

Therefore, the City of Medical Lake will plan for a population of 6,042 

people by 2037. This means that the city will need to accommodate 

1,052 new residents by 2037, which is a growth of 21.1% from the 

2018 population. The remainder of this comprehensive plan is 

dedicated to outlining how the city intends to plan for this increase in 

population and accompanying needs. 

51



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 2 Plan Concept 

Purpose and Intent 

This chapter identifies the vision for the Medical Lake community, 

presents an assessment of current issues, and outlines the goal, 

policy, and action frameworks that guide the rest of the plan.  

Comprehensive land use planning relies on a strong and clear 

relationship between these goals and the public interest.  Any land use 

regulation and any expenditure of public funds must advance the 

public interest. This chapter provides this critical link, documenting the 

various issues as identified by the community and addressing them 

through proposed visions and goals.  

Vision Statement 

The vision statement represents what community members most value 

about their community and provides snapshot of what the community 

aims to be like at some point in the future. Medical Lake originally 

created a vision statement for the 1994 plan update, and this vision 

statement was used again in the 2007 update. This vision statement 

has been slightly altered to be more consistent with GMA requirements 

and the structural changes of the current plan update. The updated 

vision statement reads as follows: 

“People here are actively involved in local government and 

community affairs. As a result, Medical Lake is a community 

with a small-town feel, sense of safety, and a focused, 

prosperous, and slowly growing central business district. The 

community provides a range of opportunities for small 

business development that offer affordable services and 

promote entrepreneurship, craftsmanship, and small-scale 

manufacturing These local businesses are developed at urban 

intensities to distinguish between the populated community 

and the surrounding rural/agricultural lands. 

The transportation system moves people and vehicles 

efficiently and safely within and through Medical Lake, 

effectively accessing land in the community through a high-

quality system of tree-lined streets, trails, and sidewalks. 

The community’s public facilities, services and utilities are high 

quality, fully maintained, and cost-effective, ensuring the 

necessary facilities, services, and utilities can adequately serve 

development as it is occupied and used without impacting 

service quality. 

52



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

The parks and recreation systems are available to all people 

within the community and are enhanced and expanded as the 

city grows. 

Medical Lake’s neighborhoods are mostly single-family, yet 

they still provide for a variety of densities and housing types 

for greater housing choice and opportunity for a variety of 

needs, and in a manner that preserves, protects and 

strengthens existing neighborhoods. 

There is a balance between population and employment. The 

character of the community remains, but growth is also 

important to Medical Lake’s continued development as a 

financial, industrial, business, recreational, and cultural center 

for this region of Spokane County. 

The community enjoys a functional and attractive natural, built 

and social environment, fostering a sense of pride.” 

The City of Medical Lake’s main challenge into the future is to cultivate 

what the community feels is unique and important while 

accommodating future growth and development and meeting the 

requirements of GMA. This comprehensive plan provides guidance on 

how to facilitate new development that encourages preservation, 

maintenance and enhancement of the unique characteristics of Medical 

Lake. 

Community Issues 

The issues in Table 2.1 are included in the comprehensive plan to 

focus the plan’s goals and policies, targeting the plan’s direction to 

tackle those problems and opportunities considered most pressing at 

the time of the plan’s writing. This list captures today’s context and 

shapes what Medical Lake residents now envision for themselves for 

the year 2037. 

53



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 2.1 Community Issues 

Planning Element Issue 

Land Use The City of Medical Lake’s attractive and balanced mix of residential and non-

residential uses may shift if there is significant future growth. 

The City of Medical Lake may grow and expand, requiring careful management 

to sustain the community’s existing quality of life. 

The City of Medical Lake needs to recognize the potential for new development 

opportunities and ensure this development happens where and when the city 

wants it to occur. 

The City of Medical Lake has experienced rapid residential growth, and these 

newer neighborhoods may not feel part of the overall community. 

The City of Medical Lake’s downtown, though appropriately scaled, is not 

prospering.  

The City of Medical Lake provides numerous jobs for non-Medical Lake 

residents, with a large daytime population offering opportunities that are not 

fully realized.  

Transportation The community’s trail network is largely seen as only a recreational resource 

and not as a practical transportation alternative. 

The community’s transportation facilities prioritize autos and freight, more 

consistent with regional transportation system priorities than local desires. 

The city faces increasing operational costs and demand for maintenance and 

improvements, but a decreasing budget to do so. 

The main thoroughfares (SR-902, Brooks Rd, Lake St) need safety and 

beautification enhancements. 

The city recognizes a portion of its community is dependent on public transit as 

their primary mode of transportation. 

Public Services The city needs to make sure the trail system is safe and available for use to 

everyone in the community. 

The city’s current Level-of-Service (LOS) standards are not clear and may not 

be achievable. 

The city’s schools are excellent and there is good spirit of cooperation between 

the school district and the city. 

The city’s park system is a great asset to city residents, and it should remain a 

prominent aspect in the community. 

Costs to the city continue to increase and the city’s budget fluctuates with 

additional revenue challenges likely. 

54



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 14 

The city recognizes the necessity of allowing essential public facilities in its 

community, but is committed to protecting its residents when such facilities are 

necessary in a manner consistent with the county’s siting process. 

Domestic water availability – and the ways in which availability is determined - 

limits the community’s reinvestment and development opportunities. 

Parks & Recreation The importance of providing park and recreational opportunities to all Medical 

Lake residents may drive up costs in the parks and recreation system. 

The city recognizes the growing need to take care of its existing park facilities as 

acquisition and development costs rise and city revenues decline. 

The community’s diverse recreational interests require the City to adapt its 

system over time. 

The city offers numerous parks and recreational opportunities to its residents, 

but not all opportunities are easily accessible. 

The city can improve the way it uses various land uses in conjunction with 

recreational opportunities. 

Housing Neighborhoods are not as conveniently linked for pedestrian travel as they 

should be. 

Medical Lake’s emphasis as a community of single-family homes can make 

higher-intensity housing development a challenge. 

New growth and development may impact existing neighborhoods. 

The city continues to experience diversification in its population necessitating a 

variety of housing choices. 

The city continues to experience diversification of its special-needs population in 

need of affordable housing options, including retirees, single-parent households, 

individuals with disabilities and fixed/low-income households. 

Economic 

Development 

Because the city is so close to Spokane and surrounding communities, it must 

establish itself as filling a “niche” of specialty, attraction-oriented enterprises. 

The city’s downtown is in a state of change, providing opportunities to 

reestablish itself as the community’s centerpiece. 

The city recognizes the importance of encouraging light industry and small-scale 

manufacturing to help diversify the city’s economy and provide an employment 

base to the community. 

The city recognizes that many of its residents work outside the community. 

The city recognizes its proximity to Spokane International Airport, I-90/US 395 

and US 2 allows it to establish itself as a center or hub for light industry and 

small-scale manufacturing.  

55



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Community Design The term “rural” is undefined, creating confusion over the essential 

characteristics and attributes informing and expressing community design. 

Natural Environment The community’s wetlands, lakes and shorelines are vulnerable to encroachment 

and misuse, requiring dedicated enforcement of conservation policies and 

regulations. 

Goals, Policies, and Actions Framework 

The tables below present the nuts and bolts of the comprehensive 

plan, listing the goals, policies, and actions that put the plan into 

motion. 

Goals are broad statements indicating a general aim or purpose to be 

achieved. A goal is a direction setter. It is an ideal future state or 

condition related to the public health, safety or general welfare toward 

which planning, and implementation actions are directed. A goal is a 

general expression of community values and is somewhat abstract in 

nature. Consequently, a goal is generally not quantifiable, time-

dependent, or suggestive of specific actions for its achievement. 

Policies are statements providing guidelines for current and future 

decision-making or position-taking. A policy indicates a clear 

commitment of the Medical Lake City Council. It is an extension of the 

plan’s goals, reflecting topical nuance as well as an assessment of 

conditions and how the City will respond. 

Actions are initiatives, projects or programs to put policy into motion. 

Actions may include the development of more detailed and localized 

plans, formal agreements, regulations or other strategies necessary to 

realize community goals. Actions are immediately implementable 

through staff work programs and annual budget cycles. Every action 

must be supported by guiding policies, establishing the context within 

which the action is to be undertaken. 

The following tables show how the goals, policies, and actions 

interrelate. In many cases, a single goal serves the needs of multiple 

planning topics. For instance, Goal 2 applies to the Land Use and 

Economic Development elements. In addition, single policies can serve 

the needs of multiple elements. Policy 5 relates to Land Use and 

Housing elements. This multiple-purpose orientation of goals and 

policies allows this single compilation to serve the entire plan, and the 

tables help users navigate how the goals and policies both serve 

multiple topics and interrelate with each other. In addition, 

implementing actions all have direct policy references, demonstrating 

how these actions will advance the plan’s policy objectives. Where a 

single action has multiple policy references, that single action helps 

satisfy the needs of multiple objectives. The community can use these 

tables, then, to gauge the relative effectiveness of the various actions 

56



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 16 

and use that as a tool to prioritize what might be most important to 

implement. Table 2.2 below shows the abbreviations of each chapter 

listing as they are identified in the policy framework tables. 

Table 2.2 Plan Element Abbreviations 

Name Abbreviation 

Economic Development ED 

Land Use LU 

Transportation XP 

Community Design CD 

Parks, Recreation, and Open Space PR 

Housing H 

Public Services and Facilities PF 

Natural Environment NE 

57



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Goals 

Medical Lake identified 30 goals to guide this plan, listed in the Table 

2.3. The table also includes references to the relevant plan elements 

and the policies and implementing actions designed to achieve each 

listed goal. 

Table 2.3 Medical Lake Goals 

Element 

Reference 
Number Goal 

Policy 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

LU, CD 1 Maintain an attractive and balanced 

mix of land uses, ensuring the future 

character of the community. 

3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 9, 

10, 18, 20, 46, 

49, 50, 55 

3, 8, 9, 11, 33, 

47, 50, 55, 58, 

59, 60, 63, 65 

LU, ED 2 Maintain an adequate supply of 

buildable land helping ensure new 

development can be accommodated 

in the manner envisioned by the 

city. 

5, 10, 20, 26, 39, 

46, 48 

3, 6, 11, 33, 

47, 50, 54, 57, 

63, 65 

LU, XP, PR, 

PF, CD 

3 Have convenient, attractive, and 

visible pedestrian and bicycle access 

to community facilities and 

neighborhoods, making the trail 

system one of the state's best. 

2, 6, 7, 11, 12, 

14, 15, 16, 18, 

31, 32, 33, 34, 

35, 36, 37, 38, 

39, 42, 43, 47, 

48, 54, 56, 74, 

75, 76 

1, 2, 13, 14, 

16, 18, 22, 30, 

32, 33, 38, 40, 

58 

LU, ED 4 Have a pedestrian-oriented and 

prosperous downtown serving 

residents and tourists while 

protecting its historical and cultural 

character and attracting new 

business. 

2, 3, 8, 11, 14, 

16, 19, 49, 50, 

55, 66 

10, 42, 51, 52, 

53, 54, 55, 56, 

68, 69 

LU, ED 5 Widen employment opportunities 

and provide jobs to city residents, 

while still providing jobs for non-

community residents. 

6, 7, 9, 10, 17, 

20, 44, 49, 50, 

51, 52 

12, 48, 51, 53, 

57, 68 

XP 6 Use and maintain the transportation 

system effectively for all types of 

motorized and non-motorized 

transportation modes within the city 

and between Medical Lake and 

neighboring communities. 

2, 6, 7, 11, 12, 

13, 14, 15, 16, 

17, 18, 19, 21, 

26, 43, 56, 66, 

76 

4, 13, 14, 18, 

19, 20, 21, 22, 

23, 24, 25, 26, 

27, 30, 31, 32, 

35, 38, 56, 58 

XP 7 Improve pedestrian and vehicular 

safety along city streets, especially 

SR-902 and to enhance SR-902’s 

ability to serve commercial land 

uses. 

2, 3, 11, 12, 13, 

14, 15, 16, 19, 

56, 66, 76 

4, 21, 22, 27, 

38, 58 

XP 8 Make public transportation available 

to all city residents and workers. 

12, 15, 16, 17, 

21, 66 

26, 27 

58



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 18 

Element 

Reference 
Number Goal 

Policy 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

PF 9 Ensure levels of service are 

reasonable and appropriate and the 

ability exists to maintain them over 

time. 

13, 16, 17, 19, 

21, 22, 23, 24, 

26, 27, 28, 29, 

30, 63, 64, 65, 

66 

17, 30, 31, 35, 

36, 39 

PF 10 Ensure all public facilities and 

services are in place, or expected to 

be in place, at the time development 

occurs. 

16, 17, 21, 22, 

23, 26, 27, 28, 

29, 30, 63, 64, 

65 

39 

PF, PR 11 Ensure adequate park, recreation 

and open spaces are provided for 

and maintained for the continued 

enjoyment of the community. 

1, 21, 22, 23, 24, 

26, 27, 28, 29, 

30, 31, 32, 33, 

34, 35, 36, 37, 

38, 39, 47, 48, 

53, 63, 64, 65, 

74, 75 

1, 7, 13, 37, 

38, 39, 41, 42, 

43, 45, 46, 62, 

65 

PF 12 Provide services at a level that is 

fiscally sustainable. 

17, 21, 22, 23, 

24, 26, 27, 28, 

29, 30, 34, 35, 

36, 63, 64, 65 

30, 35, 36, 39 

PF 13 Adequately site essential public 

facilities without compromising 

surrounding neighborhood integrity 

and character and without hindering 

the overall livelihood of the 

community. 

13, 21, 22, 23, 

24, 27, 28, 29, 

30, 42, 45, 54, 

63, 64, 65 

31, 40 

PR, CD, LU, 

XP 

14 Maximize physical and visual 

linkages of parks and recreational 

facilities to residential areas, public 

facilities (school, library, etc.) and 

commercial areas within the city and 

adjacent to the city, making them 

accessible for residents. 

2, 12, 14, 16, 17, 

18, 25, 31, 32, 

33, 34, 35, 36, 

37, 38, 39, 43, 

47, 48, 53, 56, 

75 

14, 16, 20, 22, 

27, 32, 35, 58, 

59, 60 

PR, PF 15 Emphasize the enhancements and 

maintenance of existing parks while 

creatively seeking ways to acquire 

and develop future recreational 

facilities. 

15, 18, 25, 27, 

28, 29, 30, 31, 

32, 33, 34, 35, 

36, 37, 38, 39, 

47, 48, 53, 74, 

75 

1, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 39, 43, 44, 

46, 62, 65 

PR 16 Promote multi-uses of the city’s 

parks for the various interests of its 

residents. 

25, 31, 32, 33, 

34, 35, 36, 37, 

38, 39, 43, 47, 

48, 53, 73, 75 

16, 41, 42, 45, 

52, 62, 64, 65 

H, CD, LU 17 Promote the detached single-family 

housing form through a variety of 

approaches and techniques. 

5, 40, 41 15, 47, 63 

59



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Element 

Reference 
Number Goal 

Policy 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

H, CD, LU 18 Preserve, protect and strengthen the 

vitality and stability of existing 

neighborhoods. 

9, 10, 18, 22, 23, 

31, 32, 33, 34, 

35, 36, 40, 41, 

42, 44, 49, 50, 

53, 54, 67 

6, 7, 8, 15, 38, 

33, 47, 50 

H, CD, LU, 

ED 

19 Provide a variety of densities and 

housing types to promote greater 

choices and opportunities. 

5, 17, 40, 41, 46, 

49, 50 

6, 9, 15, 47, 

50, 54, 55, 56, 

58, 59 

H, LU 20 Meet a variety of needs including a 

broad range of health, social and 

affordable housing issues paying 

particular attention to senior 

citizens, low-income families, 

persons with disabilities and other 

special need populations. 

5, 9, 17, 35, 36, 

49, 50, 52, 53, 

66 

6, 7, 9, 11, 15, 

47, 50 

ED 21 Attract more recreation and tourism 

business to the city to invigorate its 

economic activity 

2, 8, 9, 10, 20, 

31, 32, 33, 34, 

35, 36, 37, 38, 

39, 48, 52, 53, 

55 

 42, 52, 53, 68, 

69 

ED, CD, XP 22 Establish the city as a “drive to” not 

“drive thru” city experience without 

compromising the overall integrity of 

the community 

3, 8, 9, 10, 18, 

19, 20, 31, 32, 

33, 34, 35, 36, 

39, 44, 48, 53, 

55, 76 

3, 4, 14, 21, 

22, 26, 27, 28, 

29, 31, 32, 38, 

43, 55, 56, 58, 

59, 60 

ED, LU 23 Establish a balance between jobs 

and housing to attract new 

employment and living 

opportunities. 

9, 10, 20, 40, 41, 

44, 49, 50, 51, 

52 

9, 50, 53, 54, 

55, 63 

ED 24 Take advantage of the city’s close 

proximity to Spokane International 

Airport, I-90/US-395 and US 2 for 

the promotion of light industrial 

development 

10, 20 51, 57, 68 

CD, ED 25 Manage the city’s overall image and 

enhance its overall appearance to 

convey pride and ownership in the 

community. 

1, 3, 8, 10, 12, 

18, 31, 32, 33, 

34, 35, 36, 40, 

41, 42, 44, 45, 

53, 55, 67 

10, 48, 49, 52, 

55, 58, 59, 60, 

69 

CD, NE 26 Incorporate natural areas into the 

community’s overall development 

scheme. 

1, 4, 18, 57, 58, 

59, 60, 61, 62, 

67, 70, 71, 72 

17, 28, 33, 43, 

61, 62, 63, 64, 

65, 66, 67 

60



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 20 

Element 

Reference 
Number Goal 

Policy 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

NE 27 Utilize the community’s existing and 

future natural open space in a 

manner that preserves the ecological 

process of the natural environment, 

as well as preserving the small-town 

character of the city. 

4, 57, 58, 59, 60, 

61, 62, 67, 70, 

71 

5, 17, 61, 62 

NE 28 Ensure no net loss of wetlands as a 

result of development activities. 

4, 26, 57, 58, 59, 

60, 61, 62, 67, 

69, 70 

17, 66, 67 

NE, LU 29 Limit development activities within 

critical areas or adjacent to resource 

lands to minimize impacts to the 

natural environment, as well as 

protect the public health, safety and 

general welfare of the community 

4, 26, 57, 58, 59, 

60, 61, 62, 67, 

69, 71 

3, 63, 65 

NE, LU, PR 30 Manage the shorelines of the city 

within the intent of the Washington 

State Shorelines management Act 

and the city’s Shoreline Master 

Program, and subsequently maintain 

compatibility between this 

comprehensive plan and the 

Shoreline Master Plan. 

4, 57, 58, 59, 60, 

61, 62, 67, 69 

63, 65, 66, 67 

61



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Policies 

Table 2.4 lists the policies that support the goals from above. The 

table outlines which plan elements, goals, and actions that the policies 

support. 

Table 2.4 Medical Lake Policies 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

LU, PR, PF, 

CD 

1 Encourage and facilitate acquisition and 

development of open space in new 

residential subdivisions and neighborhoods. 

11, 16, 25, 

26 

6, 7, 60, 65 

LU, XP, PR, 

PF, CD 

2 Develop trails to link neighborhoods, 

commercial and industrial uses, natural 

areas, and parks, negotiating trail 

connections in project design, and increasing 

public awareness of the trail, bike and 

sidewalk system. 

3, 4, 6, 7, 14, 

21 

1, 13, 14, 16, 

33, 38, 44 

LU, XP, ED, 

CD 

3 Maintain the “retail front” along SR-902 to 

encourage pedestrian travel. 

1, 4, 7, 22, 

25 

3, 4, 32, 60 

LU, CD, NE 4 Design new development in compliance with 

critical areas ordinance. 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

5, 61, 65 

LU, H 5 Allow accessory dwelling units 1, 2, 17, 19, 

20 

50 

LU 6 Locate commercial development convenient 

to residential areas 

1, 4, 6, 7, 20, 

23 

8, 9, 14, 15, 50 

LU, H, ED, 

CD 

7 Locate senior and special needs housing and 

other community buildings near services 

and/or the Central Business District 

1, 4, 8, 18, 

19, 20, 

9, 40, 41, 70 

LU, ED, CD 8 Encourage a clean and well-maintained 

central business district. 

1, 4, 21, 22, 

25 

10, 58 

LU, ED 9 Encourage a mixture of businesses. 1, 5, 18, 20, 

21, 22, 23 

8, 11, 50, 58, 

59 

LU, ED 10 Promote business relocation and/or new 

businesses starts. 

1, 2, 5, 18, 

21, 22, 23, 

24, 25 

4, 51, 55, 68 

XP, PR, PF 11 Make walking and bike riding an attractive 

transportation alternative. 

3, 4, 6, 7 1, 2, 14, 18, 

22, 46, 38 

XP, PF 12 Keep the transportation system safe for all 

users. 

3, 6, 7, 8, 

14, 25 

4, 21 

XP 13 Ensure adequate access for public safety 

vehicles and neighborhood evacuation. 

6, 7, 9, 10, 

13 

4, 21 

XP, CD 14 Upgrade the pedestrian environment along 

streets to increase sense of separation from 

traffic. 

3, 4, 6, 7, 14 1, 14, 18, 22, 

38 

62



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 22 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

XP, PF 15 Prioritize street network improvements 

ensuring the most important projects are 

completed first. 

3, 6, 7, 8, 15 19, 20, 21, 22, 

23, 28 

XP, PF, CD 16 Encourage efficient and appropriate use of 

rights of way. 

3, 4, 6, 7, 8, 

9, 10, 14  

1, 4, 13, 19, 

20, 22, 24, 25, 

27, 28, 29, 31, 

32, 56, 58 

XP 17 Work to increase bus service. 5, 6, 8, 9, 

10, 12, 14, 

19, 20 

26, 27 

XP, CD 18 Pursue beautification strategies in the 

community's transportation system, 

business districts, and neighborhoods. 

1, 3, 6, 14, 

15, 18, 22, 

25, 26 

4, 22, 28, 55, 

58, 59, 60 

XP 19 Implement creative and interesting traffic 

management techniques. 

4, 6, 7, 9, 22 4, 18, 19, 22, 

23, 26, 27, 30, 

31, 32, 35, 56 

PF, XP, PR 20 Find opportunities to cooperate with private 

development interests.  

1, 2, 5, 21, 

22, 23, 24 

46, 54, 67 

PF 21 Keep LOS standards appropriate and employ 

them in making land use decisions. 

6, 8, 9, 10, 

11, 12, 13 

30, 31 

LU, PF 22 Use land use decisions and other strategies 

to manage or reduce demand on public 

services and facilities. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 18 

18, 31, 34, 35 

LU, PF 23 Phase development to be compatible with 

availability of services and facilities. 

2, 9, 10, 11, 

12, 13, 18 

31, 34, 46 

LU, PF 24 Master plan utilities proposed to serve 

annexation areas. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13 

36 

LU, PF, PR 25 Supply adequate parkland and manage 

facilities to keep pace with changes in 

demand. 

14, 15, 16 33, 34, 37, 38, 

42, 43, 62 

LU, PF, PR 26 Require development impact fees and land 

dedication. 

2, 6, 9, 10, 

11, 12, 28, 

29 

33, 35 

PF 27 Pursue funding through other sources where 

possible 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 15 

2, 39, 51 

LU, PF 28 Coordinate with Spokane County and other 

county jurisdictions to ensure fair-share 

distribution of essential public facilities 

without necessarily precluding them from 

locating in Medical Lake. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 15 

44 

63



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

LU, PF 29 Coordinate with Spokane County and other 

county jurisdictions to ensure that impacts 

from essential public facilities to 

surrounding development are identified / 

mitigated. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 15 

44 

LU, PF 30 Coordinate with Spokane County and other 

county jurisdictions to ensure that impacts 

from essential public facilities to local 

budgets, services and facilities are identified 

and mitigated. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13, 15 

44 

PR 31 Ensure park and recreation facilities are 

easily visible and can be found with minimal 

effort 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 21, 

22, 25 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

PR 32 Enhance all city parks recreational 

programs. 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 21, 

22, 25 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

PR, PF 33 Encourage revenue-producing parks and 

recreation development opportunities. 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 21, 

22, 25 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

PR, PF 34 Leverage funding of park and recreational 

improvements. 

3, 11, 12, 14, 

15, 16, 18, 

21, 22, 25 

2 

PR 35 Encourage and support recreational 

activities catered to senior citizens, retirees, 

families, teens and youth populations. 

3, 11, 12, 14, 

15, 16, 18, 

20, 21, 22, 

25 

7, 16, 46, 38, 

41, 42, 43, 44, 

45, 46, 52 

PR 36 Monitor community parks and recreation 

needs. 

3, 11, 12, 14, 

15, 16, 18, 

20, 21, 22, 

25 

34, 65 

PR 37 Increase public awareness of the 

recreational opportunities available in the 

City of Medical Lake. 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16, 21 

16, 46, 42 

PR 38 Coordinate with all other recreation 

providers in the region to provide a full 

spectrum of parks and recreation 

opportunities. 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16, 21 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

PR, LU 39 Encourage private entities offering 

specialized recreational opportunities 

2, 3, 11, 14, 

15, 16, 21, 

22 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

H, LU, CD 40 Encourage single-family home ownership for 

low- and moderate-income households. 

17, 18, 19, 

23, 25 

9, 15, 47, 70 

H, LU, CD 41 Promote Medical Lake as a single-family 

town offering less expensive housing in a 

small-town setting. 

17, 18, 19, 

23, 25 

9, 15, 47, 70 

64



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 24 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

H, LU, CD 42 Review development proposals for impact to 

surrounding neighborhoods 

3, 13, 18, 25 33, 35 

H, LU, CD 43 Strengthen linkages within and between 

neighborhoods 

3, 6, 8, 14, 

16 

14 

H 44 Encourage long-term residency 5, 17, 18, 22, 

23, 25 

7, 9, 47, 50, 54 

LU, PR, XP, 

PF, H 

45 Encourage citizen participation in civic 

activities and community planning efforts. 

13, 25 34, 46, 48, 49, 

52, 69 

H, LU, CD 46 Encourage flexibility in residential housing 

types and project design, including 

manufactured homes and affordable housing 

1, 2, 19 6, 9, 15, 47, 

50, 54, 70 

ED, PR, CD 47 Promote the city’s recreational, historical 

and cultural resources including parks, 

trails, lakes and downtown. 

3, 11, 14, 15, 

16 

14, 33, 34, 37, 

38, 42, 43, 62 

ED, LU, PR 48 Offer specialty retail establishments and 

recreational opportunities. 

2, 3, 11, 14, 

15, 16, 21, 

22 

10, 12, 42, 51, 

52, 53, 54, 55, 

56, 57, 68, 69 

ED 49 Encourage jobs and housing in the 

downtown and encourage existing 

businesses to hire locally 

1, 4, 5, 18, 

19, 20, 23 

3, 4, 10, 54, 

55, 56 

ED, LU, CD 50 Encourage a mix of retail, office, civic, 

cultural, social and residential uses in the 

downtown. 

1, 4, 5, 18, 

19, 20, 23 

3, 4, 8, 10, 11, 

50, 54, 55, 56, 

58, 59 

ED 51 Maintain and enhance natural resource 

based, value added industries. 

5, 23, 29 42, 51, 53, 57, 

68 

ED 52 Establish an employment base for the city 

citizens and young people entering the 

workplace. 

5, 20, 21, 23 12, 48, 49, 51, 

53, 68, 69 

CD 53 Support community events 11, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 20, 

21, 22, 25 

46, 52, 69 

CD, PF, LU 54 Establish residential neighborhoods as safe, 

clean and healthy places to live. 

3, 13, 18 58 

CD, LU, PF 55 Encourage appropriate development at 

community gateways and support 

community efforts to design, install and 

maintain entry markers. 

1, 4, 21, 22, 

25 

4, 14, 29, 32, 

37, 55, 58, 59 

CD, XP, PR, 

PF 

56 Make trails accessible to all residents and 

businesses to encourage physical activity. 

3, 6, 7, 14 1, 13, 14, 16, 

33, 38, 44 

CD, LU, PF 57 Use natural areas to preserve habitat and to 

maintain function of ecologically sensitive 

areas 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

5, 17, 61, 62, 

63, 64, 65, 66, 

67 

65



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

NE, PR 58 Increase public awareness of the city’s open 

space system 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

60, 65 

NE, XP, PR 59 Encourage corridor development for 

pedestrian and wildlife routes 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

14, 18, 22 

NE 60 Restore damaged wetlands within the city 26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

43, 66, 67 

NE 61 Maintain the quantity and quality of 

wetlands, riparian areas and critical areas 

within the jurisdiction, adopting storm water 

and critical areas ordinances as appropriate. 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

43, 66, 67 

NE 62 Prevent erosion, landslide and earthquake 

damage to decrease potential harm to 

natural systems, to personal property and to 

life. 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

5, 17 

PF 63 To establish alternative funding methods for 

project implementation rather than 

continued reliance on the city’s current 

expense fund. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13 

2, 30, 39 

PF 64 Make capital budget decisions in 

conformance with the adopted comp plan. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13 

2, 30, 39 

PF 65 Ensure land use element is consistent with 

available funding and reassess the land use 

element if funding falls short. 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

13 

30, 35, 59 

PF 66 Ensure local transportation network attains 

minimum LOS standards by either 

identifying specific strategies to manage 

demand, increasing local transportation 

capacity in impacted areas, or reassessing 

applicability of applied LOS standard in 

impacted areas. 

4, 6, 7, 8, 9, 

20 

30, 31 

PF 67 Ensure that proposed regulatory or 

administrative actions do not result in an 

unconstitutional taking of private property 

2, 18, 25, 26, 

27, 28, 29, 

30 

6, 11, 63, 65 

NE 68 Align and enforce goals, policies, best 

available science and best practice with the 

City of Medical Lake Shoreline Master 

Program manual and Shoreline Master 

Program 

26, 27, 28, 

29, 30 

6 

NE, LU 69 Limit development in or adjacent to fish and 

wildlife habitat areas that diminishes 

indicator species 

26, 29, 30 17, 61, 65, 66, 

67 

NE 70 Develop guidelines for critical areas and 

natural lands that minimize species and 

habitat fragmentation due to development 

26, 30 5, 17, 61, 63, 65 

NE, LU 71 Avoid building on slopes greater than 40% 

because of high risk or life or property 

26, 29 5, 17, 61, 62, 63 

66



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 26 

Element 

Reference 
Number Policy 

Goal 

Reference 

Implementing 

Action 

PF, NE 72 Continue to coordinate with the Medical Lake 

School District for shared natural areas 

26 45, 64 

ED, PR 73 Sponsor Founder’s Day and other community 

events such as the Fishermen Breakfast and 

the Bluegrass Festival 

4, 16, 21, 25 41, 42, 52 

PR, PF 74 Fund improvements and maintenance of 

public facilities including parks and trail 

systems through event sponsorship and 

grant applications. 

3, 9, 10, 11, 

15 

13, 38, 39, 44, 

45, 46 

PR, PF 75 Promote exercise programs and special 

events by providing exercise stations, hosting 

bike races, marathons, and triathlons. 

3, 10, 11, 16 16, 34, 38, 41, 

42, 44, 45, 52 

XP, H 76 Require new subdivisions to have sidewalks 

on both sides of the street. 

3, 6, 7, 18, 20 1, 18, 20, 21, 

22, 23, 38 

67



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Actions 

The actions listed in Table 2.5 are intended to be budget-able tasks, 

suited for inclusion in annual work programs, budget requests, and 

meeting agendas. The table indicates the policies and goals these 

action items support, illustrating how each individual initiative here 

works toward fulfilling the plan’s higher vision. 

Table 2.5 Medical Lake Implementing Actions 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

XP, PR 1 Revise public works standards to regularly 

inventory and ensure the safety and 

adequacy of the trails network. 

3, 11, 15 2, 11, 14, 16, 

56 

XP 2 Investigate ways to fund the writing of a 

bike way master plan. 

3 11, 27, 34, 

63, 64 

LU, CD 3 Amend zoning to require “build-to” or zero 

setback placement of buildings in the 

central business district 

1, 2, 22, 29 3, 49, 50, 

XP, CD 4 Develop design and safety standards along 

SR-902 and Brooks Road, even in areas 

outside the central business district, by 

using landscaping, walls, and lighting to 

enhance the appearance and reduce traffic 

speed. 

6, 7, 22 3, 10, 12, 13, 

16, 18, 19, 

49, 50, 55 

NE 5 Update critical areas ordinances as 

appropriate and keep track of “best 

available science”   

27 4, 57, 62, 68 

LU, H 6 Require land dedication or payment in-lieu 

fees in all subdivisions and multi-family 

residential projects 

2, 18, 19, 20 1, 46, 67 

H, PR 7 Permit community gardens on residential 

vacant lots 

11, 18, 20 1, 35, 44 

LU 8 Revise zoning to allow variety in 

commercial development by allowing 

commercial development on smaller 

parcels and encouraging entrepreneurial 

home occupations, while ensuring 

compatibility with surrounding residential 

uses. 

1, 18 6, 9, 50 

LU, H 9 Revise zoning regulations to accommodate 

special needs housing and senior housing 

near commercial and institutional land 

uses. 

1, 19, 20, 23 6, 7, 44, 46 

ED 10 Establish a central business district 

cleanliness program 

4, 25 8, 48, 49, 50 

68



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 28 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

LU 11 Revise development regulations to allow a 

wide variety of uses 

1, 2, 20 9, 50, 67 

ED 12 Develop an incubation center with support 

resources for local start-ups and nonprofits 

and establish an incentive program to 

attract these enterprises. 

5 10, 48, 51, 52 

XP, PR 13 Develop a comprehensive trails master 

plan that reflects the community's vision 

for the future of the trail system. 

3, 6, 11 2, 16, 56 

XP 14 Develop a trails wayfinding program that 

identifies access points which connect 

pedestrian corridors, commercial areas, 

and institutional land uses. 

3, 6, 14, 22 2, 6, 11, 14, 

31, 32, 33, 

38, 39, 43, 

47, 55, 56, 59 

LU, H 15 Revise development regulations to require 

pre-development meetings for 

subdivisions, detached housing and 

commercial development 

17, 18, 19, 20 6, 46 

XP, PR 16 Promote a “trails awareness week” or other 

programs to advertise the extent and 

quality of the community’s trails. 

3, 14, 16 2, 35, 37, 56 

PF, NE 17 Inventory safety hazards & prioritize their 

abatement 

9, 26, 27, 28 57, 62 

XP 18 Identify ways to make pedestrian and 

public transport systems more compatible 

by creating Transportation Demand 

Management (TDM) 

3, 6 11, 14, 19, 

22, 59 

XP 19 Enforce on-street parking regulations, 

especially where snow removal or narrow 

lane widths restrict vehicle movement 

6 15, 16, 19 

LU, XP 20 Revise standards to discourage cul-de-sac 

street layouts 

6, 14 15, 16 

XP 21 Conduct routine safety assessments for all 

city streets, including public opinion about 

which streets are viewed as safe or 

dangerous. 

6, 7, 22 12, 13, 15 

XP, CD 22 Revise street standards to provide for 

narrower curb-to-curb pedestrian crossing 

distances on arterials 

3, 6, 7, 14, 22 11, 14, 15, 

16, 18, 19, 59 

XP 23 Maintain a 6-year street improvement 

program (TIP) and apply criteria to rank 

importance of individual projects. 

6 15, 19 

XP 24 Investigate prohibiting studded snow tires 6 16 

XP 25 Create a crack sealing program 6 16 

69



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

XP 26 Study feasibility of, identify a site for, and 

develop a park and ride facility for public 

transit. 

6, 8, 22 17, 19 

XP 27 Improve access to the public transit 

system by enhancing and maintaining the 

appearance and safety of bus stops. 

6, 7, 8, 14, 22 16, 17, 19 

XP, CD 28 Develop and adopt a street tree plan that 

includes suggested tree types and planting 

specifications 

22, 26 15, 16, 18 

XP 29 Develop a program that inventories 

roadside signs to ensure effectiveness, 

consistency, and compatibility. 

22 16, 55 

XP, PF 30 Review level of service standards as part of 

the annual budgeting process, ensuring 

that impacts from development are 

mitigated sufficiently to maintain the 

adopted levels of service. 

3, 6, 9, 12 19, 21, 63, 

64, 65, 66 

XP, PF 31 Develop a concurrency ordinance and 

maintain a map of public facilities to 

ensure facilities are in place to serve the 

forecast demand and proposed 

development at the appropriate levels of 

service. 

6, 9, 13, 22 16, 19, 21, 

22, 23, 66 

XP 32 Assess transportation network design for 

its ability to defer capacity-based 

improvements to SR-902 and Brooks Road 

by offering alternative routing or by 

encouraging use of alternative modes 

3, 6, 14, 22 3, 16, 19, 55 

LU, PR, CD 33 Revise zoning and subdivision regulations 

to require trail connections in residential 

subdivisions and encourage development 

of parks and/or trails in lieu of assessing 

impact fees. 

1, 2, 3, 15, 18, 

26 

2, 25, 26, 31, 

32, 33, 38, 

39, 42, 47, 56 

PR 34 Conduct periodic surveys of residents and 

field visits to assess park facility conditions 

and ensure they meet demand 

15 22, 23, 25, 

31, 32, 33, 

36, 38, 39, 

45, 47 

PF, XP 35 Periodically review impact fees to ensure 

new development pays for the demand 

that it generates 

6, 9, 12, 14 19, 22, 26, 

42, 65 

PF 36 Study utility rates and revise as necessary 

to ensure community members are paying 

their fair share of utility costs 

9, 12 24 

PR 37 Standardize signage and other visual 

components typical in parks and recreation 

development 

11, 15 25, 31, 32, 

33, 38, 39, 

47, 55 

70



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 30 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

PR, XP 38 Develop enhancement and maintenance 

plans for all parks and recreation, including 

the trails, bicycle, and pedestrian 

networks. 

3, 6, 7, 11, 15, 

22 

2, 11, 14, 25, 

31, 32, 33, 

35, 38, 39, 

47, 56 

PR, PF 39 Target grants that require no more than 

50% local match 

9, 10, 11, 12, 

15 

27, 63, 64 

PF 40 Conduct a study to determine the specific 

needs and desires of the community, 

especially those of more vulnerable 

populations such as teens, seniors, and the 

homeless population. 

3, 13 7 

PR 41 Develop separate recreation programs and 

activities targeted toward young people, 

families, and senior citizens. 

11, 16 7, 35 

PR, ED 42 Publicize and advertise the city’s parks and 

recreational opportunities within the 

community and throughout the entire 

region 

4, 11, 16, 21 25, 31, 32, 

33, 35, 37, 

38, 39, 47, 

48, 51 

PR, CD 43 Develop conceptual design plans for each 

of the city’s parks and for the city's natural 

areas such as wetlands. 

11, 15, 22, 26 25, 31, 32, 

33, 35, 38, 

39, 47, 60, 61 

PR 44 Coordinate with Spokane County and the 

surrounding communities to maximize 

regional recreational opportunities. 

15 2, 28, 29, 30, 

35, 56 

PR 45 Continue to coordinate with the Medical 

Lake School District, church groups and 

community groups to further recreational 

opportunities in the community 

11, 16 35 

PR 46 Establish public-private partnerships to 

provide public facilities and expand 

recreational opportunities in the city 

11, 15 20, 23, 35 

LU, H 47 Update residential development guidelines 

to permit small-lot single-family housing 

that is compatible with surroundings 

1, 2, 17, 18, 

19, 20 

44, 46 

PF 48 Publicize vacancies for local commissions 

and widely advertise for City Council 

candidacy 

5, 25 45, 52 

PF 49 Develop an annual citizen recognition 

program for outstanding civic service 

25 45, 52 

LU, H 50 Revise zoning and subdivision standards as 

necessary to encourage a variety of 

housing options including residential 

located above street-level commercial, 

accessory dwelling units, and cluster 

housing. 

1, 2, 18, 19, 

20, 23 

5, 6, 9, 44, 

46, 50 

71



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

ED 51 Create a web page with information and 

assistance for starting a business and 

research avenues for loans and grants to 

promote new business development. 

4, 5, 24 10, 27, 48, 

51, 52 

ED, PR 52 Establish a series of summer community 

events including free concerts featuring 

local talent and a farmer's market that 

focuses on local merchants and crafts. 

4, 16, 21, 25 35, 45, 48, 53 

ED 53 Develop incentives for employers to hire 

local workers. 

4, 5, 21, 23 48, 51, 52 

ED, H 54 Look for partnerships to build unique 

housing opportunities downtown 

2, 4, 19, 23 20, 44, 46, 

48, 49, 50 

ED, CD 55 Create design guidelines for the downtown 

business district and sponsor community 

competition for signage design. 

1, 4, 19, 22, 

23, 25 

10, 18, 48, 

49, 50, 55 

ED, XP 56 Amend the city parking standards to allow 

for flexibility in the parking requirement, 

ensuring efficient use of space for the 

Central Business District 

4, 6, 19, 22 16, 19, 49, 50 

ED 57 Study industrial lands and needs for the 

Spokane West Plains in relation to Medical 

Lake 

2, 5, 24 48, 51 

PF, CD, XP 58 Develop maintenance and design 

standards to ensure that neighborhood 

centers maintain intimate scale, provide 

for a variety of uses, and minimize reliance 

on automobiles for transportation 

1, 3, 6, 7, 14, 

19, 22, 25 

8, 9, 16, 18, 

50, 54, 55 

CD 59 Establish a design assistance program to 

involve staff in early stages of project 

design and include an advisory design 

review process for new large-scale 

residential and mixed-use projects. 

1, 14, 19, 22, 

25 

9, 18, 50, 55, 

65 

CD 60 Establish a public art program to beautify 

city entry points and enhance welcome 

signs with consistent branding and design. 

1, 14, 22, 25 1, 3, 18, 58 

NE 61 Acquire land in or near critical areas for 

conservation 

26, 27 4, 57 

NE, PR 62 Study the possibility of incorporating 

natural areas as part of the city’s parks 

system 

11, 15, 16, 26, 

27 

25, 31, 32, 

33, 38, 39, 

47, 57 

NE, LU 63 Revise development regulations to allow 

clustering and the transfer of development 

rights 

1, 2, 17, 23, 

26, 29, 30 

57, 67 

72



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 32 

Element 

Reference 
Number Implementing Action 

Goal 

Reference 

Policy 

Reference 

NE, PR 64 Develop and incorporate environmental 

education into recreational programs 

16, 26 57 

LU, NE, PR 65 Re-evaluate land use regulations to include 

provisions for setting aside natural areas, 

open space and critical areas 

1, 2, 11, 15, 

16, 26, 29, 30 

1, 4, 36, 57, 

58, 67 

NE 66 Inventory and develop a list of needs for 

wetlands 

26, 28, 30 57, 60, 61 

NE 67 Identify and create a work plan for wetland 

restoration on city owned lands and 

identify privately owned wetlands 

26, 28, 30 20, 57, 60, 61 

ED 68 Develop a business resource guide with an 

inventory and map of existing businesses 

4, 5, 21, 24 10, 48, 51, 52 

ED 69 Develop a Program of Events in the center 

of town 

4, 21, 25 45, 48, 52, 53 

H 70 Identify ways to increase awareness of 

vulnerable populations including homeless 

families and school kids and develop 

programs that provide assistance to them. 

19, 20, 23, 25 7, 46 

73



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 3 Land Use 

Purpose and Intent 

The Land Use Chapter of the Comprehensive Plan is central to the 

entire planning process. The land use patterns are what determine the 

character of the community and dictate the types and locations of 

future development. This element of the plan determines the traffic 

patterns and the ability or inability to effectively alter those patterns 

over time. It can be sensitive or insensitive to the natural and physical 

characteristics existing within the community and, overall, it is the 

primary element that will determine the quality of life for the citizens 

of Medical Lake. This chapter presents the preferred land use 

alternative as selected by the city. 

Existing Land Use 

The city’s corporate boundary encompasses approximately 3.6 square 

miles or 2,303.5 acres. The community’s top three biggest uses of land 

are: community institutional (state land) at 1,184.4 acres (51%), 

residential at 372.4 acres (16%) and vacant land at 305.9 acres 

(13%). These three uses consume approximately 80% of the available 

land. There is little acreage used for commercial, industrial, or open 

space. 

Table 3.1 City of Medical Lake Land Use 

City of Medical Lake Land Use 

Acres Percent 

Residential 372.4 16.3 

Commercial 11.3 0.5 

Community 

Institutional 

1184.4 51.4 

Vacant 305.9 13.3 

Lakes 130.7 5.7 

The use of land within the corporate boundary of Medical Lake is 

shown in Figure 3.1. 

74



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 34 

Figure 3.1 Medical Lake Land Use Map 

75



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Existing Zoning 

Zoning is important because it establishes where development can 

occur, and for residential land, at what density.  The city currently has 

nine zoning districts. Figure 3.2. shows the distribution of zoned land 

in the city. 

Residential Zones 

Single-family Residential (R-1) – Provides for single-family residential 

development having a minimum lot size of 6,000 sq. ft. and a density 

of 7.3 du/ac.  The R-1 zone intends to stabilize and preserve the 

single-family residential neighborhoods. 

Single-family Planned Residential (R-1P) – Provides for single-family 

residential development having a minimum lot size of 6,000 sq. ft. and 

a density of 7.3 du/ac. The R-1P zone intends to stabilize and preserve 

single-family residential neighborhoods by encouraging single-family 

planned unit developments five acres or larger in size and processed in 

accordance with Chapter 17.34 of the city’s zoning ordinance entitled 

‘Planned Unit Development’. 

Two-family/Duplex Residential (R-2) – Provides for single- and two-

family residential development having a minimum lot size of 9,500 sq. 

ft. and a density of 9.2 du/ac. The R-2 zone encourages two dwellings 

per lot. 

Multi-family Residential (R-3) – Provides for multi-family development 

having a minimum lot size of 11,000 sq. ft. for two units and 2,000 sq. 

ft. for each additional unit. The maximum allowable density is 18.3 

du/ac. 

Commercial Zones 

Commercial Zone (C-1) – Provides a place and creates an environment 

which encourages the location of varied retail, office, residential, civic 

and recreation activities which benefits and contributes to the overall 

economic vitality of the community. 

Mixed Use Zone (MC-1) – Provides area(s) where a mixture of 

compatible commercial, offices, hotel, theaters, multi-family 

residential, civic and recreational activities which benefits and 

contributes to the overall economic vitality of the community. It 

further intends to ensure that adequate open-space and development 

regulations will create a favorable environment for abutting uses as 

well as ensuring the compatibility and harmonious existence of 

development within mixed use zoned property. 

76



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 36 

Industrial Zone 

Light Industrial (L-1) – Provides light industrial uses, such as, but not 

limited to, metal-working, warehousing and storage, furniture and 

cabinetry finishing and selling and servicing of farm equipment while 

ensuring such uses are compatible with the character of the 

community. 

Institutional Zone 

Institutional District (I) – Provides for governmental uses, primarily 

those on state-owned land and for schools and public-owned facilities, 

including but not limited to, streets and sidewalks, domestic water 

systems, storm and sanitary sewer systems. 

Open Space Lands 

Parks and Open Space Zoning – Provides for the protection of open 

space, natural physical features and scenic resources while protecting 

and encouraging community recreational facilities. 

Existing land use and zoning differences are isolated and are mostly 

found in the community’s core where intensified land uses are 

expected. 

77



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 3.2 Medical Lake Zoning Map 

78



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 38 

Land Use Demand and Forecast 

As communities develop their vision for the future, they make 

decisions about how much land they will need for population growth 

over a 20-year period. The GMA encourages communities to direct 

population growth into urban areas. The Urban Growth Area (UGA) is 

one of the major tools provided by the GMA for deciding where urban 

development should be encouraged and where the limits to that 

development should end. UGA’s are areas where growth and higher 

densities are expected and supported by urban services. Counties, in 

consultation with cities, assign expected 20-year population growth 

figures to cities. These population growth figures are the basis for 

determining the amount of acreage needed to be included in the UGA. 

The city’s corporate boundary encompasses approximately 3.6 square 

miles including approximately 51% state property. In 1997 the UGA 

covered approximately 279 acres, 52 acres in the southwest adjacent 

to state property and 227 acres to the north adjacent to the rapidly 

developing Fox Hollow Subdivision. The city’s 2005 UGA encompasses 

approximately another 169 acres to the north. The city’s total current 

planning area including the UGA covers approximately four square 

miles. Figure 3.3 shows the current UGA. 

Medical Lake is projected to have a population increase of about 1,052 

residents by the year 2037. This increase in residents translates to 

increased demands on land and facilities. Because of the need to 

facilitate growth the city will encourage intensification of its core area, 

preservation and conservation of ecologically sensitive areas, and a 

paced expansion into its UGA. The increase in population will increase 

demands on schools, parks, open space, and public services. Although 

there will be increases in land demand, the planning commission has 

expressed its desire to retain Medical Lake’s character and to project 

that character into future growth areas. The existing corporate 

boundary of the city of Medical lake and its associated expansion areas 

to the north and southwest comprises its urban growth area as 

approved by the County Commissioners in 1997. In order to ensure 

that all the cities and towns in Spokane County were consistent in their 

planning, the Steering Committee of Elected Officials adopted a Land 

Quantity Methodology for establishing UGA’s. The steps for creating 

the land quantity analysis looked at points that included land supply, 

growth and development, land need, and some intangible factors such 

as critical areas, unavailable land, partially used land, and public land. 

79



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 3.3 Medical Lake Corporate Boundary and Current UGA 

80



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 40 

Urban Growth Area Expansion 

After performing a new land quantity analysis, it was quite clear that 

amending the 1997 UGA to include more land was needed to provide 

for the projected growth. The proposed UGA includes land that 

modifies the eastern and northern boundaries to allow for a connection 

to Brooks Road beyond the railroad tracks and east to Graham Road.  

The growth areas to the east will accommodate the expected growth 

and will allow for the provision of public services to the east of the 

rapid developing neighborhoods in the Fox Ridge Subdivision. The 

expanded UGA in Figure 3.4 shows this growth in three phases, which 

will allow the city to grow to areas confined to the north and east while 

conserving ecologically sensitive and other constrained land south of 

the city’s current corporate boundary. 

81



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 3.4 Proposed Urban Growth Area 

82



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 42 

Urban Form Factors 

Several methods are used to figure out how communities should 

manage change. Some consider growth rates, while others consider 

expansion and land consumption. Medical Lake chose to consider 

“urban form factors,” examining elements that have shaped the 

community and attempting to maintain them as the community grows. 

Maintaining and building upon the urban form factors such as linkages, 

walkability and institutions will ensure that the Medical Lake of the 

future is similar to the Medical Lake of today. The preferred land use 

plan incorporates these future growth patterns, establishing a system 

of land uses that reinforces linkages, institutions and pedestrian 

access. 

Current Land Use Patterns 

Current land use patterns reflect a common method of small-town 

growth. The core evolved into a finely grained urban center featuring 

small-lot commercial development and a nearby mix of residential 

types and densities. Land nearer the community’s edge developed into 

a more homogenous, single-family residential land use pattern. The 

community’s existing zoning pattern is designed to continue this type 

of development, assigning single-family zoning to the undeveloped 

land adjacent to city limits and encouraging an overall decreasing 

density as development moves away from the core. 

The planning commission considered this pattern of growth and 

believes that land use designations at the edge of town should be 

changed to match the more mixed-character development patterns 

that are seen near the city core. This pattern, which encourages 

walkability and local business development, is what makes Medical 

Lake uniquely successful. The commission recommends no changes for 

land uses in the core and along State Route 902. 

Linkages 

Medical lake is a well-connected community with regional roadway 

linkages to the north, east, and south, with a dense grid of local 

streets and a system of trails for non-automotive users. 

Medical Lake’s trail system is emerging as a unifying community 

element; with land uses developing to take advantage of trail access. 

The trail system is one of the region’s best, featuring an extensive 

network for both bicycles and pedestrians. Coney Island Park, 

Waterfront Park, and the Fox Hollow subdivisions have designs that 

emphasize connections to the trail system and welcome trail access.  

Medical Lake is served by a system of roads addressing local and 

regional transportation needs. The road system integrates local access, 

83



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

collector and arterial streets. Lefevre Street, a section of State Route 

902 running north-south through the central business district, as well 

as Brooks Road and Lake Street, link the city to Interstate 90 and 

serve as the primary regional arterials. 

Walkability 

If Medical Lake desires a walkable community, it must provide for 

commercial uses located within five-minutes of residential 

neighborhoods. The existing developed areas, with the exception of 

eastern entries, provide for safe, accessible, attractive walking 

environments. The eastern areas create poor walking environments, 

mostly because commercial uses that would serve the residential areas 

are too distant from where residents live for easy access. The Planning 

Commission can use this five-minute guideline to assist with its 

allocation of additional commercial or industrial property to serve 

outlying areas of the city as they develop north of SR-902. 

Institutions 

Medical Lake institutions including the schools, parks, 

churches and community center are spread across the 

community’s central area. Eastern State Hospital, 

occupying the entire western quarter of the city, is an 

exception. This pattern of distributed institutional uses 

enhances the community’s reliance on trails and adds to 

the mixed-use character of the core. Churches serve local 

congregations and parks serve immediate neighborhoods. 

Children are able to walk to school. The planning 

commission identified the convenient dispersion of 

institutional uses as a desirable feature, seeking to 

continue encouraging this type of institutional dispersion 

into development of new areas. A requirement that new 

development in outlying areas provide land for schools, 

parks and other publicly oriented uses is needed to gain 

the desired patterns of development. 

Opportunity Areas   

The opportunity areas fall under three categories: commercial areas, 

institutional areas and growth areas (UGA). 

Commercial Areas – The commercial areas include the two major 

nodes for retail development in Medical Lake. The existing central 

business district provides opportunities in that there are existing 

vacant parcels ready to accommodate infill development. As the city’s 

population increases the central core will be able to offer a mix of 

housing alternatives in close proximity to retail uses to meet changing 

housing demand. The other commercial opportunity area lies north 

Image 3.1 Entrance to Eastern State Hospital

84



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 44 

and east of SR-902/Lefevre Street intersection. This area, planned for 

mixed-use development, will present opportunities for mixed retail and 

residential land uses. This area is within sight distance of the 

downtown core and has the potential to serve as a solid visual anchor 

to establish Lefevre Street as a principal community boulevard. 

Institutional Areas – The State’s hospital complex is a large 

institutional opportunity area to the west of the downtown core. This 

site developed an extensive trails network that can be accessed by 

expanding the city’s trail network. The treatment and residential 

facilities provide more than one-hundred jobs and a convenient, 

enjoyable linkage to the institutional complex, can serve to boost the 

community’s pedestrian activity, encourage interaction between town 

residents and facility staffers and increase access to Medical Lake’s 

western shoreline. 

Growth Areas – The growth areas present some of the community’s 

most challenging opportunities. These areas should be developed in a 

manner which maintains Medical Lake’s present urban character. Since 

the growth areas are north of the city’s current corporate boundary, 

where in some places the elevation rises 250 feet (Olsen Hill), the 

traditional low-density R-1 zoning seems appropriate. This area also 

borders the 65 (dB) Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL) noise 

contour of Fairchild Air Force Base giving credence to low density 

housing. 

Preferred Alternative 

The preferred land use alternative suggests variety in the north and 

south, more intensity in all commercial areas and a foundation of 

pedestrian access. The city will also seek to integrate the State’s 

property to the west into its comprehensive trail system. This 

alternative also establishes a system of overlay zones. Overlay zones 

build on the underlying zoning, by establishing additional or stricter 

standards and criteria. These standards apply in addition to those of 

the underlying zone. Overlay zoning can be an effective tool for 

communities to use in protecting specific resources. 

This preferred land use alternative includes land use designations 

consisting of residential, mixed use, commercial, public and industrial 

lands, and incorporates an air base noise overlay and a central 

business district overlay. 

Single-Family Residential (SFR) – The SFR land use designation is 

intended to provide for the development of housing at approximately 

four to seven (7) dwelling units per gross acre. This density range 

anticipates development of homes on individual lots or the 

development of duplexes or detached second units under certain 

conditions. This designation is applied to areas already developed into 

single-family neighborhoods and to areas expected to develop in 

85



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

lower-density residential patterns. In some areas (where slopes 

exceed 7%), the city may apply a hillside version of this designation, 

indicating that topographical constraints may reduce the achievable 

density. 

Multi-Family Residential (MFR) - This land use designation 

accommodates the construction of townhouses, condominiums and 

other detached housing, providing a target density of four (4) to 

fifteen (15) units per acre. Included in this designation are areas 

already used for apartments or other detached housing and those 

areas expected to have multi-family developments occur. 

Mixed-Use (MU) – The mixed-use designation applies to land most 

suitable for development as a combination of commercial and 

residential uses. Such combinations can be found in or near the central 

business district and at the intersection of SR-902 and Lefevre Street. 

The allowable uses within this district would be neighborhood 

commercial, service commercial and multi-family residential catering 

to compatible vertical (where apartments are located above a retail 

use) or horizontal (where condominiums occupy a portion of a parcel 

that also hosts a retail use) mixing. 

Commercial (C) – The commercial land use designation applies to all 

land suitable for commercial development, including the central 

business district and those areas along SR-902 capable of supporting 

retail, services or office projects.  Uses in this designation include the 

community retail, service or office uses typically found in smaller 

towns. 

Public/Institutional (PI) – Public and institutional uses, including 

hospitals, treatment centers, city offices, schools, parks and churched 

populate this land use designation. This designation is applied to 

parcels of land now owned by public or private institutions. 

Industrial (I) – The industrial designation is intended to provide for the 

creation of local jobs in a manner consistent with the character of the 

community. The types of uses permitted in this district would be light 

industrial in nature, providing employment in a non-polluting manner 

and minimizing traffic, noise, air quality and light impacts on nearby 

properties and the local circulation system. 

Overlay Districts 

The GMA requires that local governments encourage flexible and 

innovative land use techniques to accommodate growth in suitable 

areas, while protecting the environment, and to protect rural resources 

and sensitive areas. Flexible and innovative techniques alter some of 

the short comings of traditional zoning. Traditional zoning can also 

discourage creative site design. Traditional zoning places priority on 

the separation of land uses, making it difficult to create mixed use 

86



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 46 

neighborhoods. An overlay is a zone that is placed on a zoning map 

over traditional zoning districts. Lands affected by an overlay zone are 

subject to the rules of the underlying zone, as well as the rules of the 

overlay zone. Overlay zoning can be applied to a wide array of public 

interests, particularly, overlays can play an important role in the 

protection of environmentally sensitive areas, natural areas, critical 

areas, historic districts, viewshed protection and shorelines to name a 

few. 

Central Business District Overlay (CBD)

This overlay district draws special attention to projects proposed within 

the community’s central business district. A zoning overlay applied to 

this area calls for buildings to be constructed at the street line, 

reducing parking standards, allowing the mixing of residential and 

commercial uses, applying special design requirements for facades, 

encouraging two or three-story construction and providing sign 

standards crafted to enhance the CBD’s intimate scale. Prospects are 

generally modest for the retailing community in Medical Lake. The 

overlay zone should foster change through design, private sector 

recruitment and aesthetics. In general, a comprehensive plan is 

intended to provide a broad policy direction which is then implemented 

through more specific development regulations and capital expenditure 

programs. Comprehensive plans do not, however, typically address the 

more immediate needs and concerns of individual neighborhoods or 

distinct areas of the community. In order to address issues of a 

specific area of the city a sub-area plan is often adopted. The purpose 

of a sub-area plan is to set specific goals and policies which provide 

direction to the city as to what policies should be adopted for a 

particular area of the city, in this case the Central Business District. 

Retail activity often serves as an indicator of community vigor and 

wellbeing. A vibrant and attractive retail community will assist in 

attracting and retaining major employers. Also, local retailing of 

sufficient quantity and demand will successfully attract and keep 

residents from venturing outside the community thus reducing the 

amount of retail leakage the city often finds itself in because of the 

surrounding and easily assessable commercial centers. 

Air Base Noise Overlay (ABN)

As Medical Lake grows to the north, it will encroach into areas within 

the 65 (dB) Day-Night Average Sound Level (DNL) noise contour of 

Fairchild AFB as seen in Figure 3.5. This overlay district identifies areas 

within this contour line and suggests the creation of a zoning overlay 

to implement design standards mitigating noise impacts. The 

standards may include the requirement to install double-paned 

windows and self-closing doors in residential projects, the recording of 

“aviation” easements as part of subdivisions to notify potential 

purchasers of the Air Force Base’s “right-to-fly” or other standards to 

achieve compatibility and reinforce continued air operations. 

87



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 3.5 Air Base Noise Overlay Zone 

88



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 48 

Chapter 4 Transportation 

Purpose and Intent 

This chapter addresses both the motorized and non-motorized 

transportation needs of the city and represents the policy directing 

current and future transportation needs. It also identifies conditions of 

the existing traffic circulation system, as well as street classifications, 

design standards, level-of-service (LOS) standards and discusses and 

identifies the transportation issues and problems facing the city now 

and in the future. 

The relationship between transportation and land use is one of 

continuous interaction. Availability of transportation facilities and 

resources are major factors in determining land use development 

patterns. Similarly, the use of land through land use designations 

(zoning) significantly influences the need and location for new 

transportation facilities, as well as the necessity for ongoing repair and 

maintenance of existing transportation facilities. As a result of this 

interdependency between land use and transportation, the City of 

Medical Lake has made a conscious effort to ensure coordinated 

planning occurs between the Land Use and Transportation elements. It 

should also be noted that the remaining chapters in this 

Comprehensive Plan are coordinated with the Land Use and 

Transportation chapters, ensuring effective and efficient planning.  

 Transportation and Concurrency 

GMA specifies that new development will be prohibited unless 

transportation strategies and/or improvements to accommodate the 

impacts of that development are made concurrently with the 

development. These improvements and/or strategies must be in place, 

or financially planned for, within six years for use by the new 

development. GMA also requires the transportation plan contain a 

funding analysis of the recommended transportation projects. This 

analysis covers funding needs, funding resources and a multiple-year 

financing plan. This ensures that a community’s transportation plan is 

both affordable and achievable.  The plan must discuss how additional 

funds will be raised or how land use assumptions will be re-evaluated 

to make the transportation plan affordable and achievable if analysis 

reveals issues. 

89



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Transportation Choices and Modes 

Trail 

The city provides an expansive 20-mile pedestrian-oriented 

transportation network.  This system of trails, bike lanes, and 

sidewalks offers the community places for leisure, recreation, and 

exercise. Over the years it has become the highlight and a primary 

reason for living in the city. The city recognizes that more can be done 

to improve its trails, bike lanes, and sidewalks even though 

the pedestrian network exceeds that normally found in a 

city the size of Medical Lake. 

The city’s sidewalks are in need of repair and expansion, 

especially in the older, established residential areas of the 

community. Sidewalks are a key ingredient to good 

pedestrian-oriented transportation systems. There is a 

pride and desire to expand the network, which fits with the 

need to establish distinct and defined connections between 

the various activity centers of the community including 

neighborhoods, schools, parks, and shopping areas.  There 

is also no regional trail system in place connecting the city 

to surrounding communities, other than by existing roads.  

As Medical Lake continues to develop, it will draw people 

from outlying areas into the city. The city values pursuit of 

the development of a regional pedestrian network of trails 

and bike paths with neighboring communities.  

Public Transit 

Medical Lake receives bus service from the Spokane Transit Authority 

(STA), a public transit service provider for the Spokane metropolitan 

region. Currently, direct bus service is provided from the city to the 

West Plains Transit Center via STA Route 62. Major 

stops include Downtown Medical Lake at the Medical 

Lake Center, the Eastern State Hospital Campus, 

Lakeland Village, and along SR-902. Route 62 

connects to the West Plains Transit Center located 

just off Interstate 90 Exit 272. The West Plains 

Transit Center provides connections to STA Route 

64, which provides service to downtown Spokane’s 

STA Plaza and to Cheney. This new transit center is 

also expected to provide service in the near future 

to Airway Heights and other destinations on the 

West Plains, without needing to transfer in 

downtown Spokane. STA also provides the 

community paratransit service for intra-city and inter-city travel.  

Paratransit service is available to those who qualify under the 

Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), where physical and/or mental 

disabilities prevent regular service provisions. Qualified riders of the 

Image 4.1 Pedestrian Path 

Image 4.2 Transit Stop, Medical Lake Center 

90



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 50 

paratransit service make arrangements by telephone with STA for trips 

within the service area. The van service can be provided as needed or 

on regularly scheduled times and days. 

Rail 

A rail freight line enters the city at its eastern boundary along the 

south side of SR-902. It then crosses over SR-902 in north-central 

Medical Lake before exiting the northern boundary of the city. This rail 

line is operated by the Palouse River Coulee City Railroad, with 

minimal trains traveling through the city. A lighted crossing is provided 

at the SR-902 crossing as well at the Stanley Street crossing, although 

no light bars are included. 

Freight 

Freight routes pass through Medical Lake along State Route 902 and 

Brooks Road. Spokane Regional Transportation Council reports that 

these are all T-3 routes, a WSDOT classification meaning that they 

carry 300,000 to 4 million tons of freight per year. 

Air 

Medical Lake is located approximately ten miles west of Spokane 

International Airport, a full-service airport with commercial flights to 

major cities in the United States, Canada, and Mexico. The airport also 

serves air cargo purposes. Ground service via taxi or airport shuttle is 

provided to and from Medical Lake to the airport. Bus service is 

provided via STA but requires a changeover in downtown Spokane 

making this an unlikely alternative until the planned STA bus services 

expansions are implemented. 

Roads 

Medical Lake’s road connections are shown in Figure 4.1. The city’s 

primary accesses are by State Route 902 (SR-902), Brooks Road, and 

Lake Street. Brooks Road connects to SR-902 from the north boundary 

of the city. SR-902 connects to Interstate 90 (I-90) at the Medical 

Lake Exit (Exit 272), approximately four miles to the east. SR-902 

functions within the city as a principal arterial, traversing the city from 

northeast to southwest, and has the greatest impact on the city’s 

vehicular traffic volume and circulation patterns. Lake Street provides 

east-west access through the city and connects to I-90 at Exit 270. 

Brooks Road connects the city to US Highway 2 about six miles north 

of town. Craig Road, located north of the city along SR-902 provides a 

direct route to Airway Heights and FAFB. Salvador/Espanola Road, 

which branches off Brooks Road to the west, connects the city to the 

community of Espanola and provides access to West Medical Lake and 

Eastern State Hospital Complex. Lake Street and Hallett Street/South 

Medical Lake Road provide access to the Silver Lake community, 

located just outside the city’s eastern/southeastern boundaries.

91



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Figure 4.1 Medical Lake Street Classifications 

92



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 52 

Transportation Demand and Needs Assessment 

Street Classifications 

The Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) 

developed a Functional Classification System (FCS) for municipalities 

to use in guiding street classification. This system ensures consistent 

designations of streets in jurisdictions throughout Washington State. 

The Spokane Regional Transportation Council (SRTC) is the designated 

Metropolitan Planning Organization (MPO) for transportation issues in 

Spokane County, and has designated the streets within the city as 

shown in Table 4.1. 

Table 4.1 Medical Lake Street Classifications 

Street Classification Street Description Medical Lake Streets 

Principal Arterial Streets and roadways connecting primary 

community centers with major facilities.  

Principal arterials serve through traffic with 

limited direct access to abutting land uses. 

• SR-902 (Medical Lake

Road, Lefevre Street,

South Medical Lake/Tyler

Road and Salnave Road)

• Brooks Road

Minor Arterial Streets and roadways connecting 

community centers to principal arterials, 

with partially controlled and infrequent 

access to abutting land uses. 

• Lake Street

• Medical Lake/Four Lakes

Road

• San Salvador/ Espanola

Road

• West Medical Lake Road

Collector Arterial Streets and roadways connecting residential 

neighborhoods with smaller community 

centers and facilities as well as access to 

minor and principal arterials.  Through 

traffic is a lesser priority and access to 

abutting land uses is a greater priority.    

• Campbell Street

• Stanley Street

• Graham Road

• Spruce Street

• Maple Street

• Pine Street

Local Street Streets and roadways providing access to 

abutting land uses as well as principal, 

minor and collector arterials.  Through 

traffic is not a priority. 

Non-arterial streets fall into 

this category. 

Access Street Perform a variety of functions with the 

primary purpose of providing access to 

abutting land uses.  Through traffic is not 

encouraged and buses and heavy trucks are 

not recommended except as needed for 

commercial or industrial uses.  Also serve 

as easements for utilities and open spaces 

between buildings and as an element to the 

urban environment. 

Typically, these are alleys and 

other small, narrow public 

rights-of-way. 

93



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Level-of-Service Standards 

Principal, minor, and collector arterials are measured against 

established standards to determine if a street or street segment is 

operating at an acceptable level of service (LOS). The LOS is based 

upon community needs. When a street or street segment falls below 

this standard, it is an indication that traffic volume is exceeding the 

street’s traffic carrying capacity or that traffic controls including stop 

signs and turning or traveling lanes are not adequate. 

The city has adopted “Link” (A-F) LOS standards as a minimum 

criterion for the quality of service provided at peak hours for roadways 

on all principal, minor, and collector arterials in the city that handle 

significant levels of local traffic. These standards are as follows: 

 LOS A – Primary free flow traffic operations at an average travel 

speed. Vehicles are completely unimpeded in their ability to maneuver 

within the traffic stream. Stopped delays at intersections are minimal. 

LOS B – Reasonable unimpeded traffic flow operates at average travel 

speeds. The ability to maneuver within the traffic stream is only 

slightly restricted and stopped delays are not bothersome. Drivers are 

not generally subject to appreciable tensions. 

LOS C – Stable traffic flow operations. However, the ability to 

maneuver and change lanes in mid-block locations may be more 

restricted than in LOS B, and longer queues and/or adverse signal 

coordination may contribute to lower average travel speeds. Motorists 

will experience appreciable tension while driving. 

LOS D – Small increases in traffic flow may cause substantial 

increases in approach delays and decreases in arterial speed. This may 

be due to adverse signal progression, inappropriate signal timing, high 

volumes, or some combination of these. 

LOS E – Significant delays in traffic flow operations and lower 

operating speeds. Conditions are caused by some combination of 

adverse signal progression, high signal density, extensive queuing at 

critical intersections and inappropriate signal timing. 

LOS F – Traffic flow operations at extreme low speeds. Intersection 

congestion is likely at critical signalization locations, with high 

approach delays resulting. Adverse signal progression is frequently a 

contributor to this condition. 

WSDOT has established LOS “D” for principal arterials as the minimum 

acceptable standard for roads in urban areas. Streets and roadways 

operating at this level are considered to be operating at capacity.  A 

LOS “C” at peak hours is reasonable and an achievable standard for 

the City of Medical Lake’s principal arterial roadways. According to 

WSDOT and city data, these city arterials are operating at LOS “A” 

94



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 54 

standards. The city has adopted LOS “C” as its standard for their 

principal, minor, and collector arterials. 

Traffic Volumes 

Vehicular traffic within the city is primarily generated by Eastern State 

Hospital, downtown Medical Lake, the north side businesses, and 

residential neighborhoods. The community schools also generate traffic 

mainly during the school year (September to June). Principal arterials 

carry the heaviest traffic with traffic loads progressively decreasing 

through the street classifications. Traffic counts for select road 

segments from the year 2015 are shown for city streets (Table 4.2) 

and SR-902 (Table 4.3). These numbers were provided by WSDOT and 

SRTC.  

SRTC provided numbers from their travel demand model for the base 

year of 2015 and the forecast for 2040. SRTC’s model contains 

inventories of existing transportation facilities as well as housing, 

shopping, and employment data for the area. The model takes into 

account trip generation, trip distribution, mode-choice, and trip 

assignment to forecast current and future traffic volumes. Numbers 

from this model were provided by SRTC per block for the entire city. 

Blocks were aggregated to specific street segments. For each segment, 

the block with the largest sum of traffic forecasts in each direction 

were designated as the segment count, as presented in Table 4.2 for 

city streets, and Table 4.3 for SR-902 segments.  

Table 4.2 2015 and 2040 Average Daily Volumes for Arterials 

Road Segment 2015 2040 Change 

Brooks Road (Lefevre Street to San Salvador Road) 5150 6620 28.5% 

Brooks Road (San Salvador Road to North city limits) 1080 1660 53.7% 

San Salvador Rd (Brooks Road to West city limits) 1370 2290 67.2% 

Lake Street (Lefevre Street to Stanley Street) 340 580 70.6% 

Lake Street (Stanley Street to Silver Lake Avenue) 1310 1730 32.1% 

Stanley Street (SR-902 to Lake Street) 3920 5460 39.3% 

Stanley Street (Lake Street to Campbell Street) 130 170 30.8% 

Campbell Street (Lefevre Street to Stanley Street)  130 170 30.8% 

Barker Street (Lefevre Street to Stanley Street) 1190 1710 43.7% 

95



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 4.3 2015 and 2040 Daily Traffic Volumes for State Route 902 

SR-902 Segments 2015 2040 Change 

East City Limit 11270 14950 32.7% 

East City Limit to Stanley 9960 13500 35.5% 

Stanley to Lefevre 6840 8720 27.5% 

Brooks to Lake 3170 4300 35.6% 

Lake to Campbell 690 1010 46.4% 

Campbell to Jefferson 1630 2260 38.7% 

Jefferson to South City Limits 1630 2260 38.7% 

Table 4.4 lists actual counts provided by WSDOT along the same 

segments analyzed in tables 4.2 and 4.3. The 2018 numbers reveal 

that most principal arterials are not being used to capacity, minor 

arterials are well below the acceptable high-end traffic usage, and 

collectors are at a midpoint for use. However, there are concerns that 

vehicles are traveling too fast along these routes. Local and access 

streets were not included in this analysis. 

Table 4.4 State Route 902 Traffic Counts 2018 

SR-902 Segments 2018 Counts 

East City Limit 8559 

East City Limit to Stanley 6913 

Stanley to Lefevre 6176 

Brooks to Lake 4733 

Lake to Campbell 3884 

Campbell to Jefferson 2907 

Jefferson to South City Limits 2833 

96



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 56 

Forecast Traffic Volumes 

There is a strong relationship between land use and transportation. As 

growth in the community occurs and employment opportunities 

increase so does the amount of traffic that is generated. WSDOT 

maintains traffic counts along SR-902 and the city maintains counts for 

all other streets and primarily arterials. Based on existing traffic 

volume distribution patterns, it is reasonable to assume a similar 

distribution pattern will remain in the future. However, as the Fox 

Hollow and Fox Ridge areas build out and other areas of the 

community are developed, forecasted traffic volumes may shift 

somewhat. This will require periodic updating of the transportation 

plan to ensure the city can adequately meet the demands on the 

transportation system. Although traffic volumes may shift on specific 

street segments, the overall forecast traffic volume should remain 

constant. 

In determining forecast traffic volumes, the city used the SRTC travel 

demand model numbers for 2040, which can be found in Tables 4.2 

and 4.3 for city arterials and SR-902, respectively. 

Projected increases along the city’s primary, minor, and collector 

arterials show that the heaviest traffic volumes are found on SR-902 

entering the city from the east and Brooks Road from SR-902 to the 

northwest city limits. The city has seen an increase in the amount of 

truck and freight traffic through the city. A decrease in Level of Service 

(LOS) reflects the increase in traffic volumes. The city anticipates 

being able to maintain a LOS “C” on its arterials given the projected 

traffic volumes. WSDOT has designated the LOS Standard for SR-902 

as a LOS “C”, thus forecasted traffic volumes and LOS align with 

WSDOT data. 

The city’s transportation system currently performs well and should 

adequately support increased traffic demands associated with new 

development. The city maintains the existing infrastructure with little 

investment for new facilities, although new investment is planned for 

its pedestrian-oriented transportation system. All funding for new 

streets and roads will continue to be the responsibility of developers, 

as outlined in Title 11 of the City of Medical Lake Municipal Code, 

which can be found on the city’s website. 

97



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Transportation Demand Management 

Transportation-Demand Management (TDM) briefly is 

described as being “the art of influencing traveler behavior 

for the purpose of reducing or redistributing travel 

demand.”  The primary purpose of TDM is to reduce the 

number of vehicles using highway facilities while providing 

a wide variety of mobility options for those who wish to 

travel. The objective of TDM is to promote efficient 

management of the transportation system within the city. 

One aspect of this is to provide incentives for reducing the 

single-occupant vehicle travel mode to and from the 

workplace, thereby increasing the frequency of people 

choosing alternative modes of travel such as walking, 

bicycling, or taking public transit. The city is setting an 

example for the community by participating in Spokane 

County’s Commute Trip Reduction Program and by 

encouraging its major employers to do the same. 

Transportation Improvement Projects 

The city has several anticipated transportation improvement projects 

for the vehicular and pedestrian transportation systems on city-owned 

streets. Funding for transportation projects can come from various 

sources. Medical Lake has been successful in receiving Transportation 

Improvement Board (TIB) grants in the past, and there are current TIB 

funded projects occurring within the city at present. In many 

instances, additional funding sources for transportation projects are 

possible and there is also a potential to complete multiple projects in 

tandem.  

For a detailed list of improvement projects see the city’s Six Year 

Transportation Improvement Plan (TIP), which is updated and 

approved by city council annually. A map showing the most recent 

proposed projects in the Six Year TIP can be found in Appendix C.  

Brooks Road and SR-902 are the busiest streets in the city, however 

they are not included in the TIP because Brooks Road is managed by 

the county and SR-902 is managed by WSDOT. 

With the improvements outlined in the Six Year TIP, the city’s 

transportation system will adequately support increased traffic 

demands associated with new development.   

Image 4.3 Painted Bike Lane in Medical Lake 

98



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 58 

Chapter 5 Public Services & Facilities 

Purpose and Intent 

This Public Service and Facilities Chapter (also known as the Capital 

Facilities Plan) is the mechanism the city uses to coordinate its 

physical and fiscal planning. It promotes efficiency by requiring local 

government to set priorities for capital improvements over a long 

period of time. The Capital Facilities Plan (CFP) catalogs the existing 

facilities and utilities that serve the businesses and residents of the 

city. It identifies future improvements and projects, their costs and 

sources of funding to support the city’s present and future population. 

This ensures the best and most efficient use of publicly available 

services and facilities in the community. It is commonly referred to as 

being the “Truth in Planning.” 

Typical capital facilities include transportation facilities (streets, trails, 

sidewalks, bikeways), parks and recreation facilities, solid waste 

collection and disposal facilities, sanitary sewer and wastewater 

treatment facilities, storm water drainage facilities, domestic water 

sources, along with storage and distribution facilities, public safety 

facilities (police, fire, and emergency medical services), public schools, 

libraries, and other capital facilities (such as City Hall). In many cases, 

new development creates an immediate need for new or expanded 

facilities. State law requires that adequate capital facilities be available 

concurrently with the demand created by new development. This 

means that facilities or services must be in place or that a financial 

commitment between city and the developer must be in place to 

provide the facilities and services within a specific time. In the GMA, 

this significant requirement is known as “concurrency”. 

This chapter will look at existing conditions and future expectations of 

the city’s capital facilities. The CFP ensures that the city can support 

the type and intensity of growth it proposes for its 20-year planning 

horizon. The West Plains area surrounding Medical Lake is 

experiencing a steady rate of growth. As Medical Lake accommodates 

growth, infill residential development inside the city’s current 

boundaries is reducing available vacant land. As remaining vacant land 

is developed more intensively, additional or expanded capital facilities 

will be required. In order to keep pace with new development and 

continue to serve the existing community, Medical Lake must carefully 

plan for and provide these essential capital facilities and services. 

There are several reasons why cities should plan for major capital 

facilities and their costs. Besides being a good management practice, it 

allows the city to be eligible for specific grants and loans that are 

periodically made available by county, state, and federal agencies.  

99



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Other reasons for capital facility planning are to: 

1. Integrate the need for, and eventual operation of, capital facilities

within the city’s annual budget.

2. Acquire ratings on bond issues when the city borrows money for

capital facilities.

3. Provide capital facilities for land development that is envisioned by

the land use element of the comprehensive plan.

4. Coordinate and provide consistency among the many plans

developed specifically for providing capital improvements.

5. Ensure the timely provision of adequate facilities as required by

the GMA.

Levels-of-Service 

The level-of-service (LOS) standard is the principal criterion for 

identifying when capital improvements are needed. The CFP identifies 

the adopted LOS standards for each public facility, and requires new 

development be served by adequate facilities. LOS standards are 

quantifiable but may be lower than desired to balance land use 

decisions of the comprehensive plan. Existing LOS standards, adopted 

by City Council in the city’s 2007 comprehensive plan, are listed in 

Table 5.1. The city has determined that some of these standards are 

inadequate to meet the city’s future growth as well as the intent of this 

comprehensive plan. Table 5.2 lists suggested new LOS standards, and 

if implemented will ensure that public services and facilities will be 

available and adequate to meet the current and future needs of the 

city. 

100



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 60 

Table 5.1 Existing Level of Service Standards 

Facility and/or Service Adopted Standard 

Police Protection 24/7 Coverage 

6 Minute Response Time 

Fire Protection Fire Insurance Rating “6” 

6 Minute Response Time 

Emergency Medical Service 6 Minute Response Time 

Transportation Level-of-Service “C” 

Domestic Water Supply 1,000 Gallons per Day per Equivalent 

Residential Unit (ERU) 

Sanitary Sewer 280 Gallons per Day per ERU 

Parks and Recreation 2.5 Acres per 1,000 Population 

Table 5.2 Suggested Level of Service Standards 

Facility and/or Service Suggested Standard 

Police Protection 24/7 Coverage 

Fire Protection Fire Insurance Rating “6” 

6 Minute Response Time 

Emergency Medical Service 6 Minute Response Time 

Transportation Level-of-Service “C” for arterials 

Domestic Water Supply 1000 Gallons per Day per ERU 

Sanitary Sewer 280 Gallons per Day per ERU 

Parks and Recreation Neighborhood Park – 2.5 acre per 1,000 

population and ½ mile or within 5 minutes 

walking distance, not to cross a major 

arterial. 

Community Park – 5 acres per 1,000 

population and 1 mile or within 15 minutes 

walking distance. 

Trails 5 miles per 1,000 population and within ½ 

mile of a trail access point. 

Natural Open Space 5 acres per 1,000 population and within 2 

miles of any residence. 

Stormwater Management No net change from any pre-development 

to post-development conditions. 

Schools School Facilities Plan. 

Street Cleaning As required to meet Spokane Regional 

Clean Air Agency Requirements 

101



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Six- and Twenty-Year Forecast Demand 

Six Year Interval – As previously mentioned the city’s Capital Facilities 

Plan is the mechanism used to coordinate its physical and fiscal 

planning. The six-year interval of the plan requires identification of all 

capital projects during the first six-years following adoption or revision 

of the comprehensive plan. It also requires the location and cost of 

new facilities or expansion of existing facilities, identification of 

revenue sources that will be used to fund the facilities, and a 

determination that it is financially feasible. Dependable revenue 

sources must equal or exceed anticipated costs. The established 

levels-of-service for current residents are adequate and provide excess 

capacity for growth accommodation. The six-year interval of the CFP 

shows no capital projects being located within the existing city limits 

because of recent improvements. 

Ten-year Interval – Demand on public services and facilities within ten 

years will likely occur outside the city limits, along the arterials leading 

to the east and north from Brooks Road. Most of this development is 

expected to occur north and west of the current northern boundary of 

the city into the adjusted Urban Growth Area. 

Twenty-year Interval – The twenty-year interval extends to the limits 

of the UGA and considers potential reuse of State facilities around 

Medical Lake and West Medical Lake along with the possible 

development of land along Brooks Road, northwest of city limits. 

Capital Facilities 

Inventory 

City Hall – Originally constructed in 1949 with a major 

addition and remodel occurring in 1978, the building is 

masonry construction, two-stories in height, and still 

structurally sound. However, space in the building is 

limited, updating for new technologies is problematic, and 

ADA accessibility is a problem for the second floor. City Hall 

houses the fire station, former police department, offices 

for the Mayor, City Administrator, City Attorney, Finance 

Director, Recreation Department, and Customer Service 

staff. The General Fund needs to plan for the remodeling or 

the possible replacement of the building sometime in the 

future. In order to do so the remodeling or replacement of 

the building needs to be included in the capital facilities 

plan. 

City Annex Building – Located behind City Hall, originally a 

bank, then the City’s library, this structure houses the 

Planning, Building, and Code Enforcement Departments. 

Image 5.1 City Hall Facility 

102



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 62 

The Planning Department is responsible for all current and long-range 

planning activities of the city. The Building Department is responsible 

for all building permits, both new construction and remodeling, as well 

as on-site building inspections and plan review. The Code Enforcement 

Department enforces the City’s nuisance codes as set forth in the 

Medical Lake Municipal Code. 

City Maintenance Building – This facility is located south 

along SR 902 near the public boat launch and is comprised 

of three separate buildings. Within or adjacent to these 

buildings are the city maintenance offices, equipment and 

parts storage facilities, and the city composting trailer dock. 

There are no plans for expansion or additions to these 

facilities, but improvements may be necessary as the Public 

Works Department pursues the addition and/or replacement 

of existing service and maintenance equipment. 

Medical Lake Library – The Medical Lake Library is located 

southeast of the city’s central business district. The building 

is a 4,000 sq. ft., city-owned building offering more than 

500 books. The Spokane County Library District provides 

the library services. 

Vacant Former Ball and Dodd Funeral Home Property – 

Purchased in 2002 by the city, all structures that were on 

the property have been removed and the property use 

undecided at this time.  

Fire and EMS 

The city’s volunteer Fire and EMS Department is located within City 

Hall and provides fire and emergency medical response services.  

Services provided include:  

• Fire safety and prevention education

• Fire suppression

• Emergency medical services – basic, intermediate, and advanced

life support

• Water and ice rescue with an inter-agency agreement with

Spokane County Sheriff’s Department Water Rescue Team

• Public CPR and first aid classes

• Auto extrication

The Fire Department is currently responsible for providing fire and EMS 

within the city, including the DSHS campus, with a mutual aid 

agreement for the outlying vicinity. The Fire Department currently has 

three double bays for its six response vehicles, offices for fire officers, 

and a day room for volunteers to stay while on shift. All firefighters 

have completed fire academy, with many receiving specialized training 

including advanced wildland training, disaster preparedness training 

and ice rescue training. The city currently has a fire insurance rating of 

Image 5.2 Public Library Facility 

103



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

“6” and the Fire Department provides an average response time of six 

to ten minutes for fire and medical emergencies when volunteers are 

available. 

Table 5.3 Existing Fire Department Equipment 

Vehicle Type Specifications 

Engine 1 1995 Freightlirer FL-70 

1000g/tank 

1500 gpm 

Engine 2 1992 Seagrave T-8500H 
750g/tank 

1500 gpm 

Engine 3 
1993 International 

500g tank 

1250 gpm 

Attack 1 

1992 Chevrolet Kodiak 
750g/tank 

205 gpm 

Brush 1 1986 Chevrolet ¾ Ton 
250g/tank 

92 gpm 

Medical Lake 

Command Vehicle 
2003 Chevrolet K1500 

Water 1 2006 Zodiac 25hp Tohatsu Motor 

Parks and Recreation 

The city’s Parks and Recreation system is outstanding, as recognized 

by local, regional, and state standards. The city currently manages 

eight facilities, covering more than one hundred acres of parks and 

natural areas, and over twenty miles of recreational trails and 

pedestrian ways. There is a cooperative relationship with the Medical 

Lake School District for facility use and recreational purposes. A 

complete and detailed analysis of the existing parks and recreation 

system can be found in Chapter 7. 

Police and Public Safety 

The city contracts with the Spokane County Sheriff’s Office for police 

services. A Spokane County Sheriff’s Office Deputy is located within 

the City 24 hours per day, seven days per week. 

104



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 64 

Public Works 

Sewer System 

Sewer Collection – The City of Medical Lake relies upon a combination 

gravity and pump system utilizing five major lift stations for system 

flows. The Barker St. Lift Station is located in the central part of the 

city, the Brown St. Lift Station is located on the eastern edge of the 

city, the South Lake Terrace Lift Station is located in the southwest 

section of the city, the Lake Shore Lift Station is located at the north 

end of Medical Lake and the Graham Rd. Lift Station is located in the 

northwest section of the city. Maps of the sewer system are available 

for review at City Hall in an atlas format. 

Sewer Treatment – Sewage is treated at the city’s Wastewater 

Treatment and Reclamation Plant located on Ellen Ave. The plant was 

constructed in 2001 and replaced a three-pond lagoon system. The 

plant is a tertiary treatment facility utilizing extended biological 

treatment that produces full contact reclaimed water. The plant has 

the capacity to treat one million gallons of wastewater per day and has 

two discharge locations – West Medical Lake and Deep Creek. The city 

contracts for the removal of dewatered sludge from the plant. 

Infiltration – During the spring there are large amounts of 

groundwater inflow into the sewer collection system. The inflow is 

largely due to sump pumps employed by residences to keep the 

ground water from their basements and crawl spaces. It is estimated 

that forty percent of residents rely on sump pumps for these reasons. 

Sewage Discharge – The city provides sewer service to 1,848 

equivalent dwelling units (EDU), with an average wastewater flow into 

the treatment plant of 425,000 gallons per day. Maximum flow, due to 

infiltration, was 2,600,000 gallons per day. Current sewer rates are 

based on land uses shown in Table 5.4. 

105



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 5.4 Existing Sewer Rates 

Stormwater Management 

Stormwater Collection – The city’s stormwater collection system 

consists of a series of pipes and ditches which collect stormwater 

runoff and distribute it to three discharge points. Runoff is captured in 

catch basins and piped to these discharge areas. The transport of 

stormwater is reliant on gravity with no system pumps. The Medical 

Lake discharge point has an oil-and-water separator, which treats road 

runoff before it flows into the lake. A ditch running adjacent to the 

WSDOT Railroad Line near the city’s wastewater treatment plant is a 

second discharge area. The third discharge area is Silver Lake via a 

surface trench located just north of the South Lake Terrace Lift 

Station.   

Because of the infiltration issues and sump pump use mentioned 

above, excess water is often dumped into the city’s sewer collection 

system. This can result in certain sewer mains becoming surcharged 

and excessively high flows at the treatment plant. The city is exploring 

measures to address this situation. 

There is no storm water collection fee being charged to residents. The 

present stormwater system is adequate except for the sump 

pump/sewer collection system problem. 

Water System 

Water Source – The City of Medical Lake takes water from the Grande 

Rhonde Aquifer via four wells. Three wells are shared by both the City 

and DSHS. Well #1 and #2, known as the Hallett Wells, and Well #3, 

known as the Lehn Rd. Well, are located to the west of the City in the 

Espanola area. The fourth and deepest well, Well #4, known as the 

Account Type Rate/Month ($) 

Residential Units (Single Family, Multi-Family) 30.00 

Garage and Service Stations without wash 

racks, Stores and Commercial Offices, Halls, 

Churches, General Repair Shops and Dry 

Cleaning. 

41.61 

Garages and Service Stations with wash racks 53.15 

Restaurants, Cafes, Taverns and Laundries 67.10 

Low Income/Handicapped 22.50 

Schools 

     Summer (High School & Middle School) 

     Summer (Elementary) 

     School Year 

85.60 

43.87 

2.63 

106



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 66 

Craig Rd. Well, is located outside the city just southeast of the SR 902 

and Craig Rd. intersection.  

The water pumped from these wells is blended together throughout 

the City’s distribution system. The City has an intertie with the Four 

Lakes Water District #10. The intertie connects the Craig Rd. Well to 

the Four Lakes Water District Craig Rd. Well, and either entity can 

supply the other water in the event of an emergency. The City also 

wholesales water to the Spokane Water District #16 (Strathview) via 

an intertie located at SR 902 and Welcome Rd. Water from all city 

wells is treated with chlorine to eliminate any microbial contamination 

of drinking water. The City also has executed an agreement for an 

intertie with the City of Spokane for 600 gallons per minute (gpm) of 

emergency water and 200 gpm of supplemental water. Construction of 

the intertie is anticipated to be completed by the fall of 2020. With the 

exception of the City of Spokane intertie, all of the city’s water sources 

are located within the Grande Rhonde Aquifer. The city will have the 

capacity to receive approximately 3,000 gpm of potable water from all 

water sources. Table 5.5 summarizes well capacity, and for a 

comprehensive description of the city’s water system please see the 

2017 City of Medical Lake Water System Plan.   

Table 5.5 Existing Water Wells 

Well Capacity (gpm) Depth (feet) Date Drilled 

1 570 440 1961 

2 570 440 1978 

3 650 960 1957 

4 1200 1400 1990 

Water Storage – Current water storage comes primarily from Well #4, 

with extra storage provided through the state’s water system, when 

water from Well #1 and #2 are pumped into the state reservoirs. Well 

#4’s water is stored in a 1,500,000-gallon reservoir built in 1997. The 

reservoir is in the northeast corner of the city. The capacity provided 

by the state is 3,555,000 gallons, although the effective storage is 

estimated to be 2,555,000 gallons. This discrepancy is caused by the 

head loss of the ineffective 1,000,000-gallon reservoir. Its current 

purpose is for emergency storage only. Table 5.6 gives the technical 

data for the city’s water storage system. 

107



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 5.6 Existing Water Storage 

Reservoir 
Capacity 

(gallons) 

Overflow Elevation 

(feet) 
Tank Type 

Year 

Built 

#1 555,000 2,611 Concrete 1930 

#2 2,000,000 2,641 Steel 1969 

#3 1,000,000 2,619 Steel 1970 

#4 1,500,000 Steel 1997 

Water Treatment – Current chlorination treatment at the wells used by 

the city is completed before distribution into the water system and 

reservoirs. 

Water Distribution – The current service area for the city includes all 

land within the city limits and extends east to Craig Rd. Distribution is 

contained within the city’s corporate boundary and occurs through a 

series of water mains and customer service lines. The city also 

provides 200 gpm of water, through an inter-local agreement, to 

Strathview Water District #16 located on the east shore of Silver Lake 

because of a contaminated water source.   

Water Consumption – Based on the city’s 2019 Water System Plan the 

city has 1,848 Equivalent Dwelling Units (EDUs). The city pumped and 

purchased 271,032,000 gallons of water in 2017. Current billing rates 

to residents are $16.00 as a base rate and an escalating per gallon 

rate based on consumption. Commercial users pay the same rates. 

Demand and Needs Assessment 

Community Facilities

As mentioned in the inventory, City Hall and City Annex are likely to 

undergo significant remodeling. It is also anticipated the City’s 

Maintenance Facility will undergo some expansion in the next ten 

years to accommodate additional equipment. Inclusion of the 

maintenance facility projects occurs in the Public Works portion of this 

section. 

Fire and EMS

As volunteerism locally and nationally wanes, the Fire Department is 

faced with many challenges to manage the associated impacts of 

existing calls for service and those that also come with city expansion.  

Increased office, training, and storage space is one challenge facing 

the department. The Fire Department is also planning on increasing 

the size of its response fleet by adding at least four new vehicles over 

the next four years, depending on the amount of city growth.   

108



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 68 

The Fire Department is planning to construct a remote fire station in 

the next ten years to shorten response times and provide for 

expansion. This four-bay facility would be in the northwest part of the 

city to service the recent rapid development in the area. The Fire 

Department should also expand its current facility. This expansion 

would allow for much needed office, training, and storage space to 

accommodate the additional equipment. Grants, levies, contract 

negotiations, fire impact fees, and other creative financial 

opportunities can be used to help achieve needed expansion. 

Parks and Recreation

The city currently manages over one hundred acres of parks and 

natural areas and over twenty miles of multiple-use trails and 

pedestrian ways. The importance of parks and recreation opportunities 

to the residents of the city shows in the commitment to parks, trails, 

natural areas and recreational programs and the city will continue to 

seek this commitment into perpetuity. Parks are adequate to meet the 

future demands (Table 5.7), with regional park facilities creating added 

parklands for a comprehensive system. 

Table 5.7 Existing and Future Park and Recreational Demand 

Police and Safety – The City currently contracts with the Spokane 

County Sheriff’s Office for police services and will continue to do so in 

the foreseeable future. 

Public Works 

Sewer System 

Treatment Capacity– The city has an agreement for treating 

wastewater of State facilities after pre-treatment. Population 

projections for 2037 call for 6,042 residents in the city. Using 2018 

Activity/Facility 
Standard per 

1,000 people 

Current 

Available 

2018 

Demand 

2037 

Demand 

Future 

Needs 

Neighborhood 

Parks 

1 acre 6 5 6 0 

Community Parks 3 acres 28 15 18 0 

Regional Parks None 45 N/A N/A None 

Trails (miles) 5 16.5 25 30 13.5 

Natural Areas & 

Open Space 

5 acres 4 25 30 26 

Overall 10 acres 55 50 60 5 

109



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

treatment data, future demand can be determined by correlating 

treatment predictions with population forecasts. In 2018, treatment 

flows for the non-institutional population averaged approximately 146 

gallons per day per person. Using the projected population of 6,042 it 

can be estimated the average daily treatment city-wide to be 882,132 

gallons per day for the year 2037, with no improvements made to the 

existing collection system. 

Present treatment capacity at the city’s wastewater treatment plant is 

1,000,000 gallons per day. This is greater than the projected average 

daily and maximum daily wastewater generation rates, which 

demonstrates the existing sewer collection system can potentially 

meet future growth demands if current capacity of the wastewater 

treatment plant is not significantly reduced. Table 5.8 helps define this 

capacity and demand analysis. 

Table 5.8 Capacity and Demand for the City Sewer System 

Demand for Sewer 2037 

2037 Population of 6,042 Gallons per Day 

Average Daily Demand (146 gallons per person) 882,132 

Maximum Capacity 1,000,000 

Difference +117,868

Sewer Collection – The current system can be expanded into areas 

without hookup as new development occurs. Ongoing improvements to 

the collection system are also necessary for repairs and infiltration 

problems. Undertaking these improvements consistently and in a 

timely fashion will lengthen the city treatment facility’s functional life 

and enable it to perform treatment effectively and efficiently into the 

future. 

Stormwater Management 

Stormwater Collection – The city will need to add to the Stormwater 

collection systems as new areas of development occur. Increased 

development also increases the amount of runoff into the system, 

resulting in increased quantity. This creates the need for updating and 

expansion of the existing Stormwater collection system. 

This plan adopts the Stormwater Management Manual for Eastern 

Washington (Washington Department of Ecology Publication 04-10-

076, or as revised) which shall provide the preferred guidance for 

stormwater best management practices. 

110



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 70 

Water System 

Water Capacity – Based on population projections for the city, 

approximately 6,042 people will be living in the city in 2037 which is 

equal to 2,238 EDUs (Equivalent Dwelling Units) based on the 

projected household size of 2.7. Using 2018 consumption data, future 

consumption can be determined by correlating consumption 

predictions with population forecasts. 

In 2018, the City’s average day demand (ADD) was 389 gallons per 

day (gpd) per EDU, and maximum day demand (MDD) was 1,315 gpd 

per EDU. Using the projected population consisting of 2,238 EDUs it 

can be estimated the average day demand city-wide will be 870,582 

gpd for the year 2037, and the MDD will be 2,942,970 gpd. 

With the addition of two booster stations at the existing DSHS interties 

and the purchase of 200 gallons per minute from the City of Spokane, 

the city will have the ability to pump and purchase enough water to 

supply 2,271 EDU at the ADD (Table 5.9). The city will not be able, 

however, to produce and purchase enough water to meet future MDD. 

Table 5.9 Water System Capacity and Demand 

2037 Water Capacity and Demand 

Population of 6,042 Gallons per Day 

Average Daily Demand (ADD) 870,582 

Maximum Daily Demand (MDD) 2,942,970 

Maximum Capacity (at ADD) 2,271 EDU 

Difference (at ADD) (+) 33 EDU 

Water Distribution – The city’s water system plan finds that the 

existing 1.5 MG reservoir should be adequate to meet the city’s 20-

year projected needs, but that additional source facilities must be 

implemented to meet the projected 6-year needs.  

Table 5.10 lists the planned water system projects and the years they 

will be completed for the city as part of its Capital Improvement 

Program. 

111



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 5.10 Water System Projects in Capital Improvement Plan 

Water System Projects in the Capital Improvement Plan 

Project Name Expected Completion Year 

Spokane Intertie 2019 

Staples/James St. (Water Main) 2020 

Lake St./Hallett to Grant (Water 

Main) 
2021 

Lefevre St./Campbell to 4th (Water 

Main) 
2022 

Various projects to address lead 

service lines and/or components 
Ongoing 

Fiscal Summary 

To better serve the community, it is necessary to inspect budgets and 

past expenditures within the city departments. An overview of total 

city revenue compared with each department shows the amount of 

funds spent within different categories (Table 5.10). This also creates 

a picture of spending patterns for future program and facility planning. 

112



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 72 

Table 5.11 Budget and Expenditures (2013-2019) 

Category 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 

Fire & EMS 

Expenditures 268,001 121,691 118,347 159,429 291,962 123,873 135,519 

Budget 295,349 125,000 128,162 215,000 316,131 162,267 160,875 

Parks & Recreation 

Expenditures 248,106 356,659 202,448 205,920 175,773 187,524 219,170 

Budget 271,208 376,161 215,428 216,336 192,833 199,849 238,798 

Public Safety 

Expenditures 521,277 520,186 520,313 623,876 562,605 670,380 664,466 

Budget 503,523 530,000 525,500 655,898 633,287 678,741 710,225 

Streets 

Expenditures 412,477 231,825 455,397 188,037 324,695 368,854 279,497 

Budget 1,244,421 461,975 486,258 225,824 337,815 390,885 530,377 

Capital Facilities Program 

The city’s Capital Improvement Plan is a six-year plan covering 

anticipated capital improvements for the near future with estimated 

costs for completion and prospective revenue sources. Prioritizing 

capital projects is vital to short-term and long-term city operation.  

Capital projects can be moved ahead or back accordingly as funding 

opportunities arise or as other opportunities reflecting favorably on the 

project present themselves. The Medical Lake City Council has final 

decision-making authority in all capital project amendments. The city 

regularly updates the Capital Improvement Plan, which can be found 

on file with the city. 

Use of Impact Fees 

The city currently collects school, parks, and fire facility impact fees 

(RCW 82.02.090) to mitigate development’s impacts. The formula for 

calculating the impact fees is found in Chapter 16.05 of the Medical 

Lake Municipal Code. School impact fees are developed and regulated 

by the Medical Lake School District and are simply collected by the city 

and forwarded to the school district. Park impact fees are based on the 

number of units in a subdivision which correlates to people. Fire 

impact fees are based upon number of units for residential land use 

and square footage for commercial and institutional land uses.  

113



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Monitoring and Evaluation 

Monitoring and evaluation are essential steps within the planning 

process. They assure the goals and programs will be maintained and 

monitored during implementation to ensure they do not change form 

unintentionally. They help determine if the intended outcome occurs 

and measures what those outcomes are producing sufficiently. Finally, 

they help decide whether the implemented strategy should be 

sustained, modified, or discontinued. 

State Land Inventory 

Eastern State Hospital - Eastern State Hospital, which is operated by 

the Washington State Department of Social and Health Services 

(DSHS), is a fully accredited psychiatric hospital providing inpatients 

psychiatric services for people with acute and chronic mental illness, 

forensic services for those not competent to stand trial, with mental 

and geriatric patients. In April 2019, the hospital had 276 patients with 

plans for the addition of 50 more “beds” by 2020. 

Lakeland Village – The mission of Lakeland Village is to provide the 

care and services needed for adults with severe and profound 

developmental disabilities. Lakeland Village is operated by DSHS and 

as of April 2019 is home to 161 adults with developmental disabilities, 

including respite care. 

Consolidated Support Services (CSS)– CSS provides maintenance 

services for both Eastern State Hospital and Lakeland Village facilities. 

Pine Lodge Pre-Release – Formerly operated by the Washington State 

Department of Corrections (DOC) as a minimum-security correctional 

facility, the building now houses staff and is the operations center for 

CSS.  

Utilities Inventory 

Electricity – The city is served by Avista Utilities for its electricity 

needs. It is supplied on a demand basis and there are no current 

limitations of the utility to provide service. 

Natural gas – The city is served by Avista Utilities for its natural gas 

needs. 

Telephone – The city is served by CenturyLink for its telephone and 

internet needs. 

Cable Television – The city is served by Davis Communications for its 

cable television needs. 

114



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 74 

Wireless Communications – The city is served by several wireless 

communication providers, including AT&T Wireless, Sprint PCS, and 

Verizon Wireless. Infrastructure for cell technology is upgraded as 

demand and technology changes. 

Siting Essential Public Facilities 

In accordance with the requirements of the Washington State Growth 

Management Act (GMA), and following an extensive policy review 

process by the Spokane County Growth Management Steering 

Committee, County-Wide Planning Policies (CWPPs) were adopted in 

2011 regarding the siting of “Public Capital Facilities of a County-Wide 

or State-Wide Nature”. 

The GMA further requires local governments to develop a process for 

identifying and siting essential public facilities and to incorporate that 

process into their local comprehensive plans. As indicated and defined 

by WAC 365-195-340, essential public facilities can be difficult to site, 

and their location in a community may be locally unpopular. Local and 

state governments are charged by GMA with the task of ensuring that 

such facilities, as needed to support orderly growth and delivery of 

public services, are sited in a timely and efficient manner. 

The Spokane County Regional Siting Process for Essential Public 

Facilities is intended to address the siting of essential public facilities 

not already sited by a local comprehensive plan and for which 

discretionary land use action is required. Essential public facilities of a 

county-wide or state-wide nature not already sited in a local 

comprehensive plan are eligible for review under this regional siting 

process. To begin this process, the facility must be designated as an 

essential public facility by the Spokane County Board of County 

Commissioners, must already be on the Spokane County inventory of 

essential public facilities, or must be on the Office of Financial 

Management’s list of essential public facilities.   

Once a project is determined to be an essential public facility, the 

project sponsor may either elect to follow the regional common siting 

process adopted by Spokane County and the City of Medical Lake or to 

pursue a land use permit directly with the city. However, by pursuing 

the regional common siting process the project sponsor provides for 

increased opportunity for public comment and a more comprehensive 

evaluation of the project. 

The Spokane County Regional Siting Process for Essential Public 

Facilities was developed by a jurisdictional process consisting of 

Spokane County, as lead, and representatives of the small towns and 

cities of the county as well as the City of Spokane. The siting process 

was adopted by an interlocal memorandum of understanding and the 

siting process and the county’s functional and qualitative analysis 

when siting essential public facilities 

115



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 6 Parks, Recreation, & 

Natural Areas 

Purpose and Intent 

Medical Lake is a community of rural character that values its open 

space and enjoys it through activities such as walking, jogging, biking, 

swimming, and picnicking. The intent of this chapter is to enhance and 

strengthen the city parks and recreation opportunities. Parks, natural 

areas, and recreation are a vital part of the Medical Lake Community 

and together serve to improve the overall quality of life. The 

opportunity for multiple forms of passive and active recreation creates 

a sense of community, establishes healthier residents, and brings 

visitors to the city.   

This chapter of the comprehensive plan shall be considered the Medical 

Lake Parks and Recreation Master Plan, developing the path to 

potential Recreation and Conservation Office (RCO) and other grant 

funding sources. The following text creates the details required for 

RCO funding while meeting the local community needs for creating a 

continuing and successful parks and recreation system. 

Parks Inventory 

The city’s park system includes seven (7) city parks and five (5) school 

facilities totaling approximately 96 acres including an extensive trail 

network, playfields, playgrounds, and natural open spaces. The park 

inventory identifies facilities using a visual assessment of conditions of 

each park that incorporated RCO Recreational Lands Inventory 

categories. The parks system analysis includes identification of parks 

by category and total park facilities using three categories: 

neighborhood, community, and regional. Table 6.1 defines each. 

116



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 76 

Table 6.1 Park Categories 

Park Category Definition 

Neighborhood Park Parks that serve residential areas within walking 

distance (approximately 1/2 mile).  Park access is 

primarily pedestrian-oriented where uses do not 

cross major arterials for access. Children are 

primary users of the neighborhood parks, but 

facilities should provide activities for all age 

groups. 

Desirable size: 3-5 acres. 

Community Park Parks that serve a group of neighborhoods within a 

1 to 2 miles radius of the park. Vehicle and 

pedestrian-oriented is encouraged.  Diverse users 

demand a broader spectrum of facilities to satisfy 

their interests.   

Desirable size: 10-20 acres. 

Regional Park Parks that serve the community and the 

surrounding areas. Typical access is vehicular with 

pedestrian-oriented access encouraged. Regional 

parks offer specialized opportunities, but also 

provide facilities for all ages and interests. 

Desirable size:  30 or more acres. 

Neighborhood Parks 

Coney Island Park is a one-acre park adjacent to the Central Business 

District (CBD) located on Medical Lake. Facilities include picnic areas, 

public restrooms and limited parking. The park acts as a link, providing 

access to lake-based recreation and downtown activities, and is linked 

to the city’s trail system. A natural seating amphitheater for 

community events and concerts is being developed. 

North End Park is a two-acre park located on the north end of Medical 

Lake consisting primarily of open space, with areas for picnicking and 

viewing the lake. This park is linked to the city’s trail system. 

Peper Park is a quiet one-acre park located along the north shore of 

Medical Lake, frequented by the local geese and duck population. It is 

a great place to observe wildlife and is linked to the city’s trail system. 

Pioneer Park is just over one-acre located in the central neighborhood 

with apartments on two sides. There is play equipment, a skate park, 

picnic facilities and public restrooms. This park is a popular hangout 

for the school age population.  

Wilcox Park is a half-acre park located on the edge of Fox Hollow 

subdivision to the north of the downtown. It includes a playground, 

picnic tables, and off-street parking.   

117



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Shepard Field is located in Fox Hollow and is an open field used for 

local soccer programs with public restrooms and parking. 

Community Parks 

Medical Lake Trail Picnic Site is a series of picnic sites along the 

Medical Lake Trail encompassing approximately ten (10) acres on the 

west shoreline of Medical lake. These areas are 

primarily natural with a more “backcountry” feel. 

Regional Parks 

Waterfront Park is the largest city park with about 

forty-five (45) acres located on the southern shore 

of Medical Lake. It provides opportunities for 

recreation and leisure, including picnic areas, a 

swimming area and beach, a playground, boat 

launch, parking lot, and an active sports complex 

including two lit softball fields and three additional 

play fields. The park has over a mile of shoreline and 

includes the Medical Lake Trail. 

School Facilities 

School facilities are formally linked to the city’s park system through a 

1970s joint-use agreement. Thus, the terms of that agreement allow 

the City of Medical Lake to consider all school facilities community 

parks. By pre-arrangement with the city, school facilities can remain 

open and available for public use outside of school hours, events or 

activities. Below is a list of existing school facilities. 

Medical Lake High School has approximately 15 acres of 

open areas and playfields including a lighted baseball field, 

two soccer field, open playfields, basketball courts and 

playground equipment. 

Medical Lake Middle School and Elementary School 

complex has approximately ten acres of playfields and 

open space, including softball fields, a football/soccer field, 

open playfields, basketball courts and playgrounds. 

Hallett Elementary School has approximately five (5) acres 

of playfields and open space, including a football/soccer 

field and open playfield, basketball courts and a 

playground. 

Dora Burt & Reinking Fields are separate five-acre athletic 

field complexes adjacent to Hallett Elementary School 

located in the southern portion of the city and are home to 

two softball fields. 

Image 6.1 Waterfront Park 

Image 6.2 Medical Lake High School 

118



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 78 

Trails Inventory 

Medical Lake’s Trail System includes an extensive multiple-use trail 

network covering approximately twenty (20) miles. Walking, jogging 

and biking are the primary uses on the trail, but in the wintertime, 

residents have been spotted using the trail for cross-country skiing 

and snowshoeing. The trail system is the city’s pedestrian 

transportation spine linking the city’s park, schools, downtown and 

residential neighborhoods. This interconnectedness gives residents 

access to a variety of activities, interests, and pursuits not available in 

many other small communities. The city’s trail system (Table 6.2) is 

paved and provides multi-use or bicycle opportunities. 

Table 6.2 Existing Trail Facilities 

Trail Length Type Surfacing 

Medical Lake 3 miles Multi-use Asphalt 

Fox Hollow 1 mile Multi-use Asphalt 

Bike Lane System 10 miles Biking Asphalt 

Sidewalk System 5 miles Multi-use concrete 

Total 19.5 miles 

Medical Lake Trail is one of the city’s most popular 

recreational attractions. This three-mile long multi-use 

trail encompasses ten acres and one mile of Medical Lake 

shoreline. The trail offers a natural environment and urban 

downtown access. It also links four city parks, the city 

core, the Central Business District (CBD), and residential 

neighborhoods. 

Fox Hollow Trail was completed in 2000. This one mile 

long multi-use trail connects the north end of Medical Lake 

to the Fox Hollow subdivision and expanding residential 

areas. The Fox Hollow trail is linked to the Medical Lake 

Trail in the northern portion of the city. Besides being 

linked to the Medical Lake Trail it also borders Shepard 

Field. 

Bike lane and sidewalk systems: The city has an extensive 

bike lane system which is being updated and expanded to 

ensure adequate linkages within the community. The bike 

lane and sidewalk systems both play an integral part in the 

city’s overall trail system. They link parks, schools, businesses, 

neighborhoods, homes, and city facilities together. 

Image 6.3 Medical Lake Bike Trail 

119



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Natural Areas and Open Space Inventory 

The city recognizes the importance of preserving and conserving 

natural open space. Natural areas serve multiple uses, including 

protection of environmentally sensitive areas, wildlife habitat, 

wetlands, shorelines, storm water management practices and 

recreational opportunities. It is the city’s intent to employ multiple-use 

practices on its natural areas and open spaces to protect the city’s 

natural, rural character while providing recreational activities. 

Table 6.3 Overall Park Facilities Inventory 

Facility Type Acres 

Neighborhood Parks 5.72 

Coney Island Park 1 

North End Park 2 

Pioneer Park 1.2 

Wilcox Park .52 

Community Parks 10 

Medical Lake Trail Picnic Sites 10 

Regional Parks 45 

Waterfront Park 45 

Total Park Facilities 60.7 

Natural Areas and Open Space Facilities 1 

Peper Park 1 

School Facilities –considered Community 

Parks 

35.2 

Medical Lake High School 15 

Medical Lake Middle and Elementary School  10 

Hallett Elementary School 5 

Reinking Fields 5.2 

Trail facilities 20 miles 

Medical Lake Trail 3 miles 

Fox Hollow Trail 1 mile 

Bike Lane System 10 miles 

Sidewalk System 5 miles 

TOTAL 100 acres and 20 miles 

120



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 80 

Recreation Inventory 

The City of Medical Lake provides a variety of recreational programs 

including youth and adult sports leagues, health and fitness activities, 

and safety and educational activities. The city also sponsors and 

assists in such community events as Founder’s Day, Fisherman’s 

Breakfast, and Blue Grass Festival. The city is a member of the 

C.A.Re.S (Communities Associated for Recreational Sports League), a

youth sports partnership for the communities of Medical Lake, Airway

Heights, Cheney, and Fairchild Air Force Base. All youth sports

programs offered by the City of Medical Lake are under the C.A.Re.S

guidelines, which emphasize the development of sportsmanship and

game skills. Many of the sports programs are seasonally based,

dependent on demand for year-round offering

A needs assessment, based on written responses, via a community 

survey and verbal responses at community meetings, revealed the 

following: 

• Residents feel cleanliness and the ability to move within and

between park facilities is very important.

• Waterfront Park is the city’s most visited park.

• Maintenance and enhancement to existing park and

recreational facilities is preferred over acquisition and

development of new facilities.

• The community embraces special and community events.

• There is support for improvements to recreational programs.

• There is support for more special and community events in the

parks.

Demand and Needs Assessment 

Past surveys showed that regular use of the city’s expansive trail 

system is the number one activity of city residents. Waterfront Park is 

consistently identified as the most heavily used park in the city’s park 

system, as it was intended to be. Residents and city staff acknowledge 

that the other parks are often underutilized. The major demand for 

parks and recreation opportunities comes from the local population, 

with some specialized visits from visitors. The current demand is for 

enhancing existing programs, providing new activities and events, and 

expanding the trail system to provide better linkages within the overall 

community. 

The forecast demand indicates continued growth and more tourist 

activity as the goals of this plan are realized. With that growth the 

demand for additional community parks and natural areas increase 

proportionally. The public access to the downtown lakefront should be 

a major goal of the city as this growth occurs. These public facilities 

warrant careful consideration in future city park system planning. A 

121



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

commitment to operate the parks and recreation programs at their 

current level of service is a commitment to secure long-range funding 

sources for capital improvements.   

The city has adopted an overall level-of-service (LOS) standard of ten 

(10) acres of land for every 1,000 people, must be provided for park

facilities. The size of the development dictates the amount of land

needed to mitigate overall park impacts. The city has also

recommended standards for its neighborhood parks, community parks,

trails, natural areas, and open space. Except for trails, natural areas,

and open spaces, the city exceeds the standards and can meet future

demands on the city’s park system. The city is exploring ideas on how

to meet future demand in the areas not adequately meeting the

current LOS for trails, natural areas, and open space. Proximity

standards are also being considered as part of the LOS for park and

recreational facilities. This would help ensure safe and easy community

access to recreational opportunities. Using 2018 census figures, Table

6.4 shows the future park and recreational needs for 2037.

Table 6.4 Future Park and Recreation Needs 

Activity/Facility 
Adopted 

Standard 

Available 

Acres 

2018 

Demand 

2037 

Demand 

Future 

Needs 

Population - - 4,990 6,042 - 

Neighborhood Parks 1ac/1,000 6 acres 5 acres 6 acres 0 acres 

Community Parks 3ac/1,000 28 acres 15 acres 18 acres -10 acres

Regional Parks None 45 acres n/a n/a -45 acres

Trails 5mi/1,000 19.5 miles 25 miles 30 miles 10.5 miles 

Natural Areas/Open Space 5ac/1,000 4 acres 25 acres 30 acres 26 acres 

Overall 10ac/1,000 55 acres 50 acres 60 acres 5 acres 

Table 6.5 again shows the Parks and Recreation LOS but with the 

Proximity Standard added. This represents a long-term standard that 

ensures safe and easy community access to recreational activities. 

Table 6.5 Recommended LOS Standards for Parks and Recreation 

Park Category Size Standard Proximity Standard 

Neighborhood Park 1ac/1,000 people ½ mile or 5 minutes walking distance, 

not crossing a major arterial 

Community Park 3ac/1,000 people 1 mile or 15 minutes walking distance 

Regional Park None None 

Natural Areas/Open Space 5ac/1,000 population 2 miles 

122



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 82 

Parks and Recreation Improvement Program 

The Goals, Policies, and Actions outlined in Chapter 2 are the basis for 

implementation strategies. The city must address all interests and 

develop a path to the desired future. The implementing actions in 

Chapter 2 help to prioritize projects, address tactics, create a 

timeframe, and show the financial implications of addressing identified 

needs. The outcome creates improvements to existing parks and 

recreation facilities as well as development of new facilities and 

opportunities. 

In determining costs for proposed equipment and capital projects, 

such services as planning, engineering, landscaping, land acquisition 

and construction costs will be considered. These large costs are 

scheduled over several years and are paid through the use of local and 

private funds, and state and federal grants. 

GMA requires concurrency between public facilities and services and 

proposed development in order to not jeopardize services falling below 

the adopted LOS standards. Thus, this Parks Master Plan must support 

the projected growth, utilizing the revenue generated by the city. 

The priorities outlined in this chapter will guide development of 

projects scheduled for funding in the City’s Capital Improvements Plan.  

This plan provides positive direction for the Parks Department through 

specific project identification, project phasing, approximating 

associated costs, identifying funding sources, and a work program with 

implementation dates.  

Monitoring and Evaluation 

Monitoring and evaluation are essential steps within the planning 

process for many reasons. First, they assure the goals and programs 

will be maintained and monitored during implementation, ensuring 

they do not change form unintentionally. Next, they help determine if 

the intended outcome is occurring and measures what those outcomes 

are producing. Finally, they help decide whether the implemented 

strategy should be continued, modified, or ended. The Parks and 

Recreation system must remain flexible to accommodate changes and 

preferences within the community and the desires for the parks and 

recreation system. This implies that this Parks and Recreation chapter 

of the comprehensive plan be subject to regular review and update by 

the Parks and Recreation Department. 

123



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 7 Housing 

Purpose and Intent 

This chapter examines housing supply, condition, occupancy and 

affordability. It develops a program for meeting future housing 

demand.  Housing affordability is a real concern within analysis and 

needs assessment, because it affects all segments of the population. 

To make housing affordable, no more than 30% of a family’s gross 

monthly income can be spent on housing, including operating 

expenses.  Therefore, the provision and type of housing, not 

physical appearance are the primary focus of this chapter.  

Physical appearance and maintenance issues are included in 

Chapter 10, Community Design. 

The GMA provides the following goal for housing: 

“Encourage the availability of affordable housing to all 

economic segments of the population of this state, promote 

a variety of residential densities and housing types, and 

encourage preservation of existing housing stock.” 

Although the GMA does not define the term “affordable 

housing” its use in the Act indicates that it should be 

broadly construed to refer to a wide range of housing types 

at varying costs, capable of meeting the needs of all 

economic segments of the community.  Housing units are 

one way that Medical Lake can express itself as a distinct 

community.  Housing units combine to form neighborhoods 

and neighborhoods combine with other uses to form the 

community.  Providing a safe, attractive and healthful living 

environment is a function of local government.  Medical Lake is 

committed to creating and maintaining such a community, thereby 

maintaining the high quality of life in Medical Lake. 

Existing Housing Inventory and Analysis 

A picture of the present community conditions is necessary for 

developing future housing opportunities.  Occupancy and vacancy 

rates, general housekeeping and housing characteristics, ownership 

and renter characteristics are focus areas in making a housing 

assessment.  Since the 2010 Census data was published, Medical Lake, 

Spokane County and the whole Pacific Northwest has experienced a 

building boom resulting in a thriving and healthy housing market.  The 

tables presented on the following pages portray various aspects of the 

housing market from the Washington Office of Financial Management 

and the U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 

5-Year Estimates.  This information identifies the existing conditions

Image 7.1 Historic Hallett House 

124



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 84 

and comparisons to the region as well as providing a snapshot of the 

growth that has occurred since the last comprehensive plan update.  

Housing Occupancy 

In 2010, 93% of the 1,835 housing units were occupied (Table 7.1), 

and this number jumped up to 97.4% in 2017, while the percentage of 

occupied units at the county level has remained about the same across 

the same time frame.  The city’s percentage of home ownership was 

about the same as the county’s in 2010 at about 65%, but has since 

increased to over 70%, while the county’s rate has slightly decreased. 

The city’s overall increase in the number of housing units occupied by 

a homeowner was almost 20% between 2010 and 2017. 

Table 7.1 Housing Unit Characteristics 2010-2017 

Unit Type 2010 2017 
2010-2017 

Change 

Medical Lake Spokane 

County 

Medical Lake Spokane 

County 

Medical Lake 

# % % # % % 

Occupied 1,707 93 92.9 1914 97.4 92.4 12.1% 

Vacant 128 7 7.1 52 2.6 7.6 -59.4%

TOTAL UNITS 1835 100 100 1966 100 100 

Owner Occupied 1122 65.7 64.5 1345 70.3 62.4 19.9% 

Renter Occupied 585 34.3 35.5 569 29.7 37.6 -2.7%

TOTAL OCCUPIED 1707 100 100 1914 100 100 

Housing Type 

Table 7.2 points out several important points about specific housing 

types in Medical Lake. The percentage of single-family units in Medical 

Lake has been on par with the percentage at the county level since 

2010, both staying around 69%-70% from 2010-2017. Multiple-family 

units increased their share of Medical Lake’s housing stock from 14.9% 

in 2010 to 18.5% in 2017, while the share of duplexes fell to 2.4% in 

2017 from a 2010 share of 10.1%.  The city’s overall stock of multi-

family units increased by 57.1% in this period.  Mobile homes 

increased by 64.0% during this same period. These numbers 

demonstrate that multi-family and mobile home units are in high 

demand as their numbers have been increasing at a faster rate since 

2010 than single family homes and duplexes. Typically, multi-family 

homes and mobile homes are more affordable than single-family 

homes, so this trend might align with the attempt to meet the demand 

of affordable housing within the city. 

125



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Table 7.2 Housing Units by Type, 2010 and 2017 (OFM) 

Unit Type 2010 2017 
2010-2017 

Change 

Medical Lake Spokane 

County 

Medical Lake Spokane 

County 

Medical Lake 

# % % # % % % 

Single-Family 1070 69.2% 69.6% 1388 70.6% 70.3% 29.7% 

Duplex 156 10.1% 3.2% 69 3.5% 2.4% -55.8%

Multiple-Family 231 14.9% 20.9% 363 18.5% 21.7% 57.1% 

Mobile Home 89 5.8% 6.1% 146 7.4% 5.4% 64.0% 

Other 0 0.0% 0.1% 0 0.0% 0.1% N/A 

Total 1546 100.0% 100.0% 1966 100.0% 100.0% 27.2% 

Household Characteristics 

Tables 7.3 and 7.4 below display recent select household 

characteristics in Medical Lake. Medical Lake households are made up 

primarily of families (62.3%) which is only slightly lower than the 

county level of 63.4%.  The average household size in Medical Lake is 

2.35, whereas in the county it is 2.43. However, the average family 

size of 3.11 in Medical Lake is larger than Spokane County’s average 

family size of 2.99. Households that are occupied by owners have 

higher household sizes than those occupied by renters within the city. 

Table 7.3 Household Characteristics, 2017 

Households by Type, 

2017 

Medical Lake 

# 

Medical Lake 

% 

Spokane County 

% 

Families 1192 62.3% 63.4% 

Non-families 722 37.7% 36.6% 

Total Households 1914 100.0% 100.0% 

126



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 86 

Table 7.4 Household Family and Size, 2017 

Household Characteristics Medical Lake Spokane County 

Average Household Size 2.35 2.43 

Average Family Size 3.11 2.99 

Average Household Size - Owner Occ. 2.45 2.52 

Average Household Size- Renter Occ. 2.09 2.29 

Source: U.S. Census Bureau, 2013-2017 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates 

Housing Demand and Needs Assessment 

If the average household size remains the same at 2.35 people per 

household, Medical Lake will need approximately 448 new households 

in order to meet the housing demand of the expected population 

growth of 1,052 people by the year 2037.  

Some of the most pressing issues regarding housing inventory in 

Medical Lake are summarized as follows: 

• Home ownership has increased since 2010

• The share of multi-family homes has increased since 2010, along

with a significant increase in manufactured housing.

• The rental housing inventory consists mainly of older housing

stock.

• 23% of owners and 28% of renters are paying more than they can

afford.

Goals, through programs, were created to deal with community-

perceived issues and the concerns that arise from the housing 

information. The programs in this chapter and throughout the 

comprehensive plan specifically focus on making the city a better place 

in the future. These items can be found in the policy framework from 

Chapter 2. Programs include concepts that focus on: 

• Connectivity

• Smaller lots for making single-family more available

• Neighborhood preservation

• Density bonuses for focusing on special needs

• Area specific mixed-use for more multi-family development

• Innovation and variety for increased homeownership

• Identification of areas which need more housing

• Design and maintenance standards for improving neighborhoods

and developing innovative housing alternatives within the existing

fabric.

It is important to consider the whole population when looking at 

housing. Housing costs are rising, and the primary form of housing is 

127



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

single-family homes. This housing form is not the most economical to 

build, so other forms of housing should be considered, especially for 

senior citizens, disabled or special needs, young families and single 

people. The demand and cost are there to encourage housing 

diversity.  It only takes incentives, standards, voluntary programs and 

investment. Some of these techniques are discussed in more detail in 

Chapter 9, Community Design. 

128



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 88 

Chapter 8 Economic Development 

Purpose and Intent 

The economy, society, and the environment are key factors in the 

success of a community. The purpose of this chapter is to create an 

understanding of the city’s existing economic patterns and potential 

economic opportunities. The current economic characteristics of the 

city make it a unique, established, and worthwhile place to reside and 

visit. By understanding the current business climate the city determine 

how existing businesses can be maintained and how new businesses 

can be established. 

Economic growth is inherently linked to land use. While it is virtually 

impossible for a jurisdiction to predict which specific businesses will 

develop and prevail it is possible to facilitate where, as well as what 

types of enterprises the community would like to encourage. 

Identifying “target” enterprises for revitalizing the community’s 

economy, is at the heart of this chapter. 

Economic Development Issues 

The city’s challenge is to cultivate what the 

community feels is unique and important while 

accommodating future growth and development. 

One of the primary challenges facing the city is 

maintaining and enhancing economic vitality. The 

city is located within fifteen miles of four major 

commercial centers: Airway Heights, Cheney, 

Spokane, and Fairchild Air Force Base. These 

commercial centers draw a significance portion of 

local dollars for goods and services. Because of this, 

the city realizes that its Central Business District 

(CBD) will not be completely self-sustaining, 

however, it also recognizes the need for local 

businesses and services that will provide the 

necessary requirements that a community must have 

for its residents. For example, there is ample 

opportunity to explore specialty enterprises that focus on the city’s 

recreational and natural resources. Therefore, economic development 

and recruitment is an on-going endeavor which should be pursued 

aggressively. 

Image 8.1 Sidewalk in Downtown Medical Lake

129



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Economic Development Needs Assessment 
Analysis 

Previous planning efforts by the city identified ways to encourage and 

enhance the local business environment by gathering information from 

the community about its perceptions of the local business 

environment. 

These previous efforts focused on employment demographics, 

customer demographics, and opinions relating to the business 

environment of the community. Some key outcomes of these efforts 

included: 

• Businesses would like to see better communication and

involvement with the city, as well as Eastern State Hospital,

Lakeland Village, Pine Lodge and Martin Hall.

• Businesses are not reluctant to consider design standards for

signing, landscaping, lighting and other amenities as long as

individuality is not jeopardized.

• Incentives for small local businesses looking to locate or expand in

the city should be encouraged.

• A vast majority of residents felt increased employment

opportunities are important to Medical Lake.

• A majority of residents felt existing businesses are not adequate to

meet their needs.

• Residents feel more retail, restaurants, recreation, entertainment,

tourism, service and specialty enterprises are needed.

• The majority of residents prefer in-fill and redevelopment over new

development on vacant land.

• The majority of residents favor expanding the CBD.

• The majority of residents recognize change is necessary.

• The majority of residents felt the overall downtown, storefronts

and business signage was fair and availability of parking was good.

• The majority of residents felt bike paths and handicap accessibility

was good while street, curb and sidewalk conditions were good-to-

fair.

• The majority of residents felt landscaping and lighting were fair-to-

good and street signage, parks, plaza and open space were good-

to-fair.

• Streetscape amenities such as benches, trash cans, etc. were fair-

to-poor.

130



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 90 

• Most residents are in favor of establishing some kind of design

standards for the downtown.

These previous efforts identified specific improvements including 

cleaning up the downtown and the overall community, developing a 

community theme (such as fishing, lake/water, or recreation), 

establishing color standards for storefronts, and doing streetscape 

improvements such as benches, pedestrian lighting, trash cans, and 

landscaping. Many suggestions called for promoting Medical Lake and 

the community’s recreational appeal for tourism and recreational 

potential. 

The community’s economic strengths included enterprises such as 

pharmacy/drugstore, gas stations, and veterinary services. Those 

enterprises that currently are somewhat neutral include groceries, 

banking services, hardware/building supplies, floral/gifts, dental 

services and barber shop services. These neutral enterprises are key 

components of the local economy and have promising potential to 

become strengths. 

The community’s weaknesses included legal/accounting services, 

insurance, real estate services, medical services, clothing, shoes, 

agricultural-based enterprises, lawn/nursery, auto parts/repair 

services, appliance/furniture, electronics, sporting goods/toys, dry 

cleaning services, dine-in/fast food restaurants, movie theaters, and 

gym/fitness services. 

These needs may have changed since the previous plan update, but 

overall needs and desires for the community remain the same for this 

plan update. Additional work will be done in the near future to detect 

more recent needs as Medical Lake works on a new community 

visioning process.  

131



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 9 Community Design 

Purpose and Intent 

To create more livable neighborhoods, we need to make sure that the 

community is designed in such a way that it addresses the needs of all 

the residents and improves their quality of life. That means taking into 

account the needs of a diverse population: the young, the old, wealthy 

and poor, healthy and disabled. 

While community design and the way we use land will be influenced to 

some extent by geographic location, the primary stimulus that will 

guide the city’s physical change is time and a guided 

direction. This is accomplished by recognizing the 

overall impacts to community identity brought on by 

changes to the natural setting, the built environment 

and the public and social infrastructure. This chapter 

establishes goals, policies and programs designed to 

protect and enhance the community’s neighborhoods 

while evoking and overall sense of community 

wholeness. 

This chapter illustrates ways the community can 

improve the city’s livability.  It is intended to ensure 

that any changes in the natural setting, built 

environment or public and social infrastructure 

enhance the local quality of life by: 

• Promoting privacy in residential areas.

• Encourage community activity in commercial areas.

• Providing for compatibility in land use.

• Reducing the need to use cars to move from one place to another

in town.

• Enhancing the area’s small-town character.

The object is to shape the community into a more cohesive place, 

making it a friendly and comfortable place for residents, visitors, and 

businesses. The desire to have the town be a safe and healthy place 

with attractive neighborhoods, active business districts, and accessible 

public spaces linked together through a system of trails and parks is 

the basic premise of the community design chapter. Through a series 

of workshops and meetings a work program was developed to 

accomplish several objectives. Because Medical Lake is positioned 

where it is surrounded by agricultural land uses, family ranches, low 

density housing, environmentally sensitive areas and open space 

making the distinction between urban and rural is easily made.  The 

Image 9.1 Streetscape in Downtown Medical Lake 

132



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 92 

exact purpose of establishing Urban Growth Areas is to direct the 

planned growth into those areas allowing the other surrounding land to 

remain rural. 

The city’s main challenge in the future is to cultivate what the 

community feels is unique and important while accommodating future 

growth and development.  Community design standards can be a 

promising tool; first impressions are persuasive and convey a strong 

message to visitors.  The city’s current physical appearance, in most 

locations, conveys a sense of pride and responsibility.  The community 

has established an image of being a solid, safe hometown, with stable 

residential areas and convenient access to services, shopping and 

recreation.  However, “Gateways” into Medical Lake need to be 

improved and there is no organized system of natural areas in the 

community. 

The basics of a community are its image, mix of land uses, scale and 

form. This chapter describes the city’s existing and proposed structure 

in terms of the community’s natural setting, built environment and 

public and social infrastructure.  The goal, policy, and action 

framework in Chapter 2 guides changes in these three categories and 

are based on recent trends, the community’s current desires and 

anticipated opportunities.  

133



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 10 Natural Environment 

Purpose and Intent 

This chapter identifies conditions of the city’s environment and 

connects this environment to the community’s future. The Washington 

State Growth Management Act requires that all towns, cities, and 

counties adopt development regulations to protect critical areas and 

resource lands. The city believes these areas are valuable assets for 

the ecological balance they provide and also for the aesthetics and 

quality of life expected by residents. 

City residents view their community as being rural in nature with a 

system of trails connecting the town to neighborhoods, parks, and 

open space. Preservation and continued support of the natural 

environment is a focal point of the community. Besides the beauty that 

the natural environment offers, immeasurable social and ecological 

benefits such as opportunities for recreational activities, providing 

important wildlife habitat, increasing awareness of air and water 

quality, and the preservation of open space are important aspects of 

the community which contribute to the quality of life the residents. 

Existing Environmental Characteristics 

The City of Medical Lake has seemingly the dual interests of expanding 

and remaining a rural community. A major part of making a successful 

community is enhancing its existing assets. The city has unique 

geological features and natural resources as the regional landscape, 

known as the West Plains, rises in elevation above the City of 

Spokane. The natural land in and around Medical Lake, geologically 

known as the Channeled Scablands, is its own micro-region with 

geologic characteristics not found anywhere else in the world. This 

area is characterized by the hilly terrain, exposed basalt outcroppings, 

and a large number of small ponds and lakes and the ecosystems that 

support them. 

Extensive lava flow of the Miocene-Pliocene epoch engulfed a large 

area of the Columbia Basin, including our area. This basalt surface 

eroded into the rolling hills typical of the farmland surrounding Medical 

Lake. Wind Borne silt deposits (loess) blew up from the Columbia 

Basin settling out in this region. This created excellent farmland, much 

of which is cultivated today. The glacial floods that followed these 

extensive lava flows, about 10,000 years ago, stripped much of the 

loess deposits from the lower lying regions. The foundation material of 

the lakebed and the adjoining community is basalt bedrock exposed in 

areas. The soil consists of unconsolidated silty-clay alluvium to the 

134



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 94 

north and the south of the lake. Groundwater, rain, and snow are the 

primary sources of recharge for the Medical Lake as well as Clear Lake, 

Silver Lake, North Silver Lake, and West Medical Lake. Evaporation 

and irrigation are primary discharges. A transition point from the 

scabland ecosystem and the forests to the east creates a combination 

of high desert plants and Ponderosa pines. The wildlife is also 

consistent with this edge ecology including whitetail deer, birds, and 

fish. The plants, wildlife, and community development are also 

dependent on the climate and broad range of weather patterns, from 

the dry hot summers to the cold windswept winters. 

Critical Areas

Critical areas need special consideration during the comprehensive 

planning process because of their distinctive environmental 

characteristics. These areas are considered critical because their 

natural state often has unique, fragile, and valuable environmental and 

ecological processes or resources that are vulnerable to development 

and other human influences. The State of Washington identifies five 

primary types of critical areas requiring consideration and protection 

including: 

• aquifer recharge areas

• fish and wildlife habitat areas

• frequently flooded areas

• geologically hazardous areas

• wetlands

Image 10.1 Wetlands in Medical Lake 

135



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Preserving and protecting critical areas from negative impacts of 

development enhances the public health, safety, and welfare. It also 

protects private property from such natural disasters such as flooding 

and landslides. The city has development regulations requiring that 

certain precautions be followed during development adjacent to city 

designated critical areas. The regulations require special review before 

any critical area can be altered. Site-specific situations may not permit 

alteration or development to occur. Critical areas also play a key role 

in the development of recreational opportunities. 

Medical Lake’s location on the West Plains places it in a unique 

situation because of the multiple critical areas found within its city 

boundaries and influence area. The community’s topography and 

surface waters increase public environmental awareness of these areas 

in the community. It is important to identify and recognize those 

critical areas so that they may be preserved and protected. 

Fish and Wildlife Habitat Areas 

Fish and wildlife habitat areas (Figure 10.1) are those areas necessary 

for the survival of endangered, threatened, rare, sensitive, or 

monitored species important to providing, enhancing, and protecting 

wildlife habitat. This habitat contains basic elements of the ecological 

function of the physical landscape. This includes preserving existing 

habitat corridors and establishing new ones, minimizing fragmentation 

to habitat patches, and minimizing edge effects where development 

abuts habitat areas.

136



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 96 

Figure 10.1 Fish and Wildlife Habitat Area Map 

137



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Frequently Flooded Areas 

Frequently flooded areas (Figure 10.2) are those areas found within 

the flood plain subject to one percent or greater chance of flooding in 

any given year. Frequently flooded areas perform important hydrologic 

functions and may present a risk to persons and property.  

Classifications of frequently flooded areas include at a minimum the 

one-hundred-year flood plain designations of the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency and the National Flood Insurance Program. 

The city has flooded areas within its boundaries which fit with the city 

shorelines and accompanying surface waters, including lakes, rivers, 

streams, creeks, and wetlands. 

138



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 98 

Figure 10.2 Medical Lake Flood Zones 

139



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Wetland Areas 

Wetlands (Figure 10.3) are areas inundated or saturated by surface 

and/or ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support 

(and during normal conditions do support) a prevalence of vegetation 

typically adapted for life in saturated soils. Wetlands typically include: 

swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas, but they do not include 

wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland sites including (but 

not limited to) irrigation and drainage ditches, grassy swales, canals, 

detention facilities, farm ponds or landscape amenities. Wetlands 

created from non-wetland areas as a result of mitigation due to the 

conversion of naturally occurring wetlands to other uses, shall be 

considered a wetland. A study in the mid-1990’s by Eastern 

Washington University indicated the presence of potential wetland 

areas within the City of Medical Lake. Studies done for the National 

Wetland’s Inventory indicated several wetlands within the community 

also. 

140



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 100 

Figure 10.3 Medical Lake Wetlands 

141



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Natural Resource Lands 

Natural resource lands play a vital role in the region. Resource lands 

are broken into three categories: 

• Agricultural lands

• Forestlands

• Mineral resource lands

GMA requires that lands with commercial significance be protected and 

conserved while discouraging incompatible uses. In this effort, the city 

should enact regulations as part of its Critical Area Ordinance, related 

to resource land protection and requiring certain precautions during 

adjacent development. 

Agricultural Lands

Agricultural lands (Figure 10.4) are those lands not already 

characterized by urban growth and are of long-term significance for 

the commercial production of horticulture, silviculture, floricultural, 

dairy, apiary, vegetable and animal products or the food and fiber for 

the consumption of livestock or other products and processes normally 

associated with farming. 

Agricultural activity within Medical Lake is distributed on the state land 

to the west, north and south. The city’s agricultural lands are not 

extremely fertile but do provide grazing land and fields. The 

community’s agricultural lands are socially and culturally important to 

the community and should have preservation mechanisms. 

142



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 102 

Figure 10.4 Medical Lake Agricultural Lands 

143



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Forest Lands

Forest lands are those lands not already characterized by urban 

growth and are of long-term significance for the commercial 

production of timber and other wood fiber normally associated with 

forestry practices. The city does not have commercially viable forests 

lands within or adjacent to its boundaries.   

Mineral Resource Lands

Mineral resource lands are those lands not already characterized by 

urban growth and are of long-term significance for the production and 

aggregate and other mineral substances, including: sand, grave, and 

other valuable elements. Mining activities with long-term commercial 

significance in Medical Lake is limited. Careful consideration in 

addressing mining operations is need so that adjacent land uses are 

not severely impacted. It is also important to consider the value of 

new mineral extraction, as well as alternative land uses in and 

adjacent to mining areas. Re-use of mining sites should be addressed 

so that compatibility is maintained with surrounding land uses during 

and once mining operations cease. 

Aquifer Recharge Area 

Aquifer recharge areas (Figure 10.5) have a critical recharging effect 

on aquifers used as a source of potable water. Because of the rapid 

infiltration of water in these areas, they are particularly vulnerable to 

contamination. Aquifer protection is essential to community public, 

health and safety. Once groundwater is contaminated it becomes very 

difficult and costly, if not impossible, to clean it up, and the community 

needs drinking water. The historical wide use of septic tanks in the 

community has also contributed to the introduction of organic 

compounds from the wastewater into the aquifer. 

The city’s critical areas ordinance addresses development occurring 

over the aquifer and within the aquifer recharge area. Important in 

any development occurring within the aquifer recharge area is a site 

analysis that establishes water quality baselines, limits the amount of 

impervious surfaces on the site, and includes best management 

practices in the design, construction, and operation of the 

development. 

Mining operations occurring within the city should be required to 

maintain the highest possible water quality standards, and should be 

held accountable for any detriment to water quality resulting from 

their operations. Also important in maintaining water quality is 

addressing the city’s sewer system, its available capacity, and the 

continued transitions of existing septic tanks to sewer service. 

144



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 104 

Figure 10.5 Aquifer Recharge Area 

145



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Geologically Hazardous Areas 

Geologically hazardous areas (Figure 10.6) are areas that may not be 

suited for development consistent with public health, safety or 

environmental standards because of their susceptibility to erosion, 

sliding, earthquake, or other geological events. Geologically hazardous 

areas include areas where erosion, landslide, seismic, mine, or 

volcanic hazards exist. 

The city has some wind erosion of exposed soils. All soils and bare 

rock surfaces are subject to the natural erosion forces of chemical, 

weathering and physical erosion. Erosion is the natural process of 

wearing away the land as a result of water and wind and historically 

glacial scouring. Wind erosion occurs when the wind blows up dust 

from exposed soils, resulting from excavation and construction 

activities, as well as farming activities where vegetation cover has 

been removed, leaving the soil exposed. Spokane County experiences 

significant air quality problems throughout the year as a result of dust 

and dust storms. 

Typically, slopes greater than fifteen percent (15%) are considered to 

have landslide potential based on slope stability. Slope stability is 

dependent on the interaction of such factors as soils, climate, 

underlying geology, vegetative cover, proximity to surface water, 

ground water content, and proximity to earthquake fault activity.  

Generally, when one or more of these factors are altered, unstable 

slope conditions emerge, and when these factors are altered by 

development activity, landslide potential is accelerated. 

146



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 106 

Figure 10.6 Geologically Hazardous Areas 

147



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Chapter 11 Glossary 

Accessory Dwelling Units: An accessory dwelling unit (ADU) is a 

small, self-contained residential unit located on the same lot as an 

existing single-family home.  

Adequate Capital Facilities: facilities which have the capacity to 

serve development without decreasing levels of service below locally 

established minimums. 

Agricultural Land: land primarily devoted to the commercial 

production of horticultural, viticulture, floriculture, dairy, apiary, 

vegetable, or animal products or of berries, grain, hay, straw, turf, 

seed, Christmas trees not subject to the excise tax imposed by RCW 

84.33.100 through 84.33.140, or livestock and land that has long-term 

commercial significance for agricultural production.  

Airfield Base Noise Overlay (ABN):  Fairchild AFB overlay 

regulations are intended to minimize exposure of residential and other 

noise sensitive land uses from uncontrollable aircraft noise and high 

numbers of aircraft overflights; to minimize risks to public safety from 

potential aircraft accidents; to restrict incompatible land uses within 

designated military influence areas. 

Arterial (minor): a roadway providing movement along significant 

corridors of traffic-flow. Traffic volumes, speeds and trip lengths are 

high, although usually not as great as those associated with principal 

arterials. 

Arterial (principal): a roadway providing movement along major 

corridors of traffic flow. Traffic volumes, speeds, and trip lengths are 

high, usually greater than those associated with minor arterials. 

Available Lands: may suggest the following: (a) site which has not 

been developed with either buildings or capital facility improvements, 

or has a building improvement value of less than $500 [vacant land]; 

(b) a site within an existing urbanized area that may have capital

facilities available to the site creating infill development; (c) a site

which is occupied by a use consistent with the zoning but contains

enough land to be further subdivided without needing a rezone

(partially used); and (d) a site which has been developed with both a

structure and capital facilities and is zoned for more intensive use than

that which occupies the site (under-utilized) transportation, the

specified time is six years from the time of development.

Capacity: the measure of the ability to provide a level of service on a 

public facility. 

Capital Facilities: public facilities or services that are in place or have 

the financial commitment to be provided within a specified time. 

148



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 108 

Capital Improvement: physical assets constructed or purchased to 

provide, improve, or replace a public facility and which are large scale 

and high in cost. The cost of a capital improvement is generally non-

recurring and may require multi-year financing. 

Collector: a roadway providing service which is of relative moderate 

traffic volume, and moderate operating speed. Collector roads collect 

and distribute traffic between local roads and arterial roads. 

Commercial Uses: activities within land areas which are 

predominantly connected with the sale, rental, and distribution of 

products, or performance of services. 

Comprehensive Plan or Plan: generalized and coordinated land use 

and capital spending policy statements of the governing body of a 

county, city or town that is adopted pursuant to the Growth 

Management Act. 

Concurrency: adequate capital facilities are available when the 

impacts of development occur. This definition includes the two 

concepts of “adequate capital facilities” and of “available capital 

facilities” as defined above. 

Consistency: that no feature of a plan or regulation is incompatible 

with any other feature of a plan or regulation. Consistency is indicative 

of an ability of orderly integration or operation with other elements in 

a system. 

Consistency Doctrine: The “consistency” doctrine is a legal 

requirement that your regulations or capital improvements comply 

with the comprehensive plan. If the doctrine applies, ordinances 

departing from the mandates of an adopted comprehensive plan are 

subject to invalidation under the zoning enabling legislation, or as 

lacking a rational basis or valid public purpose. 

Coordination: consultation and cooperation among jurisdictions. 

Contiguous Development: development of areas immediately 

adjacent to one another. 

Critical Areas: include the following areas and ecosystems; wetlands; 

areas with a critical recharging effect on aquifers used for potable 

water; fish and wildlife habitat conservation areas; frequently flooded 

areas; and geologically hazardous areas. 

Cultural Resources: evidence of human activity and occupation. 

Cultural resources include: (a) historic resources which are elements 

of the built environment typically fifty years of age and older, land 

may be buildings, structures, sites, objects, and districts; (b) 

archaeological resources consist of remains of the human environment 

at or below the ground surface such as habitation sites; and (c) 

traditional cultural properties consist of places or sites of human 

149



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

activities which are of significance to the traditions or ceremonies of a 

culture. Traditional cultural properties do not necessarily have a 

manmade component and may consist of an entirely natural setting. 

Development Regulation: controls placed on development or land 

use activities by a county or city, including, but not limited to, zoning 

ordinances, critical areas ordinances, shoreline master programs, 

subdivision ordinances, building codes, binding site plan ordinances, 

together with any amendments thereto. 

Density: a measure of the intensity of development, generally 

expressed in terms of dwelling units per acre. It can also be expressed 

in terms of population density (i.e., people per acre). Density is useful 

for establishing a balance between potential local service use and 

service capacities. 

Domestic Water System: any system providing a supply of potable 

water for the intended use of a development which is deemed 

adequate pursuant to RCW 19.27.097. 

Duplex Housing: two attached single-family housing units under 

single ownership. 

Financial Commitment: sources of public or private funds or 

combinations thereof have been identified which will be sufficient to 

finance capital facilities necessary to support development and, the 

assurance that such funds will be put to that end in a timely manner. 

Fire Protection Class Rating: WSRB evaluates all Washington 

communities for their fire protection/suppression capability using a 

schedule approved by the Washington State Office of the Insurance 

Commissioner. WSRB assigns each community a Protection Class of 1 

through 10, where 1 indicates exemplary fire protection capabilities, 

and 10 indicates the capabilities, if any, are insufficient for insurance 

credit. 

Geologically Hazardous Area: areas that because of their 

susceptibility to erosion, sliding, earthquake, or other geological 

events, are not suited to the siting of commercial, residential, or 

industrial development consistent with public health or safety 

concerns. 

Goal: the long-term end toward which programs or activities are 

ultimately directed. 

Growth Management: a method to guide development in order to 

minimize adverse environmental and fiscal impacts and maximize the 

health, safety, and welfare benefits to the residents of the community. 

Household: a household includes all persons who occupy the single 

room or group of rooms which constitutes a housing unit. 

150



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 110 

Impact Fee: a fee levied by a local government on new development 

so that the new development pays its proportionate share of the cost 

of new or expanded facilities required to service that development. 

Industrial Uses: the activities predominately connected with 

manufacturing, assembly, processing, or storage of products. 

Infill: Infill development is the process of developing vacant or under-

used parcels within existing urban areas that are already largely 

developed. 

Infrastructure: those man-made structures which serve the common 

needs of the population, such as: sewer disposal systems, potable 

water wells serving a system, solid waste disposal sites or retention 

areas, storm water systems, utilities, bridges, and roadways. 

Intensity: a measure of land use activity based on density, use, 

mass, size, and impact. 

Level of Service (LOS): an established minimum capacity of capital 

facilities or services that must be provided per unit of demand or other 

appropriate measure of need. 

Manufactured Home: a single-family dwelling built in accordance 

with U. S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) 

Manufactured Home Construction and Safety Standards (MHCSS) 

which is a national, preemptive building code and bearing the 

appropriate insignia. 

Mixed-use Development: Mixed use development is an important 

component of successful transit-oriented development, traditional 

neighborhood development, and smart growth/livable community 

development schemes. Mixed use developments contain a 

complementary mix of uses such as residential, retail, commercial, 

employment, civic and entertainment uses in close proximity - 

sometimes in the same building. Compatibility issues are addressed 

through performance standards, transition tools, careful site layout 

and building design, rather than by separating uses into single use 

zones. 

Mobile Home: a single-family residence, transportable in one or more 

sections that are eight feet or more in width and thirty-two feet or 

more in length, built on a permanent chassis, designed to be used as a 

permanent dwelling. Mobile homes were factory built to standards 

other than MHCSS prior to June 15, 1976. 

Multi-Family Housing: as used in this plan, multi-family housing is 

all housing which is designed to accommodate three or more 

households. 

151



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

Natural Resource Lands: lands not already characterized by urban 

growth which have long term commercial significance for the 

production of agricultural products, timber or minerals. 

OFM Medium Level Forecast: The OFM forecasts future populations 

for planning purposes. The GMA projections present high-, medium- 

and low-growth expectations for each county. Any projections are 

statements about the future based on a particular set of assumptions. 

The GMA medium series is considered the most likely because it 

represents a future based on assumptions that have been validated 

with past and current information. 

Open Space: undeveloped or underdeveloped land that serves a 

functional role in the life of the community.  

Owner: any person or entity having the legal rights to sell, lease, or 

sublease any form of real property. 

Public Facilities: include streets, roads, highways, sidewalks, street 

and road lighting systems, traffic signals, domestic water systems, 

storm and sanitary sewer systems, parks and recreational facilities, 

and schools. These physical structures are owned or operated by a 

government entity which provides or supports a public service. 

Public Service: include fire protection and suppression, law 

enforcement, public health, education, recreation, environmental 

protection, and other governmental services. 

Right-of-Way: land in which the state, a county, or a municipality 

owns the fee simple title, or has an easement dedicated or required, 

for a transportation or utility use. 

Rural: all lands which are not within an urban growth area and are not 

designated as natural resource lands having long-term commercial 

significance for production of agricultural products, timber, or the 

extraction of minerals.  

Sanitary Sewer System: all facilities, including approved on-site 

disposal facilities, used in the collection, transmission, storage, 

treatment, or discharge of any waterborne waste, whether domestic in 

origin or a combination of domestic, commercial, or industrial waste. 

Shall: the action specified in the statement is mandatory. 

Should: the action specified in the statement is discretionary. 

Single-Family Housing: a detached housing unit designed for 

occupancy by not more than one household. This definition does not 

include manufactured housing or mobile home. 

Spokane County’s model (TModel 2): SRTC’s travel demand model 

contains inventories of existing transportation facilities and of all 

housing, shopping and employment in the area. Using the model, 

152



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 112 

transportation planners can estimate future traffic volumes and transit 

ridership. 

Spokane Metropolitan Area: as defined by the United States Census 

Bureau, is an area consisting of Spokane, Stevens, and Pend Oreille 

Counties in Washington State, anchored by the city of Spokane and its 

largest suburb, Spokane Valley. 

Transportation facilities: includes capital facilities related to air, 

water, or land transportation. 

Urban Growth: refers to growth that makes intensive use of land for 

the location of buildings, structures, and impermeable surfaces to such 

a degree as to be incompatible with the primary use of such land for 

the production of food, other agricultural products, or fiber, or the 

extraction of mineral resources. When allowed to spread over wide 

areas, urban growth typically requires urban governmental services. 

“Characterized by urban growth” refers to land having urban growth 

located on it, or to land located in relationship to an area with urban 

growth on it as to be appropriate for urban growth. 

Urban Growth Area: areas within which urban growth shall be 

encouraged and outside of which growth can occur only if it is not 

urban in nature, or those other areas designated by a county pursuant 

to RCW 36.70A.110. 

Urban Governmental Services: include those governmental services 

historically and typically delivered by cities, and include storm and 

sanitary sewer systems, domestic water systems, street cleaning 

services, fire and police protection services, public transit services, and 

other public utilities associated with urban areas and normally not 

associated with non-urban areas. 

Utilities: facilities or means serving the public by a system or network 

of wires or pipes with usually permanent connections between the 

provider and the customer. Included are systems for the delivery of 

natural gas, electricity, telecommunication services, water, and the 

disposal of sewage. 

Visioning: a process of citizen involvement to determine values and 

ideals for the future of a community and to transform those values and 

ideals into manageable and feasible community goals. 

Wetland: areas that are inundated or saturated by surface water or 

ground water at a frequency and duration sufficient to support, and 

that under normal circumstances do support, a prevalence of 

vegetation typically adapted for life in saturated soil conditions. 

Wetlands generally include swamps, marshes, bogs, and similar areas. 

Wetlands do not include those artificial wetlands intentionally created 

from non-wetland sites, including but not limited to, irrigation and 

drainage ditches, glass-lined swales, canals, detention facilities, 

wastewater treatment facilities, farm ponds, and landscape amenities 

153



Comprehensive Plan – August 2019 

and those wetlands unintentionally created after July 1, 1990, by the 

construction of a road, street or highway. However, wetland may 

include those artificial wetlands intentionally created from non-wetland 

areas created to mitigate conversion of wetlands. 

Will: has the same meaning as the term shall. 

Zoning: the delineation of an area by ordinance (text and map) into 

zones and the establishment of regulations to govern the uses 

(commercial, industrial, residential) and the location, bulk, height, 

shape, and coverage of structures within each zone. 

154


	Planning Commission Meeting and Public Hearing
	December 14, 2023, Minutes
	1) CALL TO ORDER, PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE, AND ROLL CALL
	2) ADDITIONS TO AGENDA
	a) Motion to approve agenda as written made by commissioner Mark, seconded by commissioner Munson, carried 5-0.
	3) APPROVAL OF MINUTES
	a) November 16, 2023, minutes.
	i) Motion to approve made by commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by commissioner Munson, carried 5-0.
	4) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS
	a) Tammy Roberson, resident of Medical Lake – spoke about World Wetlands Day. Requested to be added to the January Planning Commission agenda to present on the topic. Spoke about a recent Supreme Court ruling regarding wetlands. See attachment A.
	5) STAFF REPORTS
	a) Elisa Rodriguez, City Planner – working on long-range Planning items. The Comprehensive Plan is required to be finished by June 2026 so work will begin in January. Will provide the commission with the current copy.  Update on Gray Road fire re-buil...
	6) SCHEDULED ITEMS
	a) City Branding Discussion
	i) Commissioner Munson – asked commissioners for their opinions on design standards for new construction and any topics commissioners want to discuss.
	ii) Commissioner Mayulianos shared that an artist friend of hers is excited to see art shows, etc. Has meetings set up with other artists and representatives from the Fairchild Air Force Base (FAFB) museum planning. She would love to see the city tie ...
	iii) Commissioner Hudson – suggested that maybe next year a public workshop could be held to see what people are interested in and get the word out that the intent of branding is to increase tourism. Elisa Rodriguez added that part of the Comprehensiv...
	1. Motion to table and continue discussion at the next meeting made by commissioner Hudson, seconded by commissioner Mayulianos, carried 5-0.
	b) Education Packet for New Commissioners
	i) Commissioner Mayulianos gave an update and shared corrections to the draft packet. Continuing to edit.
	1. Motion to table and continue discussion at the next meeting made by commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by commissioner Jorgenson, carried 5-0.
	8) COMMISSION MEMBERS’ COMMENTS OR CONCERNS
	a) Commissioner Hudson – asked if the WWTP is self-contained and protected. Mr. Weathers responded that it is in process (included in the capital improvement plan). Looking at upgrades to cyber security as systems are upgraded.
	b) Commissioner Mayulianos – asked if city council members or planning commissioners can reside outside of city limits (asked legal counsel). The response was that both city council members and planning commissioners must reside within city limits. Mr...
	9) INTERESTED CITIZENS: AUDIENCE REQUESTS AND COMMENTS
	a) Tammy Roberson, resident of Medical Lake – asked about being added to the agenda for January. Counsel stated that it is not necessary to be added to the agenda. Per the Planning Commission Rules of Procedure, educational presentations are allotted ...
	b) Mrs. Rodriguez addressed Ms. Roberson’s comments regarding the Martin Street property, stated that the silt fence is installed in the correct location, there is no evidence of erosion on site, and that the applicant does not intend to do any furthe...
	c) Mr. Weathers – shared appreciation for the commissioners and wished all Merry Christmas.
	10) CONCLUSION
	a) Motion to conclude meeting at 6:22 pm made by commissioner Mayulianos, seconded by commissioner Mark, carried 5-0.

	LU 2022-004 TA PC Presentation 2023 12 14.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6




